
Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 2020 6:30 PM

Please click the link below to join the 
webinar:     https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88638301164
Or Telephone: (301) 715-8592                      Webinar ID: 886 3830 1164

If you have difficulty accessing this meeting, please call  (603) 440-8248
  
1. Call to Order
  
2. Citizens' Forum
  
3. Appointments
 3.1. Volunteer Application- Bike-Ped Advisory Committee 
 3.2.  2020 Amherst Tree Lighting Ceremony,  A Virtual Celebration 
  
4. Administration
 4.1. Administrative Updates 
  
5. Staff Reports
 5.1. FY22 Draft Budget #2 
 5.2. FY22 Warrant Articles Draft #1 
 5.3. Withdrawal from Communications Capital Reserve Fund. 
 5.4. Presentation of Capital Improvement Plan 
 5.5. Winter Operations Plan 
 5.6. Old Manchester Road, shared roadway line stripping 
 5.7. Pocket Park/Fishing Deck Lot 24-11 & Lot 24-1 
 5.8. Federal / State Grant: Emergency Operations Plan and the Hazard 

Mitigation Plan 
  
6. Approvals
 6.1. Assessing 
 6.2. EVERSOURCE Petition & Pole License 

Page 1 of 219

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88638301164


 6.3. Accounts Payable and Payroll Manifests and BOS October 23 and 26, 
2020 Meeting Minutes 

  
7. Action Items
  
8. Old/New Business
  
 Adjournment
  
 Next Meeting: 11/23/2020

Page 2 of 219



Page 3 of 219



Page 4 of 219



2020 Amherst Tree Lighting Ceremony 
Preliminary Plan presented to the Board of Selectmen on November 9, 2020 

Respectfully submitted by Michelle Arbogast (ATLF Chair) 

Background: Usually the Amherst Tree Lighting Ceremony is held as an in-person event somewhere in 

the Village. Since 2016, we have been gathering on the Village Green in front of Town Hall, lighting the 

former Memory Tree as the Town Tree.  

Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is recommended that we avoid large group gatherings, 

which the tree lighting ceremony would qualify as. Therefore, I am pursuing the idea of a virtual tree 

lighting ceremony this year.  

Overview: This will be a virtual event to be enjoyed from the comfort of people’s own homes. It will be 

broadcast live with pre-recorded elements. The performers will NOT be performing live on stage in the 

Village Green. We will either patch performers in from home or pre-record their portions. We will not 

light the tree live during the ceremony.  

Tentative Schedule: Friday, December 11 at 6 pm 

Who What Logistics  

Michelle and Nate Jensen Welcome and Introductions TBD 

Souhegan Valley Chorus Song TBD Pre-recorded 

Kathy Brundage, President of 
the Amherst Garden Club  

Memory Tree TBD  

Nate Jensen Thanks to all service men/women and 
moment of silence 

TBD 

Kyra Whitehead TBD Silent Night  TBD  

Gerry St. Amand ‘Twas the Night Before Christmas TBD  

Santa Countdown to turn on the lights Pre-recorded 

Nate Jensen Happy holidays and goodnight  TBD 

 

There are other individuals and groups who typically perform in the tree lighting ceremony, but I am 

waiting to hear back from them about whether they can participate in a virtual event this year.  

Logistical Needs: We can only do a virtual ceremony if we have access to a platform such as Zoom to 

patch in the performers from multiple locations and broadcast to a large audience. Dean Shankle has 

kindly offered to help pre-record and edit the Village Green portions of the ceremony and manage the 

Zoom event. We typically have a few hundred people attend the event in person. It is unknown how 

many may tune in to a virtual event. What is the Zoom attendee (listen-only mode) capacity?  

Publicity: Facebook (https://www.facebook.com/AmherstTreeLightingFestival), flyers in public places 

(e.g., Town Hall, Library), Amherst Citizen, and there is usually a notice on the Town’s webpage.  

 

Page 5 of 219

https://www.facebook.com/AmherstTreeLightingFestival


Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Administrative Updates Department: Administration
Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. AHSC Recommendations 10-27-2020

Page 6 of 219



Memorandum
To: Board of Selectmen
Cc: Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.

From: Mark O. Reams, Chief of Police

Date: November 03, 2020

Re: Highway Safety Committee Recommendations

________________________________________________________________________

On behalf of Amherst Highway Safety Committee, I would like to pass along four recommendations which our 
committee discussed on October 27, 2020.  Beneath each recommendation, I have included our Committee’s 
draft minutes for your review and consideration.

1. Establish a Town Ordinance to designate the portion of Manchester Road between Mack Hill 
Road and Limbo Lane a 30 mph zone:

Discussion began over the lack of a formal speed zone designation for the portion of Manchester 
Road located between the intersections of Mack Hill Road and Limbo Lane, though a speed limit of 
25 mph had been set some years ago, pursuant to Town Ordinance, for the portion of Manchester 
Road extending from Main Street to the intersection of Mack Hill Road.  By NH state statute, this 
unposted section of Manchester Road represents an Urban Residence District and therefore qualifies 
for posting as a 30 mph zone.  However, the Committee was asked by one or more residents of 
Manchester Road to consider posting this section as a 25 mph zone.  Pursuant to NH state statute, 
the Committee conducted the required traffic study to determine if this section of Manchester Road 
met the requirements for consideration as a 25 mph zone.  Traffic data was collected over the course 
of two weeks, however, that data did not support consideration for a 25 mph zone according to the 
federal Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) to which the Committee and Town look 
for guidance.  Specifically, MUTCD guidelines state that the posted speed limit should be within +/- 5 
mph of the 85th Percentile Speed which in this case was determined to be 38 mph.  Other additional 
factors, such as a favorable sight distance and the lack of any accidents in the preceding two years 
also worked against the 25 mph designation.  DPW Director Hahn made a motion to recommend that 
the Board of Selectmen designate the section of Manchester Road between Mack Hill Road and 
Limbo Lane a 30 mph zone in accordance with statutory guidance. AFR Chief Conley seconded the 
motion, and all were in favor (5-0).

2. Establish a Town Ordinance to designate the section of Grater Road from the intersection with 
South Grater Road to a point 600’ north as a No Parking Zone:

At the request of the Amherst Conservation Commission, the Committee was asked to consider the 
placement of permanent No Parking signs along the roughly 600’ portion of Grater Road (north of 
South Grater Road) which provides access to the Grater Woods ACC trailhead parking lot.  
Temporary No Parking signs had been posted last spring due to record turnout by hikers during the 

Page 7 of 219



onset of Covid-19 shutdowns and emergency orders.  The ACC asked that trail parking be restricted 
to both the main and smaller parking areas off of Grater Road, and that vehicles not be allowed to 
park along Grater Road due to safety concerns over congestion and obstruction of emergency 
vehicle ingress/egress.  Discussion amongst the Committee recognized and supported this measure.  
Selectman D’Angelo made a motion to post the 600 foot section of Grater Road –north of South 
Grater Road- a no parking zone.  AFR Chief Conley seconded the motion, and all were in favor (5-0).

3. Establish a Town Ordinance to erect Stop Signs at the intersections of Madison Lane @ 
Georgetown Drive, and Madison lane @ Williamsburg Drive:

One or more residents of Madison Lane reported that local delivery traffic has increased in recent 
months, as has outdoor walking, biking, and children playing.  This increased traffic has caused 
increased concern for residents over a previously unreported situation involving the lack of stop signs 
at either end of Madison Lane.  The Committee reviewed photographs of the area and noted that 
although both ends of Madison Lane –i.e., the intersection with Williamsburg Drive on one end, and 
with Georgetown Drive on the other- are appropriately marked with a painted stop line, but with no 
corresponding Stop Signs posted.   It has been the Committee’s position in recent recommendations 
to the Board of Selectmen that neighborhoods be properly posted with both the stop line and stop 
sign in a manner appropriate and consistent with similar neighborhood roadways throughout town.  
AFR Chief Conley made a motion to post a stop sign at each end of Madison Lane, which was 
seconded by Selectman D’Angelo.  All were in favor (5-0)

4. Authorize the DPW Director to enact road striping changes along Old Manchester Road:

DPW Director Hahn proposed a road striping change for Old Manchester Road in accordance with 
previously recommended changes presented by the Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee (BPAC).  
Specifically, that instead of a double yellow center line, and pair of Advisory Shoulders be 
implemented.  Director Hahn stated that the following proposed changes would be consistent with 
MUTCD guidelines as that particular roadway does not require a center dividing line.  Principle 
recommendations from representatives Buchanan and Bowers were as follows:

1. Establish the dimensions of the vehicle lane by using the center point of the pavement as the 
reference for the minimum 12 ft bi-directional travel lane. The outside of 12 foot vehicle bi-directional 
lane should be delineated using a white dashed line placed 6 feet to the left of the center point and 6 
feet to the right of the center point to establish a consistent width for the length of Old Manchester 
Road. 
2. The Advisory Shoulders on the outside of the center vehicle travel lane should be a minimum of 
five feet wide. Where the pavement exceeds the standard 22 foot dimension, the Advisory Shoulders 
will be wider. 
3. Signage should be installed at the Walnut Hill Rd intersection and RT-101 intersection entrances to 
inform vehicle drivers of the presence of the Advisory Shoulders and the use of the sides of the 
roadway by pedestrians and cyclists. 
4. Warning/Information signs should be installed at three points on Old Manchester Road where 
there are potential vehicle/pedestrian conflicts: a. At the curve near 10 Old Manchester Rd b. At the 
crest of the hill near 20 Old Manchester Rd c. At the crest of the hill near 60 Old Manchester Rd.

BPAC concerns regarding the speed limit on Old Manchester Road were based upon a belief that 
the road is a posted 35 mph zone; however, the Committee clarified the fact that the road is actually 
a posted 30 mph zone which BPAC representatives found consistent with the implementation of this 
new road marking proposition.  Chief Reams proposed that Old Manchester Road be striped with 
Advisory Shoulders in accordance with BPAC and DPW recommendations.  The motion was 
seconded by AFR Chief Conley, and all were in favor (5-0)

Thank you for your consideration.

Page 8 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: FY22 Draft Budget #2 Department: Finance Department
Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Cheryl Eastman

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Draft #2 of the budget shows an increase in the Workman's Comp insurance of $6,965 
(or 4.1%) based on new rates for FY22 and an increase in the Street Lighting line of 
$2,107 recommended by the DPW director after further review.  The new bottom line of 
the budget is $14,666,451, which is an increase of $50,075 over FY21 (or .34%). 
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
None at this time - draft review only.
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
N/A
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
N/A
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
N/A
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. FY22 Budget - Draft #2

Page 9 of 219



Town of Amherst FY22 Operating Budget Summary

,Printed 11/5/2020 @ 1:36 PM

FY22 Request

Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual
(unaudited)

FY20 Actual
FY21

Budget 11/6/2020
Budget Draft

#1
Draft Budget

#2
FY22 v FY21

Variance $
FY22 v FY21
Variance % Notes

Executive 368,654 389,487 372,499 394,690 468,818 136,905 448,561 448,561 -20,257 -4.32% 1
Election, Reg, Vital Stats 178,261 186,245 204,220 204,712 220,623 76,774 213,832 213,832 -6,791 -3.08% 2
Financial Admin 276,356 287,078 281,860 298,543 311,458 139,603 318,280 318,280 6,822 2.19% 3
Tax Collecting 111,772 113,988 122,490 121,692 137,092 45,320 138,124 138,124 1,032 0.75% 4
Property Assessing 157,464 163,992 166,233 183,605 181,166 51,808 182,028 182,028 862 0.48% 5
Legal 65,700 33,677 44,935 48,644 45,800 3,866 45,101 45,101 -699 -1.53% 6
Personnel Admin. 208,012 207,433 202,410 138,570 226,656 162,851 226,065 233,030 6,374 2.81% 7
Planning Department 48,333 33,385 40,850 56,790 110,546 11,410 122,677 122,677 12,131 10.97% 8
Zoning 285,518 342,774 353,882 356,239 440,057 147,263 424,996 424,996 -15,061 -3.42% 9
Government Buildings 525,087 293,313 276,149 305,829 333,048 82,057 253,942 253,942 -79,106 -23.75% 10
Cemeteries 23,382 28,157 49,707 32,276 41,002 16,573 41,698 41,698 696 1.70%
Property/Liability Insurance 129,977 133,355 130,770 129,302 132,526 130,526 139,835 139,835 7,309 5.52% 11
Police 2,193,658 2,408,278 2,527,778 2,469,628 2,640,939 865,015 2,830,519 2,830,519 189,580 7.18% 12
Rescue 614,701 599,354 608,322 617,057 637,007 212,694 639,363 639,363 2,356 0.37% 13
Fire 592,300 506,116 621,630 591,361 685,840 175,418 687,894 687,894 2,054 0.30% 14
Emergency Management 7,055 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,501 8,500 8,501 8,501 0 0.00%
Public Safety Communications 400,876 420,531 438,636 426,635 480,784 164,700 494,508 494,508 13,724 2.85% 15
Public Works Admin 475,798 482,234 294,395 360,870 421,944 132,032 419,231 419,231 -2,713 -0.64% 16
Dept. Of Public Works 2,040,250 3,269,279 3,060,440 3,645,037 3,470,432 1,197,484 3,393,941 3,393,941 -76,491 -2.20% 17
Street Lighting 24,098 23,520 24,534 26,023 27,350 6,347 25,000 27,107 -243 -0.89%
Souhegan Regional Landfill 325,715 324,551 331,131 438,589 391,579 90,344 411,000 411,000 19,421 4.96% 18
Landfill 276,375 265,078 283,229 294,239 298,832 106,869 321,154 321,154 22,322 7.47% 19
Septic 0 0 0 0 60,356 7,477 60,356 60,356 0 0.00%
Health Administration 2,714 2,604 2,447 2,140 2,159 772 2,156 2,156 -3 -0.14%
Animal Control 400 400 400 400 401 0 401 401 0 0.00%
Health & Human Service Agencies 45,000 45,000 45,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0.00%
Direct Assistance 4,778 1,194 11,548 10,864 14,326 330 14,326 14,326 0 0.00%
Recreation 332,468 349,168 362,262 391,821 404,545 141,073 426,373 426,373 21,828 5.40% 20
Parks 13,524 12,187 12,577 4,690 13,773 5,716 13,443 13,443 -330 -2.40%
Peabody Mill Env. Ctr 6,000 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 -1 -100.00%
Library 881,978 930,710 923,375 977,650 1,025,175 341,293 1,037,897 1,037,897 12,722 1.24% 21
Patriotic Purposes 8,612 8,085 8,000 0 8,500 0 8,500 8,500 0 0.00%
Heritage Commission 732 500 380 443 2,572 148 2,608 2,608 36 1.40%
Conservation Commission 13,924 16,811 15,910 19,891 14,991 12,325 16,472 16,472 1,481 9.88% 22
Principal Bonds 1,156,000 1,296,017 1,296,017 1,195,302 1,187,927 550,000 1,137,927 1,137,927 -50,000 -4.21% 23
Interest Bonds 172,165 210,614 183,047 152,316 119,650 68,884 100,670 100,670 -18,980 -15.86% 24
GRAND TOTAL 11,967,637 13,393,617 13,305,564 13,954,349 14,616,376 5,142,376 14,657,379 14,666,451 50,075 0.34%
NOTES:
Changes from Draft 1 to Draft 2 Workmen's Compensation rates increased by $6,965, or 4.1%.

Street Lighting increased by $2,107 following review by DPW director.

Page 10 of 219



FY22 v FY21 BUDGET CHANGES NOTES

NOTE # DEPARTMENT +/- CHANGES EXPLANATION

1 Executive

- Wages and benefits lines as a result of personnel changes.
- Merit Pay line not funded.
+ Electricity and Water lines new - transferred from Government Buildings Budget.
- Less Special Events planned in FY22
- Postage - based on actual history.
- Equipment Lease Payments - copier lease costs allocated to individual departments.

2
Elections,

Registrations, Vital
Stats

-
Elected Officials wages.  Pay per hour increased to $12.00/hour, number of hours
reduced due to only one election (Town) in FY22.

- Ballot Machine programming due to only one election in FY22.

-
Computer equipment - deduction of the one-time purchase in FY21 of a laptop computer
for the Supervisors of the Checklist.

3 Finance

+
Change for Department Assistant (Grade 6, Step 9) to Executive Assistant (Grade 12, Step
4).

+ Elected Officials Wages.  No pay increase - including budgeting for Deputy Treasurer

+
Education/Training - Springbrook training to better utilize software and tuition
reimbursement.

+ Dues/Subscriptions - included Payroll Processors Assocation dues.
- Bank Fees - based on actual history
+ Software Licensing - increase in fees for Springbrook and GovMax.

4 Tax Collector
- Bank Service Fees (Lockbox) based on actual history.
+ Software Licensing increase for AMAZE software.
+ Computer Equipment to initiate the computer replacement plan.

5
Property

Assessing & Revals

+ Longevity - Next step in matrix achieved.
+ Computer Equipment to initiate the computer replacement plan.
- Office Equipment - less needs in FY22.

6 Legal - CBA  legal - based on actual history.

7
Personnel

Administration

- Short Term Disability rate decrease.
+ Workmen's Comp insurance increase of 4.1%.
+ Health Reimbursement Account - based on actual history.

8 Planning
+ Master Plan - for work to be performed by Nashua Regional Planning Commission.
- Postage - based on actual history.
+ Equipment Repair - maintenance contract on plotter printer.

9 Zoning

- Health and Dental Insurances due to plan participation changes.
+ Telephone - based on actual history.
+ Software Licenses
- Mileage - based on actual history.

10
Government

Buildings

- Electricity and Water transferred to individual department budgets.
+ Facility Maintenance/Repairs - addition of Buckmeadow.
+ Alarms - addition of Buckmeadow.
+ Trash Removal - addition of Buckmeadow.

11
Property/Liability

Insurance
+ Rate increase.

Page 11 of 219



FY22 v FY21 BUDGET CHANGES NOTES

12 Police

+ CBA costs - year 2 of the contract
- Traffic Aides - personnel changes
- Health and Dental Insurances due to plan participation changes.
+ NH Retirement rate increase from 28.43% to 33.88% (up 5.45%)
- Longevity - Personnel changes
+ Custodian - more square footage in building after renovation.
+ Electricity and Water lines new - transferred from Government Buildings Budget.
+ Vehicle Repairs - Cruisers are older due to no new ones purchaased in FY20.
+ Tires - Cruisers are older due to no new ones purchased in FY20.
+ Cruisers - cost of new cruisers
- Motorcycle Lease - Paid off.

13 Rescue

+ OT - new line broken out from wages.
+ Supplemental Insurance rates
+ Ambulance Billing Fee - this is a contracted percentage of revenue processed.
- ALS Supplies - based on actual history.
- Oxygen - based on actual history.

14 Fire

+ NH Retirement rate increase from 30.09% to 32.99% (up 2.9%)
+ Electricity and Water transferred from Government Buildings budget.
- Heat - based on actual history.
+ Vehicle Repairs - based on actual history.
+ Equipment Lease Payment - copier lease formerly in Executive budget.

15 Communications

+ Proposed creation of Assistant Communication Center Coordinator position.
- Wages overall net decrease due to personnel changes.
+ Health and Dental Insurances due to plan participation changes.
+ Telephone - based on actual history.

16
Public Works

Admin.

+ Part Time Wages - number of hours increased.
- Health and Dental Insurances due to plan participation changes.
+ Engineering - based on actual history.
+ Telephone - based on actual history.
+ Electricity and Water transferred from Government Buildings budget.

17 DPW Operations

+ Physicals/Drug Tests - stricter standards in testing compliance.
+ Vehicle Repairs - electronic parts costing more to purchase and install.

+
Pennichuck Water Main Assessment - rates increase and anticpated new hydrants due to
development

+ Line Striping - bids received 50% over prior years costs.
+ Outside Hire - Included gravel crushing contract in this line.  Formerly in gravel line.
+ Equipment Lease/Rental Payments based on actual history.
+ Fuel Tank Testing due to State inspection costs increased.
- Street Sweeping due to reduced sand program.
- Catch Basins due to reduced sand program.
+ Oil & Grease due to newer vehicles requiring synthetic oils.
- Diesel based on actual history.
+ Salt due to price per ton, no additional tonnage used.
-  Sand due to reduction program.
- Gravel due to recording the gravel crushing contract in the Outside Hire line.
+ Road Rebuild due to $100,000/year increase as per seven year plan.

-
Equipment Lease Payments - proposed CRF be established instead of leasing  $46,500
covers the already-committed lease payments in FY22.

18
Souhegan
Regional Landfill + Estimated 5% increase in rates.

19 Landfill

+ Health and Dental Insurances due to plan participation changes.

NOTE # DEPARTMENT +/- CHANGES EXPLANATION

Page 12 of 219



FY22 v FY21 BUDGET CHANGES NOTES

+ Waste Disposal due to C&D tipping fees increase.
+ Electricity based on actual history.
+ Bank & Credit Card fees based on actual history.
+ Landfill Waste Oil based on actual history.

20 Recreation

+ Electricity and Water transferred from Government Buildings budget.
+ Heat due to additional of Buckmeadow.
+ Gasoline due to addition of Buckmeadow maintenance.
+ Diesel due to additional of Buckmeadow maintenance.

+
Equipment lease payments increased due to including copier leases in individual
department budgets (formerly all recorded in Executive)

21 Library

+ Electricity and Water transferred from Government Buildings budget.
- Heat based on actual history.
+ Software License due to increases in fees.
- Office Supplies based on actual history.

22 Conservation
+ Invasives Mitigation to cover invasive insects.
+ Educational Outreach for additional educational materials.

23 Bonds Principle - Reduced due to paying off Spring Road loan in FY21.

24 Bonds Interest
- Diminishing interest costs on all loans.
- Spring Road loan paid off in FY21.

19 Landfill

NOTE # DEPARTMENT +/- CHANGES EXPLANATION

Page 13 of 219



FY22 BUDGET REQUEST
11/6/2020 FY22 Draft

#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual
(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

01- 4130- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 151,255 154,927 154,392 167,765 172,705 57,207 168,106 -4,599 -2.66%
01- 4130- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 3,884 3,780 3,971 2,839 4,402 771 4,322 -80 -1.82%
01- 4130- 10- 1130 Elected  Officials 24,300 23,400 23,400 23,400 23,400 8,100 23,400 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 10- 1131 Moderator Wages 871 338 819 675 890 0 900 10 1.12%
01- 4130- 10- 1132 Merit Pay 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 -5,000 -100.00%
01- 4130- 10- 1140 Overtime 0 0 0 0 1 484 1 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 34,432 34,016 27,693 38,192 36,389 6,395 16,995 -19,394 -53.30%
01- 4130- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 3,256 3,155 1,598 1,426 1,577 590 2,223 646 40.96%
01- 4130- 10- 1220 Social Security 12,117 12,175 11,789 12,853 12,997 4,687 12,197 -800 -6.16%
01- 4130- 10- 1225 Medicare 2,834 2,840 2,757 3,006 3,040 1,096 2,853 -187 -6.15%
01- 4130- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 8,319 8,217 4,816 6,221 9,499 2,849 9,246 -253 -2.66%
01- 4130- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 3,240 3,121 3,267 3,311 3,239 1,719 3,239 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 10- 1290 Longevity 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 2,312 1,988 13,123 2,431 5,000 40 5,000 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2335 Records Retention 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2341 Telephone 11,490 11,250 13,544 8,268 6,026 1,842 6,025 -1 -0.02%
01- 4130- 30- 2342 Cable Access Channel 7,953 29,256 16,287 13,237 21,000 5,790 21,000 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 2,400 580 2,400 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2374 Custodian 7,374 6,640 6,640 6,640 6,700 1,660 6,700 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2381 Outside Hire Professional Svcs 1,000 0 7,703 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 30- 2392 Outside Hire - Web Sites 4,566 1,900 1,900 1,995 1,900 0 2,000 100 5.26%
01- 4130- 30- 2395 Outside Hire IT 55,313 56,519 38,580 61,627 100,000 32,942 100,000 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 40- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,000 11,000 New line
01- 4130- 40- 2411 Heat 3,478 3,695 4,304 5,509 6,000 42 6,000 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,600 2,600 New line
01- 4130- 40-+2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 0 0 62 0 100 1,040 100 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 40- 2440 Equipment Rental 4,802 4,904 5,161 5,655 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2550 Printing 3,228 2,104 1,760 548 3,500 349 3,500 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2551 Advertising 873 755 1,171 1,163 1,100 135 1,100 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2552 Town Report 2,645 2,746 1,963 2,085 2,250 0 2,250 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2553 Record Binding 0 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 11,475 11,766 13,300 13,528 12,000 199 13,700 1,700 14.17%
01- 4130- 50- 2565 Software Licenses 420 2,010 2,963 2,252 5,300 4,577 5,300 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 50- 2581 Travel (Convention Hotels) 0 134 0 0 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 2,329 1,854 1,899 1,522 2,000 193 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 60- 2621 Computer Supplies 80 1,079 690 1,209 1,200 1,900 1,200 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 60- 2625 Postage 1,525 2,880 5,052 5,470 5,500 526 5,000 -500 -9.09%
01- 4130- 60- 2635 Gasoline 501 239 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 1,889 219 844 0 0 0 1 1 New line
01- 4130- 80- 2618 Special Events & Supplies 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 1,000 -2,000 -66.67%
01- 4130- 80- 2762 Equipment Lease Payment 0 0 0 0 8,000 1,194 4,000 -4,000 -50.00%
01- 4130- 80- 2820 Mileage 210 0 225 0 200 0 200 0 0.00%
01- 4130- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 683 1,581 824 1,862 2,000 0 2,500 500 25.00%

TOTAL EXECUTIVE 368,654 389,487 372,499 394,690 468,818 136,905 448,561 -20,257 -4.32%

Page 14 of 219



Acct Number Election, Reg & Vital Stats 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4140- 10- 1110 Town Clerk Wages 54,616 62,379 58,552 65,208 66,456 23,026 66,518 62 0.09%
01- 4140- 10- 1111 Full Time Wages 46,806 46,851 49,816 49,006 52,520 20,065 53,581 1,061 2.02%
01- 4140- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 1,370 0 795 640 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 10- 1130 Supervisor Of Check List, Wages 3,750 1,549 3,901 4,451 4,200 1,552 2,496 -1,704 -40.57%
01- 4140- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 28,917 39,634 46,674 46,295 50,732 17,481 50,686 -46 -0.09%
01- 4140- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 1,811 2,184 2,141 1,904 1,902 681 1,975 73 3.84%
01- 4140- 10- 1220 Social Security 7,757 7,225 7,249 7,200 7,910 2,759 7,725 -185 -2.34%
01- 4140- 10- 1225 Medicare 1,814 1,684 1,695 1,684 1,850 645 1,807 -43 -2.32%
01- 4140- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 5,968 5,787 6,281 6,265 6,544 2,259 6,605 61 0.93%
01- 4140- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 479 25 200 73 2,409 1,200 2,400 -9 -0.37%
01- 4140- 10- 1290 Longevity 1,250 1,250 1,750 1,750 2,000 0 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 50- 2551 Advertising 129 165 167 181 170 0 200 30 17.65%
01- 4140- 50- 2562 Ballot Machine Programing 6,470 3,525 6,437 787 6,800 0 800 -6,000 -88.24%
01- 4140- 50- 2565 Software Licenses 6,622 6,732 7,222 7,264 7,078 296 7,486 408 5.76%
01- 4140- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 2,920 1,213 1,323 2,221 1,100 1,324 2,000 900 81.82%
01- 4140- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 2,132 1,765 2,464 5,411 2,000 2,941 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 966 0 1,400 2,545 1 -1,399 -99.93%
01- 4140- 60- 2625 Postage 2,068 3,541 3,827 4,128 4,000 0 4,000 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 70- 2740 New Equipment 3,254 0 1,429 0 800 0 800 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 80- 2820 Mileage 19 0 0 244 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4140- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 110 735 1,330 0 750 0 750 0 0.00%

TOTAL ELECTION, REG, VITAL STATS 178,261 186,245 204,220 204,712 220,623 76,774 213,832 -6,791 -3.08%

Acct Number Financial Administration 2017 Actual 2018 Acutal 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4150- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 115,509 136,069 146,121 138,834 140,279 49,962 141,544 1,265 0.90%
01- 4150- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 1,151 1,458 700 400 802 135 790 -12 -1.50%
01- 4150- 10- 1130 Treasurer Stipend 13,807 13,500 13,250 13,833 13,500 4,586 13,834 334 2.47%
01- 4150- 10- 1140 Overtime 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 New Line
01- 4150- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 19,779 29,090 31,449 34,734 38,063 13,164 38,028 -35 -0.09%
01- 4150- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 2,143 2,043 1,308 1,038 1,067 373 1,077 10 0.94%
01- 4150- 10- 1220 Social Security 9,152 10,112 10,203 9,765 9,767 3,437 9,683 -84 -0.86%
01- 4150- 10- 1225 Medicare 2,140 2,360 2,386 2,284 2,284 804 2,264 -20 -0.88%
01- 4150- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 6,050 7,056 6,378 7,355 7,715 2,648 7,785 70 0.91%
01- 4150- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 2,625 2,154 2,584 2,171 2,945 0 2,945 0 0.00%
01- 4150- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 0 0 124 5,053 1,200 0 3,847 2,647 220.58%
01- 4150- 30- 2301 Auditing 20,000 21,000 24,300 17,400 19,100 16,710 19,400 300 1.57%
01- 4150- 30- 2381 Outside Hire Professional Svcs 39,322 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4150- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 105 70 35 20 35 349 285 250 714.29%
01- 4150- 50- 2561 Bank Charges and Fees 19,105 15,227 22,809 16,530 18,000 4,519 15,300 -2,700 -15.00%
01- 4150- 50- 2565 Software Licenses 0 0 0 0 53,100 42,386 58,146 5,046 9.50%
01- 4150- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 3,644 2,195 3,768 3,097 3,600 531 3,350 -250 -6.94%
01- 4150- 60- 2621 Computer Software & Supplies 21,648 44,704 16,447 45,987 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4150- 80- 2820 Mileage 177 38 0 43 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL FINANCIAL ADMIN 276,356 287,078 281,860 298,543 311,458 139,603 318,280 6,822 2.19%

Acct Number Tax Collecting 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 15 of 219



01- 4151- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 61,678 62,379 63,879 65,208 66,456 23,016 66,518 62 0.09%
01- 4151- 10- 1140 Overtime 3,835 292 0 3,010 4,266 432 4,269 3 0.07%
01- 4151- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 24,471 27,419 30,081 31,196 33,043 11,839 34,202 1,159 3.51%
01- 4151- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 1,625 1,621 1,658 1,684 1,778 606 1,749 -29 -1.63%
01- 4151- 10- 1220 Social Security 4,077 3,844 3,928 4,162 4,524 1,482 4,466 -58 -1.28%
01- 4151- 10- 1225 Medicare 954 896 919 973 1,058 347 1,045 -13 -1.23%
01- 4151- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 3,392 3,310 3,517 3,586 3,655 1,266 3,659 4 0.11%
01- 4151- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 810 956 1,001 600 1,000 1,599 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 10- 1290 Longevity 1,520 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 0 1,250 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 0 0 0 0 700 0 700 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 30- 2340 Banking Services (Lockbox) 0 0 0 0 4,800 2,028 3,500 -1,300 -27.08%
01- 4151- 30- 2391 Registry Fees 351 521 353 181 700 95 700 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 30- 2393 Tax Lien & Deed Researach 1,225 856 1,204 0 1,400 156 1,400 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 50 20 0 20 60 20 60 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 50- 2565 Software License 0 2,832 3,077 3,146 3,100 148 3,604 504 16.26%
01- 4151- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 1,378 1,507 1,230 1,545 1,700 54 1,700 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 60- 2625 Postage 6,264 6,254 6,264 5,032 7,000 2,235 7,000 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 60- 2690 Misc. Supplies 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 80- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 4,060 99 300 0 1,000 700 233.33%
01- 4151- 80- 2743 Office Equipment 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4151- 80- 2820 Mileage 144 32 70 0 300 0 300 0 0.00%

TOTAL TAX COLLECTING 111,772 113,988 122,490 121,692 137,092 45,320 138,124 1,032 0.75%

Acct Number Property Assessment & Revals 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4152- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 55,886 56,597 58,011 59,176 60,341 20,885 60,362 21 0.03%
01- 4152- 10- 1140 Overtime 0 0 0 0 205 0 205 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 9,085 10,169 11,157 11,586 12,255 4,391 12,685 430 3.51%
01- 4152- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 866 913 917 519 532 186 539 7 1.32%
01- 4152- 10- 1220 Social Security 3,639 3,611 3,636 3,676 3,893 1,313 3,833 -60 -1.54%
01- 4152- 10- 1225 Medicare 851 844 850 860 911 307 895 -16 -1.76%
01- 4152- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 3,074 1,556 1,718 626 3,319 1,149 3,320 1 0.03%
01- 4152- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 486 1,021 635 662 1,000 0 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 10- 1290 Longevity 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 0 1,250 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 0 0 0 0 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 30- 2381 Outside Hire Special Project 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 30- 2382 Outside Hire - Professional Srvcs 74,322 77,039 76,164 76,164 84,000 20,251 84,000 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 30- 2391 Registry Fees 152 0 28 25 200 0 200 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 30- 2394 Tax Maps 0 182 189 189 200 0 200 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 20 20 20 40 30 0 30 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 50- 2565 Software License 7,180 9,940 10,279 28,328 10,928 3,140 10,906 -22 -0.20%
01- 4152- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 180 268 253 234 350 186 350 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 470 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 New Line
01- 4152- 60- 2625 Postage 250 449 542 271 600 0 600 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 60- 2670 Books & Periodicals 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4152- 80- 2743 Office Equipment 0 0 0 0 500 0 1 -499 -99.80%
01- 4152- 80- 2820 Mileage 223 132 114 0 250 0 250 0 0.00%

TOTAL PROPERTY ASSESSING 157,464 163,992 166,233 183,605 181,166 51,808 182,028 862 0.48%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 16 of 219



Acct Number Legal Expense 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4153- 30- 2320 Town Counsel 65,674 33,677 43,230 48,644 40,000 3,866 45,000 5,000 12.50%
01- 4153- 30- 2321 Collective Bargaining 0 0 0 0 800 0 100 -700 -87.50%
01- 4153- 30- 2322 Misc. Legal (Code Enforcement) 26 0 1,705 0 5,000 0 0 -5,000 -100.00%
01- 4153- 30- 2323 Cable Negotiations 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 New Line

TOTAL LEGAL 65,700 33,677 44,935 48,644 45,800 3,866 45,101 -699 -1.53%

Acct Number Personnel Administration 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4155- 20- 1214 Short Term Disability Insurance 28,396 29,361 27,459 22,914 22,701 9,148 20,110 -2,591 -11.41%
01- 4155- 20- 1215 Life and Disability Insurance 22,793 23,543 19,836 21,068 18,417 7,642 18,417 0 0.00%
01- 4155- 20- 1250 NH Unemployment 13,524 8,911 0 2,832 6,668 0 6,668 0 0.00%
01- 4155- 20- 1260 Workers Comp Insurance 133,244 138,970 145,636 81,113 169,870 144,427 176,835 6,965 4.10%
01- 4155- 20- 1280 Health Reimbursement Account 10,054 6,648 9,480 10,642 9,000 1,634 11,000 2,000 22.22%

TOTAL PERSONNEL ADMIN 208,012 207,433 202,410 138,570 226,656 162,851 233,030 6,374 2.81%

Acct Number Planning Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4191- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 0 17 489 2,565 2,446 1,120 2,593 147 6.01%
01- 4191- 10- 1220 Social Security 0 0 30 159 151 69 161 10 6.62%
01- 4191- 10- 1225 Medicare 0 0 7 37 35 16 38 3 8.57%
01- 4191- 30- 2381 Outside Hire    35,092 18,813 17,836 17,665 7,500 0 7,500 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 30- 2382 Outside Hire-Prof. Serv (Impact Fees) 0 0 0 14,535 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 30- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0 0 700 700 New Line
01- 4191- 50- 2396 Storm Water II Projects 0 0 0 6,635 40,000 0 40,000 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 50- 2550 Printing 150 50 17 1,022 1,060 0 1,060 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 50- 2551 Advertising 1,222 757 567 566 951 119 951 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 50- 2555 Master Plan 0 0 8,158 0 42,800 0 54,800 12,000 28.04%
01- 4191- 50- 2560 Regional Planning Dues & Fees 10,639 10,289 10,247 10,202 10,062 10,062 10,063 1 0.01%
01- 4191- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 434 829 1,027 568 1,750 23 1,750 0 0.00%
01- 4191- 60- 2625 Postage 797 2,630 2,471 2,836 3,790 0 3,060 -730 -19.26%

TOTAL PLANNING DEPARTMENT 48,333 33,385 40,850 56,790 110,546 11,410 122,677 12,131 10.97%

Acct Number Zoning Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4192- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 183,427 225,716 218,335 217,433 250,661 85,633 255,694 5,033 2.01%
01- 4192- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 3,344 2,506 2,169 1,141 2,446 555 2,593 147 6.01%
01- 4192- 10- 1140 Overtime 530 0 215 110 2,705 0 2,759 54 2.00%
01- 4192- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 53,452 65,172 63,940 75,093 109,903 30,573 88,323 -21,580 -19.64%
01- 4192- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 3,507 3,929 3,628 3,992 4,950 1,562 3,973 -977 -19.74%
01- 4192- 10- 1220 Social Security 12,371 15,111 14,743 14,019 16,514 5,636 16,186 -328 -1.99%
01- 4192- 10- 1225 Medicare 2,893 3,525 3,448 3,279 3,862 1,318 3,785 -77 -1.99%
01- 4192- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 9,409 11,574 11,488 11,103 13,201 4,510 14,063 862 6.53%
01- 4192- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 444 2,063 2,062 1,260 3,375 2,650 3,375 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 10- 1290 Longevity 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 2,880 3,579 1,713 2,398 4,205 45 4,217 12 0.29%
01- 4192- 30- 2341 Telephone 1,280 1,267 4,338 3,029 3,115 1,033 3,360 245 7.87%
01- 4192- 30- 2382 Professional Consultant 0 0 12,247 10,542 5,850 0 5,850 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 30- 2391 Recording Fees (Temporary Acct) 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs 135 529 0 196 1,000 432 1,000 0 0.00%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 17 of 219



01- 4192- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 1,723 0 0 0 700 670 690 -10 -1.43%
01- 4192- 50- 2550 Printing 0 0 242 0 3,060 0 3,060 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 50- 2551 Advertising 382 0 743 505 1,320 178 1,320 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscription 0 0 135 309 1,200 0 1,134 -66 -5.50%
01- 4192- 50- 2565 Software License 5,835 4,815 6,255 9,922 10,130 11,978 12,311 2,181 21.53%
01- 4192- 50- 2615 Uniforms 0 0 0 0 200 90 200 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 1,200 1,081 1,805 1,386 484 387 484 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 60- 2625 Postage 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 60- 2635 Gasoline 285 192 209 253 250 13 275 25 10.00%
01- 4192- 80- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 399 5,027 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 80- 2743 Office Equipment 1,557 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4192- 80- 2820 Mileage 847 1,318 1,143 270 922 0 340 -582 -63.12%

TOTAL ZONING 285,518 342,774 353,882 356,239 440,057 147,263 424,996 -15,061 -3.42%

Acct Number General Government Buildings 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4194- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 47,395 54,197 53,800 55,072 62,629 19,994 60,651 -1,978 -3.16%
01- 4194- 10- 1115 Overtime 1,932 369 637 196 1,253 249 1,968 715 57.06%
01- 4194- 10- 1140 Health Insurance 18,120 20,592 22,289 23,148 23,060 8,773 24,063 1,003 4.35%
01- 4194- 10- 1210 Dental Insurance 915 929 934 952 932 342 938 6 0.64%
01- 4194- 10- 1211 Social Security 3,274 3,491 3,565 3,559 4,086 1,248 3,941 -145 -3.55%
01- 4194- 10- 1220 Medicare 766 814 834 832 956 292 922 -34 -3.56%
01- 4194- 10- 1225 Deferred Compensation 2,577 2,861 3,019 3,029 3,445 1,100 3,336 -109 -3.16%
01- 4194- 10- 1230 Sick Leave Incentive 1,693 1,045 716 1,275 1,020 0 1,020 0 0.00%
01- 4194- 10- 1266 Longevity 778 778 1,319 1,000 1,000 0 950 -50 -5.00%
01- 4194- 20- 1290 Custodian 1,646 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4194- 20- 1294 Town Clocks 730 500 1,000 500 1,000 0 750 -250 -25.00%
01- 4194- 40- 2410 Town Electricity & Lighting 58,960 60,108 66,519 68,699 72,572 17,025 1 -72,571 -100.00%
01- 4194- 40- 2412 Water 11,453 11,607 12,072 11,918 13,350 3,111 1 -13,349 -99.99%
01- 4194- 40- 2430 Building Repair & Maintenance 338,546 105,318 75,254 91,268 120,000 20,393 125,000 5,000 4.17%
01- 4194- 40- 2433 Alarms 4,731 4,443 3,396 12,983 4,500 600 7,000 2,500 55.56%
01- 4194- 40- 2434 Common Lighting 465 438 442 500 600 111 600 0 0.00%
01- 4194- 40- 2451 Outside Hire Building 18,385 18,317 22,225 28,466 17,000 6,567 17,000 0 0.00%
01- 4194- 50- 2545 Trash Removal 6,822 1,320 6,101 -212 1,644 340 1,800 156 9.49%
01- 4194- 60- 2630 Maintenance Supplies 5,900 6,186 2,028 2,644 4,000 1,912 4,000 0 0.00%

TOTAL GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS 525,087 293,313 276,149 305,829 333,048 82,057 253,942 -79,106 -23.75%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 18 of 219



Acct Number Cemeteries 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4195- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 5,123 1,825 2,953 2,598 3,060 1,621 3,226 166 5.42%
01- 4195- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 7,935 12,717 21,621 13,519 22,950 9,118 22,922 -28 -0.12%
01- 4195- 10- 1140 Overtime 372 2,809 1,098 1,585 1,020 0 1,125 105 10.29%
01- 4195- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 1,775 672 516 1,124 700 0 1,280 580 82.86%
01- 4195- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 111 41 30 91 70 0 50 -20 -28.57%
01- 4195- 10- 1220 Social Security 822 1,068 1,589 1,284 1,676 666 1,631 -45 -2.68%
01- 4195- 10- 1225 Medicare 192 250 372 300 392 156 381 -11 -2.81%
01- 4195- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 240 26 182 338 168 89 177 9 5.36%
01- 4195- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
01- 4195- 10- 1290 Longevity 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50
01- 4195- 40- 2410 Electricity 292 311 466 268 790 229 790 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 40- 2412 Water 87 200 151 309 300 192 350 50 16.67%
01- 4195- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 689 1,648 1,462 1,562 1,900 1,016 1,900 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 40- 2432 Headstone Repair 93 309 142 0 200 0 100 -100 -50.00%
01- 4195- 40- 2451 Outside Hire 1,827 1,004 15,599 4,127 2,700 2,000 2,700 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 40- 2470 Tree Care 1,000 0 0 0 900 0 450 -450 -50.00%
01- 4195- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 210 255 240 120 700 148 1,040 340 48.57%
01- 4195- 60-60-2610 Supplies - General 2,480 4,682 3,085 4,053 3,275 1,337 3,275 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 60- 2667 Loam 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 0 0 0 998 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4195- 80- 2612 Equipment Purchases 133 340 200 0 200 0 250 50 25.00%

TOTAL CEMETERIES 23,382 28,157 49,707 32,276 41,002 16,573 41,698 696 1.70%

Acct Number Property/Liability Insurance 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4196- 50- 2525 Property/Liability Insurance 127,977 133,355 131,770 129,302 130,526 130,526 137,835 7,309 5.60%
01- 4196- 50- 2529 Insurance Deductible 2,000 0 -1,000 0 2,000 0 2,000 0 0.00%

TTL PROPERTY/LIABILITY INSURANCE 129,977 133,355 130,770 129,302 132,526 130,526 139,835 7,309 5.52%

Acct Number Police Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4210- 10- 1110 Wages Full Time Officers 1,105,666 974,059 1,051,644 1,055,444 1,060,614 405,818 1,112,842 52,228 4.92%
01- 4210- 10- 1111 Wages Full Time Clerical 56,408 56,597 56,205 56,900 60,341 24,274 60,362 21 0.03%
01- 4210- 10- 1112 Police Chief & Lieutenants 0 252,376 250,831 253,623 275,808 54,234 277,618 1,810 0.66%
01- 4210- 10- 1115 Wages Part Time Officers 39 0 0 0 250 0 250 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 10- 1116 Wages Part Time Clerical 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 10- 1119 Traffic Aides-Wages 16,558 16,524 18,873 11,958 20,017 2,834 19,271 -746 -3.73%
01- 4210- 10- 1140 Overtime 85,437 75,021 96,630 76,976 94,000 29,433 97,775 3,775 4.02%
01- 4210- 10- 1141 Overtime-Clerical 5,929 6,429 3,515 4,076 6,789 1,306 6,791 2 0.03%
01- 4210- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 290,519 318,967 315,026 307,526 329,490 108,808 367,791 38,301 11.62%
01- 4210- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 20,599 21,971 21,955 24,419 23,151 8,166 22,705 -446 -1.93%
01- 4210- 10- 1220 Social Security 5,393 5,067 5,172 4,814 5,419 1,549 5,482 63 1.16%
01- 4210- 10- 1225 Medicare 19,751 21,281 21,622 22,355 22,008 8,063 23,373 1,365 6.20%
01- 4210- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 3,082 3,038 3,210 3,255 3,696 1,151 3,320 -376 -10.17%
01- 4210- 10- 1235 Police Group II Retirement 329,507 397,400 404,358 409,610 411,102 144,809 485,992 74,890 18.22%
01- 4210- 10- 1240 Education Reimbursement 2,126 0 0 0 1,400 0 1,400 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 18,502 18,829 19,410 20,869 22,000 12,318 22,000 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 10- 1269 Vacation Buyout-Union Contract 10,154 3,412 11,211 3,329 12,000 977 12,000 0 0.00%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 19 of 219



01- 4210- 10- 1290 Longevity 10,346 12,357 15,017 15,066 19,000 0 15,750 -3,250 -17.11%
01- 4210- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 5,782 6,018 7,947 1,803 7,500 3,030 7,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 10- 1295 Educational Incentive 15,288 16,153 19,723 22,145 21,250 7,341 21,250 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2336 Blood Analysis -63 0 0 0 250 0 250 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2337 Crime Lab 612 728 978 927 1,000 230 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2341 Telephone 15,053 13,163 14,655 15,001 12,500 4,921 13,000 500 4.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 2,500 692 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2350 Physicals, Alcohol And Drug Testings 760 1,754 1,619 245 1,500 0 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 30- 2374 Custodian 7,479 7,325 6,922 7,313 8,400 2,397 11,225 2,825 33.63%
01- 4210- 30- 2380 Uniform Cleaning 3,008 3,456 3,962 4,137 4,000 1,021 4,300 300 7.50%
01- 4210- 40- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,800 19,800 New Line
01- 4210- 40- 2411 Heat 897 2,494 3,273 5,233 5,720 17 5,720 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,900 1,900 New Line
01- 4210- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs 13,086 14,659 14,214 22,453 15,000 5,891 16,000 1,000 6.67%
01- 4210- 40- 2429 Radio Repair 5,938 5,892 6,000 7,566 6,000 1,809 7,000 1,000 16.67%
01- 4210- 40- 2440 Equipment Rental 525 525 500 617 1,860 599 1,860 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 40- 2442 Office Equip Maintenance 1,146 1,200 1,842 1,669 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 50- 2550 Printing 985 1,258 1,000 789 1,200 0 1,200 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 50- 2551 Advertising 376 0 500 0 500 0 500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 750 795 775 748 800 145 800 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 50- 2565 Software License 9,628 11,235 12,322 17,978 15,125 9,644 15,200 75 0.50%
01- 4210- 50- 2580 Public Relations 198 760 804 261 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2614 Ammunition & Supplies 2,122 1,977 3,552 3,230 3,000 3,952 3,500 500 16.67%
01- 4210- 60- 2615 Uniforms 8,993 12,175 9,801 9,753 9,500 4,407 9,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 1,524 2,418 2,071 1,903 2,500 780 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 5,638 7,833 7,118 7,999 18,000 900 18,000 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2625 Postage 690 1,741 1,574 907 1,800 86 1,800 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2635 Gasoline 28,237 32,020 34,559 29,759 43,000 6,299 39,000 -4,000 -9.30%
01- 4210- 60- 2643 Film 196 47 0 100 100 0 100 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2653 Tools & Equipment 1,655 1,578 1,721 1,808 1,800 444 1,800 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 60- 2654 Tires 5,597 6,258 6,579 7,291 7,000 273 7,500 500 7.14%
01- 4210- 60- 2660 Vehicle Supplies 621 564 672 887 700 0 800 100 14.29%
01- 4210- 60- 2670 Books & Periodicals (Lawbooks) 593 793 836 1,232 1,000 247 1,200 200 20.00%
01- 4210- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 17,407 7,660 6,406 8,509 7,500 6,153 7,500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 70- 2750 Furniture Fixtures Office Eq. 435 460 498 0 500 0 500 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 70- 2760 New Vehicle Cruisers 52,800 56,260 54,933 16,098 65,673 0 67,315 1,642 2.50%
01- 4210- 70- 2761 Motorcycle Lease 4,392 4,392 4,392 0 4,400 0 1 -4,399 -99.98%
01- 4210- 80- 2811 Prisoner Care 0 0 0 0 25 0 25 0 0.00%
01- 4210- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 1,293 1,359 1,353 1,045 1,500 0 1,500 0 0.00%

TOTAL POLICE 2,193,658 2,408,278 2,527,778 2,469,628 2,640,939 865,015 2,830,519 189,580 7.18%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 20 of 219



Acct Number Rescue 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4215- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 498,177 496,838 485,148 502,223 515,484 177,461 512,000 -3,484 -0.68%
01- 4215- 10- 1140 Overtime 0 0 3,872 4,249 0 67 4,338 4,338 New Line
01- 4215- 10- 1220 Social Security 30,887 30,730 30,319 31,400 31,960 11,007 32,013 53 0.17%
01- 4215- 10- 1225 Medicare 7,223 7,183 7,093 7,613 7,475 2,574 7,487 12 0.16%
01- 4215- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 3,045 3,265 2,107 230 3,000 0 2,000 -1,000 -33.33%
01- 4215- 20- 1296 Supplemental Volunteer Insurance 4,122 0 4,260 3,524 3,000 3,524 3,600 600 20.00%
01- 4215- 30- 2305 Amb Billing Service Fee 25,878 25,148 31,163 28,489 31,163 7,006 33,124 1,961 6.29%
01- 4215- 30- 2341 Telephone 5,596 5,812 10,401 7,491 5,440 2,009 6,900 1,460 26.84%
01- 4215- 30- 2374 Custodian 2,340 1,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 40- 2411 Heat 897 230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repair Ambulance 10,909 3,758 7,456 7,300 8,000 2,451 9,000 1,000 12.50%
01- 4215- 40- 2429 Radio Repair 0 293 2,944 0 2,500 0 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 1,877 723 2,033 6,306 4,000 2,387 4,000 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscription 315 315 100 315 100 0 315 215 215.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2615 Uniforms 681 1,696 1,165 1,732 1,400 0 1,400 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 80 1,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 1,008 800 955 780 1,000 416 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2625 Postage 81 5 108 0 100 0 100 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2635 Gasoline 869 813 946 895 935 208 935 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2636 Diesel Fuel 5,045 7,290 5,304 5,696 7,150 1,290 7,150 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2680 ALS Supplies 5,966 5,343 5,913 3,674 6,000 1,510 4,500 -1,500 -25.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2685 Oxygen 1,323 1,252 1,569 1,103 1,700 170 1,400 -300 -17.65%
01- 4215- 60- 2686 BLS Supplies 5,109 4,809 4,463 3,654 5,100 614 5,100 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 60- 2690 Misc. Supplies 1,282 899 379 383 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4215- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 1,991 0 623 0 1,000 0 1 -999 -99.90%
01- 4215- 80- 2820 Mileage 0 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0.00%

TOTAL RESCUE 614,701 599,354 608,322 617,057 637,007 212,694 639,363 2,356 0.37%

Acct Number Fire 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4220- 10- 1110 Full Time Fire Chief Wages 85,333 84,436 89,662 95,972 98,301 34,027 98,301 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 10- 1111 Full Time Deputy/Inspector Wages 52,884 73,174 76,502 78,683 82,805 28,663 84,469 1,664 2.01%
01- 4220- 10- 1112 Full Time Captain Wages 71,288 12,240 72,488 74,861 78,458 27,166 80,038 1,580 2.01%
01- 4220- 10- 1114 Part Time Mechanic 8,925 7,588 5,663 9,375 10,978 5,775 11,000 22 0.20%
01- 4220- 10- 1115 Call Pay 97,370 81,942 98,649 75,111 107,100 8,260 100,000 -7,100 -6.63%
01- 4220- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 53,167 36,458 27,777 28,582 53,328 10,274 29,681 -23,647 -44.34%
01- 4220- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 3,714 2,251 3,065 3,117 4,459 1,112 3,211 -1,248 -27.99%
01- 4220- 10- 1220 Social Security 6,320 5,447 6,508 5,040 7,321 806 6,881 -440 -6.01%
01- 4220- 10- 1225 Medicare 4,739 3,908 5,324 5,198 5,562 1,611 5,432 -130 -2.34%
01- 4220- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 67 207 315 186 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 10- 1235 Group II Retirement-Fire 62,490 55,157 77,125 75,472 78,102 26,779 86,948 8,846 11.33%
01- 4220- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 7,541 5,189 4,537 7,607 4,817 1,752 4,817 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 10- 1269 Vacation Buyout 1,833 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 10- 1290 Longevity 500 500 500 750 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 4,790 8,218 3,931 1,179 10,000 236 7,000 -3,000 -30.00%
01- 4220- 20- 1296 Supplemental Fire Insurance 3,107 3,243 3,243 2,013 3,000 3,524 3,600 600 20.00%
01- 4220- 30- 2341 Telephone 7,118 7,264 14,725 9,156 4,700 2,153 7,700 3,000 63.83%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 21 of 219



01- 4220- 30- 2343 Internet 0 0 0 0 3,050 987 3,081 31 1.02%
01- 4220- 30- 2350 Physicals, Alcohol and Drug Testings 4,872 2,202 2,060 827 2,500 0 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 30- 2351 Vaccinations 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 30- 2374 Custodian 3,490 3,156 3,156 3,156 3,156 789 3,156 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 40- 2410 Electricty 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,650 13,650 New Line
01- 4220- 40- 2411 Heat 8,814 9,424 8,362 7,641 10,395 514 8,500 -1,895 -18.23%
01- 4220- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,700 4,700 New Line
01- 4220- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs 13,168 8,478 24,421 20,991 13,000 2,847 18,000 5,000 38.46%
01- 4220- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 6,915 3,851 5,770 3,869 4,000 484 4,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 5,266 4,905 5,469 6,062 5,500 4,508 6,100 600 10.91%
01- 4220- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 1,209 2,393 1,363 2,276 2,000 309 2,500 500 25.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2615 Uniforms 2,259 1,302 1,821 887 2,000 0 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2616 Protective Clothing 21,750 21,881 30,531 17,837 21,940 2,235 21,940 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 475 350 543 769 2,000 0 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 2,063 3,435 3,793 6,100 3,466 4,867 3,466 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2624 Education and Prevention 0 0 1,499 1,368 1,500 0 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2625 Postage 218 296 289 184 300 127 300 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2635 Gasoline 1,736 2,924 3,687 2,860 3,952 738 3,700 -252 -6.38%
01- 4220- 60- 2636 Diesel Fuel 3,580 3,793 3,104 2,908 4,399 664 4,399 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2651 Breathing Apparatus 25,198 26,343 17,241 23,858 26,500 0 25,000 -1,500 -5.66%
01- 4220- 60- 2652 Radios And Pagers 5,761 7,672 8,361 2,963 8,000 0 8,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2653 Tools & Equipment 12,251 14,431 10,148 14,503 15,000 4,212 15,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 60- 2654 Tires 2,522 2,059 0 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 0.00%
01- 4220- 80- 2762 Equipment Lease Payment 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,273 1,273 New Line
01- 4220- 80- 2820 Mileage -432 0 0 0 500 0 300 -200 -40.00%

TOTAL FIRE 592,300 506,116 621,630 591,361 685,840 175,418 687,894 2,054 0.30%

Acct Number Emergency Management 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4290- 50- 2560 CodeRed Software 7,055 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 0 0.00%
01- 4290- 70- 2740 New Equipment 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 7,055 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,501 8,500 8,501 0 0.00%

Acct Number Public Safety Communications 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4299- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 219,677 227,051 241,162 219,818 255,897 82,253 248,893 -7,004 -2.74%
01- 4299- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 14,774 23,359 17,969 23,355 19,063 7,690 20,552 1,489 7.81%
01- 4299- 10- 1140 Overtime 15,028 15,329 16,155 19,612 17,000 5,347 21,128 4,128 24.28%
01- 4299- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 92,420 94,566 98,673 102,714 116,190 46,384 140,635 24,445 21.04%
01- 4299- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 5,138 5,319 5,907 4,824 6,137 1,893 2,611 -3,526 -57.45%
01- 4299- 10- 1220 Social Security 15,759 17,669 18,357 16,590 18,389 5,663 18,047 -342 -1.86%
01- 4299- 10- 1225 Medicare 3,685 4,122 4,293 3,880 4,301 1,324 4,221 -80 -1.86%
01- 4299- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 10,695 10,831 11,557 8,723 14,074 2,770 8,693 -5,381 -38.23%
01- 4299- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 1,728 3,259 2,409 4,333 3,332 487 3,332 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 10- 1290 Longevity 0 500 1,253 1,281 1,300 0 500 -800 -61.54%
01- 4299- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 1,720 0 425 0 1,500 0 0 -1,500 -100.00%
01- 4299- 30- 2341 Telephone 4,638 6,503 7,738 8,806 5,500 1,893 6,000 500 9.09%
01- 4299- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 2,500 486 3,000 500 20.00%
01- 4299- 30- 2350 Physicals, Alcohol And Drug Testings 125 525 0 325 750 0 750 0 0.00%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 22 of 219



01- 4299- 30- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 0 0 0 0 1,250 955 1,250 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs - Public Safety 1,210 757 875 900 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 40- 2440 Equipment Rental 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,295 1,295 New Line
01- 4299- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscription 331 331 331 339 350 345 350 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 50- 2565 Software Licenses 0 0 0 0 7,500 5,719 7,500 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 60- 2615 Uniforms 1,264 1,752 529 831 1,700 590 1,700 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 313 111 328 17 500 42 500 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 11,490 8,498 8,572 9,802 2,500 668 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 60- 2625 Postage 0 0 0 0 50 0 50 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 60- 2690 Misc. Supplies 132 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 750 0 2,103 485 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 80- 2612 Equipment Purchase 0 0 0 0 1,000 190 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4299- 80- 2820 Mileage 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS 400,876 420,531 438,636 426,635 480,784 164,700 494,508 13,724 2.85%

Acct Number Public Works Administration 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4311- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 272,220 267,275 149,520 199,609 245,556 79,438 235,498 -10,058 -4.10%
01- 4311- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 12,944 15,905 20,472 20,706 19,933 7,581 27,230 7,297 36.61%
01- 4311- 10- 1116 Wages-Other-Stormwater DPW 7,380 12,651 19,328 8,684 14,790 0 14,419 -371 -2.51%
01- 4311- 10- 1140 Overtime 13,396 13,513 1,429 793 1,020 125 1,045 25 2.45%
01- 4311- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 44,314 43,032 20,919 31,110 53,813 11,149 32,209 -21,604 -40.15%
01- 4311- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 3,326 3,185 2,330 3,712 1,235 1,397 3,499 2,264 183.32%
01- 4311- 10- 1220 Social Security 20,352 20,638 12,867 16,274 17,441 6,261 17,295 -146 -0.84%
01- 4311- 10- 1225 Medicare 4,760 4,822 3,009 3,806 4,079 1,464 4,045 -34 -0.83%
01- 4311- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 13,648 11,879 7,770 11,009 13,506 4,369 12,952 -554 -4.10%
01- 4311- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 5,577 6,703 2,400 5,048 4,320 3,514 4,320 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 10- 1290 Longevity 2,500 2,547 500 750 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 714 2,365 2,653 1,190 3,000 720 3,000 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 30- 2310 Engineering 45,396 45,205 7,200 7,828 5,000 0 7,500 2,500 50.00%
01- 4311- 30- 2341 Telephone 8,307 8,394 11,653 12,571 4,000 1,236 5,500 1,500 37.50%
01- 4311- 30- 2343 Internet 0 0 0 0 3,800 761 3,500 -300 -7.89%
01- 4311- 30- 2374 Custodian 2,661 2,210 2,210 2,553 2,400 510 2,600 200 8.33%
01- 4311- 30- 2396 Storm Water II Projects 2,714 3,208 2,138 2,195 2,500 0 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 40- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,500 12,500 New Line
01- 4311- 40- 2411 Heat 2,426 3,805 7,995 3,802 7,500 139 7,500 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,068 1,068 New Line
01- 4311- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 7,561 8,170 11,066 14,803 7,500 2,242 9,000 1,500 20.00%
01- 4311- 50- 2551 Advertising 447 2,274 1,137 1,095 2,000 0 1,500 -500 -25.00%
01- 4311- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 605 776 2,050 1,864 2,100 3,509 3,000 900 42.86%
01- 4311- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 3,798 2,796 3,434 4,630 3,000 1,561 3,000 0 0.00%
01- 4311- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 0 5,666 1,500 5,000 2,000 500 33.33%
01- 4311- 60- 2625 Postage 304 189 1,783 382 200 17 300 100 50.00%
01- 4311- 70- 2750 Furniture Fixtures Office Eq. 432 692 125 789 1,000 1,038 1,500 500 50.00%
01- 4311- 80- 2820 Mileage 16 0 409 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN 475,798 482,234 294,395 360,870 421,944 132,032 419,231 -2,713 -0.64%

Acct Number Department of Public Works 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 23 of 219



01- 4312- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 427,583 415,700 483,850 460,147 562,140 181,753 545,854 -16,286 -2.90%
01- 4312- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 50,969 46,613 51,925 38,852 52,826 10,375 56,172 3,346 6.33%
01- 4312- 10- 1140 Overtime 69,332 76,518 78,937 73,509 91,135 4,156 91,987 852 0.93%
01- 4312- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 138,686 160,804 184,490 176,235 176,422 69,531 202,231 25,809 14.63%
01- 4312- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 8,422 9,363 11,356 9,532 10,405 3,595 7,762 -2,643 -25.40%
01- 4312- 10- 1220 Social Security 34,044 34,547 39,528 35,728 44,266 12,273 43,434 -832 -1.88%
01- 4312- 10- 1225 Medicare 7,964 8,061 9,245 8,356 10,354 2,870 10,157 -197 -1.90%
01- 4312- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 18,063 18,828 21,912 22,314 30,918 8,283 25,384 -5,534 -17.90%
01- 4312- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 1,865 1,056 3,101 1,769 2,860 873 2,860 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 10- 1290 Longevity 4,000 4,208 5,085 4,250 5,000 0 6,500 1,500 30.00%
01- 4312- 30- 2350 Physicals, Alcohol and Drug Testings 664 1,180 1,362 2,809 1,400 278 2,800 1,400 100.00%
01- 4312- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs & Maintenance 40,533 93,350 60,779 81,219 81,000 25,392 85,000 4,000 4.94%
01- 4312- 40- 2429 Radio Repairs 1,728 538 571 372 1,200 888 1,200 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 38,778 63,998 49,210 50,376 55,000 31,457 57,000 2,000 3.64%
01- 4312- 40- 2431 Facility Maintenance/Repairs 1,745 1,573 2,578 928 2,800 1,016 2,000 -800 -28.57%
01- 4312- 40- 2435 Fuel Tank Apron 92 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 40- 2443 Pennichuck Water Main Assessment 197,488 212,831 228,887 236,588 284,938 59,113 300,000 15,062 5.29%
01- 4312- 40- 2450 Line Stripe Roads 19,186 14,708 5,257 17,960 18,000 0 29,000 11,000 61.11%
01- 4312- 40- 2451 Outside Hire 69,706 86,629 106,192 99,924 76,000 10,468 90,000 14,000 18.42%
01- 4312- 40- 2452 Equipment Lease/Rental Payments 1,195 10,544 7,710 6,195 6,000 339 7,000 1,000 16.67%
01- 4312- 40- 2453 Fuel Tank Testing 425 2,014 0 1,015 350 0 1,100 750 214.29%
01- 4312- 40- 2461 Street Sweeping 11,450 10,750 12,760 6,142 12,000 0 7,000 -5,000 -41.67%
01- 4312- 40- 2462 Drainage 12,061 11,611 93,421 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 40- 2463 Catch Basin 22,386 39,523 25,048 27,616 25,000 25 12,500 -12,500 -50.00%
01- 4312- 40- 2470 Tree Care 16,550 12,815 7,321 6,700 15,000 6,000 15,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 33,679 30,778 34,166 32,688 31,000 9,576 33,000 2,000 6.45%
01- 4312- 60- 2615 Uniforms 15,846 16,822 18,501 18,433 18,500 5,261 19,500 1,000 5.41%
01- 4312- 60- 2620 Safety Equipment/Protective Clothing 7,823 9,562 8,855 7,930 9,000 2,593 9,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2626 Oil & Grease 3,969 8,415 5,675 6,918 5,500 2,282 6,000 500 9.09%
01- 4312- 60- 2635 Gasoline 11,636 12,661 15,045 12,326 14,999 3,515 14,999 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2636 Diesel Fuel 39,968 54,704 37,580 37,642 55,418 5,829 50,000 -5,418 -9.78%
01- 4312- 60- 2653 Tools 2,884 5,214 4,925 11,049 5,000 2,699 7,500 2,500 50.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2654 Tires 9,643 13,853 3,234 4,986 6,000 1,051 6,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2662 Salt 146,172 138,887 106,536 91,586 110,000 19,829 120,000 10,000 9.09%
01- 4312- 60- 2663 Sand 18,106 24,521 53,424 11,219 25,000 0 10,000 -15,000 -60.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2665 Gravel 20,592 12,976 16,996 6,287 20,000 1,468 12,000 -8,000 -40.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2666 Calcium Chloride 28,880 10,614 20,630 15,878 27,000 1,815 27,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2668 Cold Patch 344 0 817 2,778 1,000 0 2,500 1,500 150.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2669 Crack Sealing 8,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2684 Guardrails -160 20,135 6,738 2,195 7,000 0 7,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 60- 2687 Signs 7,808 6,607 9,089 9,957 10,000 2,836 11,000 1,000 10.00%
01- 4312- 70- 2730 Road Maintenance (Hot Top) 279,718 9,573 51,981 407,089 100,000 29,576 100,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 70- 2735 Road rebuild 1,250 1,321,616 916,487 1,233,324 1,200,000 464,158 1,300,000 100,000 8.33%
01- 4312- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 13,237 13,510 12,675 153,483 10,000 147,170 10,000 0 0.00%
01- 4312- 70- 2762 Eq. Lease Payments 195,941 221,070 246,560 210,732 250,000 69,142 46,500 -203,500 -81.40%

TOTAL DEPT. OF PUBLIC WORKS 2,040,250 3,269,279 3,060,440 3,645,037 3,470,432 1,197,484 3,393,941 -76,491 -2.20%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 24 of 219



Acct Number Street Lighting 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4316- 40- 2415 General Street Lighting 20,500 20,120 21,268 22,453 23,607 5,437 23,607 0 0.00%
01- 4316- 40- 2415 Warning Lights 2,408 2,311 2,038 2,313 2,300 597 2,200 -100 -4.35%
01- 4316- 40- 2416 Traffic Signals 1,191 1,088 1,228 1,257 1,443 313 1,300 -143 -9.91%

TOTAL STREET LIGHTING 24,098 23,520 24,534 26,023 27,350 6,347 27,107 -243 -0.89%

Acct Number Souhegan Regional Landfill 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4232- 30- 2307 Souhegan Regional Landfill 325,715 324,551 331,131 438,589 391,579 90,344 411,000 19,421 4.96%

TOTAL SOUHEGAN REGIONAL LANDFILL 325,715 324,551 331,131 438,589 391,579 90,344 411,000 19,421 4.96%

Acct Number Landfill Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4324- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 49,004 51,624 50,799 43,072 44,554 15,258 45,011 457 1.03%
01- 4324- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 69,411 77,840 75,870 69,747 81,364 24,713 83,602 2,238 2.75%
01- 4324- 10- 1140 Overtime 3,849 1,106 2,010 8,256 3,010 1,364 3,668 658 21.86%
01- 4324- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 19,137 16,311 20,217 32,496 22,259 12,310 34,202 11,943 53.65%
01- 4324- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 975 866 1,098 1,753 876 630 1,749 873 99.66%
01- 4324- 10- 1220 Social Security 8,270 8,201 8,030 7,301 8,086 2,474 8,249 163 2.02%
01- 4324- 10- 1225 Medicare 1,934 1,916 1,878 1,707 1,891 579 1,929 38 2.01%
01- 4324- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 2,763 2,635 2,474 0 2,451 0 0 -2,451 -100.00%
01- 4324- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 312 690 508 1,553 727 425 727 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 10- 1290 Longevity 750 750 750 0 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 734 450 400 200 500 0 500 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 30- 2341 Telephone 1,185 2,678 1,215 2,812 1,250 334 1,250 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 30- 2343 Internet 0 0 0 0 2,400 1,724 2,400 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 40- 2410 Electricity - Landfill 6,008 6,650 6,418 7,151 7,381 1,494 7,866 485 6.57%
01- 4324- 40- 2412 Water 567 576 714 667 750 298 750 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 40- 2420 Waste Disposal 81,837 73,420 87,084 96,447 91,500 27,937 97,000 5,500 6.01%
01- 4324- 40- 2431 Facility Maintenance & Repairs 2,411 402 2,267 1,365 3,850 2,450 3,850 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 40- 2451 Outside Hire 12,377 872 9,753 2,156 11,000 633 11,000 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 40- 2452 Scale Maintenance 340 1,322 755 1,442 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 50- 2551 Advertising 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 50- 2560 Solid Waste Reg. Plan Dues 7,099 7,099 7,431 8,175 7,700 9,006 8,400 700 9.09%
01- 4324- 50- 2561 Credit Card Fees and Expenses 2,270 2,616 997 2,652 1,700 600 2,700 1,000 58.82%
01- 4324- 50- 2563 Weighmaster Licenses 0 0 465 300 600 0 600 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 60- 2664 Landfill Waste Oil 1,329 3,319 413 2,959 1,882 2,654 2,500 618 32.84%
01- 4324- 60- 2687 Signs - Landfill 176 462 0 21 850 958 950 100 11.76%
01- 4324- 60- 2688 Tire Removal 1,141 1,830 1,048 1,112 1,500 342 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4324- 60- 2690 Miscellaneous 2,497 1,444 634 897 0 688 0 0 0.00%

TOTAL LANDFILL DEPARTMENT 276,375 265,078 283,229 294,239 298,832 106,869 321,154 22,322 7.47%

Acct Number Septic 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4326- 30- 2341 Telephone 0 0 0 0 10,000 2,194 10,000 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 9,000 537 9,000 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 30- 2444 Monitoring Service 0 0 0 0 4,800 0 4,800 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 40- 2344 Septage Pumping 0 0 0 0 4,800 0 4,800 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 40- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 9,000 1,746 9,000 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 0 0 0 0 4,500 3,000 4,500 0 0.00%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 25 of 219



01- 4326- 80-*2612 Equipment Purchase 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 80-*2821 Babbosic Lake Misc. Administration 0 0 0 0 4,500 0 4,500 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 80-*1611 Depreciation - Septic Phase 1 0 0 0 0 1,403 0 1,403 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 80-*1612 Depreciation - Septic Phase 2 0 0 0 0 3,187 0 3,187 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 80-*1613 Depreciation - Septic Phase 3 0 0 0 0 4,347 0 4,347 0 0.00%
01- 4326- 80- 1614 Depreciation - Septic Phase 4 0 0 0 0 4,818 0 4,818 0 0.00%

TOTAL SEPTIC DEPARTMENT 0 0 0 0 60,356 7,477 60,356 0 0.00%

Acct Number Health Administration 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4411- 10- 1115 Health Officer Stipend 2,000 1,913 1,913 2,000 2,000 692 2,000 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 536 520 292 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 32 31 16 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 10- 1220 Social Security 118 113 114 113 127 39 124 -3 -2.36%
01- 4411- 10- 1225 Medicare 28 26 27 26 29 9 29 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 0 0 0 0 0 31 0 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 0 0 86 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4411- 80- 2820 Mileage 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL HEALTH ADMINISTRATION 2,714 2,604 2,447 2,140 2,159 772 2,156 -3 -0.14%

Acct Number Animal Control 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4414- 40- 2430 Equipment Repairs 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4414- 60- 2619 Dog Emergency Care 200 200 200 200 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4414- 80- 2811 Kennel Fees 200 200 200 200 0 0 0 0 0.00%

TOTAL ANIMAL CONTROL 400 400 400 400 401 0 401 0 0.00%

Acct Number Health & Human SRVC Agencies 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4415- 30- 2399 Health Agencies and Hospitals 45,000 45,000 45,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0.00%

TOTAL HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICE AGENCIES 45,000 45,000 45,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0.00%

Acct Number Direct Assistance (Welfare) 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4442- 10- 1110 Part Time Wages 2,145 413 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 10- 1220 Social Security 133 26 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 10- 1225 Medicare 31 6 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 40- 2441 Rent, WGA 1,500 0 10,940 8,450 12,070 330 12,070 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 60- 2627 Utilities, WGA 870 0 565 0 1,500 0 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 60- 2629 Medical - WGA 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 60- 2631 Food Supplies WGA 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 60- 2699 Other Charges WGA 99 750 43 2,414 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4442- 80- 2890 General Assistance 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%

TOTAL DIRECT ASSISTANCE 4,778 1,194 11,548 10,864 14,326 330 14,326 0 0.00%

Acct Number Recreation Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4520- 10- 1110 Full Time Rec Wages 118,667 121,763 123,442 130,970 135,866 46,997 138,570 2,704 1.99%
01- 4520- 10- 1112 Full Time Maintenance Wages 90,128 97,774 102,690 106,881 111,072 38,441 112,424 1,352 1.22%
01- 4520- 10- 1113 Part Time Seasonal Labor 7,585 2,285 4,998 5,680 5,000 6,710 5,000 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 10- 1140 Overtime Maintenance 482 532 166 90 700 0 700 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 40,824 44,591 49,168 51,113 56,264 15,540 57,552 1,288 2.29%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 26 of 219



01- 4520- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 3,646 3,730 3,836 4,722 4,418 1,277 3,599 -819 -18.54%
01- 4520- 10- 1220 Social Security 16,446 16,198 16,280 17,077 15,664 6,407 15,976 312 1.99%
01- 4520- 10- 1225 Medicare 3,846 3,779 3,811 3,994 3,663 1,498 3,737 74 2.02%
01- 4520- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 11,241 11,725 12,272 13,056 13,582 4,699 13,805 223 1.64%
01- 4520- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 2,677 2,361 1,856 2,954 2,500 987 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 10- 1290 Longevity 0 500 500 500 500 0 1,000 500 100.00%
01- 4520- 30- 2341 Telephone 4,818 5,387 8,811 6,776 7,356 2,429 7,356 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 2,640 661 2,640 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 30- 2374 Custodian 1,508 1,300 1,200 1,350 1,300 300 1,300 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 30- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,682 11,682 New Line
01- 4520- 40- 2411 Heat 2,641 2,233 2,681 4,278 3,000 75 5,000 2,000 66.67%
01- 4520- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 340 340 New Line
01- 4520- 40- 2425 Vehicle Repairs 2,561 4,491 3,923 4,000 4,000 1,560 4,000 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 40- 2431 Field Maintenance/Repairs 8,155 14,031 10,716 13,283 8,000 6,263 8,000 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 50- 2545 Trash Removal 1,365 630 1,008 1,006 1,400 98 1,400 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 50- 2551 Advertising 44 1,268 258 792 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 50- 2565 Software Licenses 0 0 0 0 690 0 888 198 28.70%
01- 4520- 50- 2615 Uniforms 0 0 0 0 1,400 338 1,400 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 979 1,265 1,541 520 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 60- 2612 Equipment Purchases 5,234 1,500 2,124 12,249 0 441 0 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 284 737 423 799 800 2,593 800 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 60- 2625 Postage 57 112 84 120 100 0 100 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 60- 2635 Gasoline 5,912 6,032 7,457 5,963 7,500 1,665 8,000 500 6.67%
01- 4520- 60- 2636 Diesel Fuel 1,443 3,325 1,499 987 2,500 386 2,800 300 12.00%
01- 4520- 70- 2762 Equipment Lease Payment 0 0 0 0 10,880 0 12,153 1,273 11.70%
01- 4520- 80- 2653 Tools & Equipment 0 0 0 0 1,000 366 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 80- 2820 Mileage 0 12 0 0 100 0 1 -99 -99.00%
01- 4520- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 1,692 1,574 1,385 2,662 1,500 1,342 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4520- 80- 2840 Vandalism 233 32 135 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

TOTAL RECREATION 332,468 349,168 362,262 391,821 404,545 141,073 426,373 21,828 5.40%

Acct Number Parks 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4522- 10- 1115 Part Time Summer Mowing 8,512 6,329 8,567 3,071 9,588 4,388 9,700 112 1.17%
01- 4522- 10- 1140 Overtime Parks 0 0 0 0 1 165 1 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 777 302 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 46 18 46 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 10- 1220 Social Security 526 390 536 193 595 282 601 6 1.01%
01- 4522- 10- 1225 Medicare 123 91 125 45 139 66 141 2 1.44%
01- 4522- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 101 4 96 40 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 674 1,325 199 284 500 39 500 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 40- 2451 Outside Hire 1,279 231 1,667 0 1,000 0 500 -500 -50.00%
01- 4522- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 1,009 678 254 219 300 776 350 50 16.67%
01- 4522- 60- 2613 Fertilizer & Lime 344 2,649 836 698 1,000 0 1,000 0 0.00%
01- 4522- 70- 2612 Equipment Purchases 133 170 250 140 650 0 650 0 0.00%

TOTAL PARKS 13,524 12,187 12,577 4,690 13,773 5,716 13,443 -330 -2.40%

Acct Number Peabody Mill Environmental CTR 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 27 of 219



01- 4525- 80- 2830 PMEC Subsidy 6,000 0 0 0 1 0 0 -1 -100.00%
TOTAL PEABODY MILL ENV CTR 6,000 0 0 0 1 0 0 -1 -100.00%

Acct Number Library 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4550- 10- 1110 Full Time Wages 407,852 408,977 374,830 427,648 440,827 152,585 444,517 3,690 0.84%
01- 4550- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 127,315 131,655 133,377 135,177 155,654 34,748 154,794 -860 -0.55%
01- 4550- 10- 1210 Health Insurance 105,314 116,105 103,548 116,058 123,237 42,697 126,380 3,143 2.55%
01- 4550- 10- 1211 Dental Insurance 7,039 7,237 5,874 6,376 6,448 2,454 4,487 -1,961 -30.41%
01- 4550- 10- 1220 Social Security 34,941 34,600 32,215 35,460 37,488 11,925 37,312 -176 -0.47%
01- 4550- 10- 1225 Medicare 8,171 8,073 7,534 8,293 8,767 2,789 8,726 -41 -0.47%
01- 4550- 10- 1230 Deferred Compensation 19,265 20,350 19,763 22,637 24,245 8,097 24,448 203 0.84%
01- 4550- 10- 1266 Sick Leave Incentive 4,808 5,400 4,930 5,876 5,658 3,271 5,658 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 10- 1290 Longevity 2,250 2,333 1,750 2,250 2,500 0 2,500 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 20- 1294 Educat & Training/Prof Dev. 1,053 1,082 1,324 1,161 300 49 300 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 30- 2339 Technical Consulting 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 30- 2341 Telephone 345 342 4,860 2,643 3,960 916 3,960 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 30- 2343 Internet Service 0 0 0 0 4,092 1,367 4,092 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 30- 2374 Custodian 12,718 11,710 11,500 13,796 15,000 2,850 15,000 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 30- 2395 Outside Hire IT 1,900 3,510 4,996 3,240 5,000 2,113 4,500 -500 -10.00%
01- 4550- 40- 2410 Electricity 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,220 8,220 New Line
01- 4550- 40- 2411 Heat 5,392 6,075 9,860 7,181 10,846 80 7,900 -2,946 -27.16%
01- 4550- 40- 2412 Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,950 1,950 New Line
01- 4550- 40- 2430 Equipment Repair/Maintenance 181 0 0 0 250 0 250 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscription 560 1,253 520 925 1,200 0 1,200 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 50- 2565 Software Licenses-Automated Lib. 34,555 35,654 37,658 39,554 40,500 36,018 45,000 4,500 11.11%
01- 4550- 50- 2581 Travel 971 1,467 1,494 728 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 60- 2620 Office Supplies 7,900 7,599 7,148 5,578 8,000 895 6,500 -1,500 -18.75%
01- 4550- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 6,257 3,791 8,534 13,140 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 60- 2625 Postage 522 1,415 562 71 1,500 220 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 60- 2670 Books 82,214 103,640 124,246 113,164 100,000 22,131 100,000 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 70- 2740 New Equipment Capital 0 637 11,014 5,788 1 0 1 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 80- 2612 Equipment Purchases 0 0 0 0 500 0 500 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 80- 2618 Special Events & Supplies 0 0 0 0 16,000 1,975 16,000 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 80- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 0 0 10,000 14,110 10,000 0 0.00%
01- 4550- 80- 2820 Mileage 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 500 -1,000 -66.67%
01- 4550- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 10,456 17,806 15,835 10,907 1,700 0 1,700 0 0.00%

TOTAL LIBRARY 881,978 930,710 923,375 977,650 1,025,175 341,293 1,037,897 12,722 1.24%

Acct Number Patriotic Purposes 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4583- 80- 2860 4th of July Subsidy 8,000 8,000 8,000 0 8,000 0 8,000 0 0.00%
01- 4583- 80- 2861 Memorial Day Subsidy 612 85 0 0 500 0 500 0 0.00%

TOTAL PATRIOTIC PURPOSES 8,612 8,085 8,000 0 8,500 0 8,500 0 0.00%

Acct Number Heritage Commission 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4589- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 680 438 353 318 1,264 138 1,297 33 2.61%
01- 4589- 10- 1220 Social Security 42 51 22 20 78 9 80 2 2.56%
01- 4589- 10- 1225 Medicare 10 12 5 5 18 2 19 1 5.56%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 28 of 219



01- 4589- 30- 2382 Outside Hire 0 0 0 0 50 0 50 0 0.00%
01- 4589- 50- 2550 Printing 0 0 0 0 400 0 400 0 0.00%
01- 4589- 60- 2610 Supplies - General 0 0 0 0 82 0 82 0 0.00%
01- 4589- 60- 2621 Computer Equipment 0 0 0 0 80 0 80 0 0.00%
01- 4589- 80- 2618 Special Events & Supplies 0 0 0 0 300 0 300 0 0.00%
01- 4589- 80- 2825 Meetings & Conferences 0 0 0 100 300 0 300 0 0.00%

TOTAL HERITAGE COMMISSION 732 500 380 443 2,572 148 2,608 36 1.40%

Acct Number Conservation Commission 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4611- 10- 1115 Part Time Wages 238 969 2,414 3,118 3,057 789 3,458 401 13.12%
01- 4611- 10- 1220 Social Security 15 35 150 193 190 49 214 24 12.63%
01- 4611- 10- 1225 Medicare 3 8 35 45 44 11 50 6 13.64%
010-4611- 20- 1294 Education & Training/Prof. Dev 0 200 862 1,676 750 0 750 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2482 Surveying 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2483 Land Management 9,274 3,449 3,085 0 0 3,851 0 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2484 Town Meadow Maintenance 3,492 4,999 1,073 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2486 Water Crossing Repair & Maint 0 716 3,213 5,238 3,000 0 3,000 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2487 Invasives Mitigation 0 4,000 0 8,920 3,000 3,499 3,800 800 26.67%
01- 4611- 40- 2488 Signage 0 1,130 2,670 0 1,500 3,425 1,500 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 40- 2489 Kiosk 0 0 982 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 50- 2560 Dues & Subscriptions 804 684 700 700 1,200 700 1,200 0 0.00%
01- 4611- 50- 2564 Education & Outreach 0 620 351 0 2,250 0 2,500 250 11.11%
01- 4611- 60- 2625 Postage 99 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

TOTAL CONSERVATION COMMISSION 13,924 16,811 15,910 19,891 14,991 12,325 16,472 1,481 9.88%

Acct Number Principal - L-T Bonds & Notes 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4711- 90- 2209 Bridge Loan 0 140,017 140,017 39,302 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 2210 Principal Rd Const Phase1 & 2 306,000 306,000 306,000 306,000 306,000 0 306,000 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 2211 Road Construction Bond Spring Rd 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 -50,000 -100.00%
01- 4711- 90- 2214 Principal - Road Construction FY 14 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 0 200,000 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 2215 Principal - Road Construction FY 15 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 100,000 200,000 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 2216 Principal - Road Construction FY 16/17 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 9502 Septic Loan - Phase 2 0 0 0 0 11,900 0 11,900 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 9503 Septic Loan - Phase 3 0 0 0 0 11,380 0 11,380 0 0.00%
01- 4711- 90- 9504 Septic Loan - Phase 4 0 0 0 0 8,647 0 8,647 0 0.00%

TOTAL PRINCIPAL BONDS 1,156,000 1,296,017 1,296,017 1,195,302 1,187,927 550,000 1,137,927 -50,000 -4.21%

Acct Number Interest L-T Bonds & Notes 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual(unaudited)       FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual FY22 Request Variance $ Variance %
01- 4721- 90- 2209 Bridge Loan Interest 0 3,894 4,656 1,011 0 0 0 0 0.00%
01- 4721- 90- 2210 Int. Rd Const Phase1 & 2 65,821 58,567 51,234 44,021 36,567 0 29,254 -7,313 -20.00%
01- 4721- 90- 2211 Road Construction Bond Spring Rd 7,574 6,034 4,522 2,974 1,511 1,503 0 -1,511 -100.00%
01- 4721- 90- 2214 Int. - Road Construction FY 14 31,389 27,111 22,463 17,979 13,479 0 9,000 -4,479 -33.23%
01- 4721- 90- 2215 Int. - Road Construction FY 15 37,090 32,305 26,522 21,905 17,220 9,206 12,660 -4,560 -26.48%
01- 4721- 90- 2216 Int. - Road Construction FY 16/17 30,291 82,703 73,650 64,425 45,946 55,264 45,946 0 0.00%
01- 4721- 90- 9502 Septic Loan - Phase 2 0 0 0 0 1,250 746 750 -500 -40.00%
01- 4721- 90- 9503 Septic Loan - Phase 3 0 0 0 0 2,167 2,165 1,802 -365 -16.84%
01- 4721- 90- 9504 Septic Loan - Phase 4 0 0 0 0 1,510 0 1,258 -252 0.00%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 29 of 219



TOTAL INTEREST BONDS 172,165 210,614 183,047 152,316 119,650 68,884 100,670 -18,980 -15.86%

GRAND TOTAL 11,967,637 13,393,617 13,305,564 13,954,349 14,616,376 5,142,376 14,666,451 50,075 0.34%

11/6/2020 FY22 Draft
#2Acct Number Department 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual

(unaudited)
FY20 Actual FY21 Budget FY21 Actual

FY22 v FY21
Variance $

FY22 v FY21
Variance %

Page 30 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: FY22 Warrant Articles Draft #1 Department: Finance Department
Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Cheryl Eastman

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
Draft #1 of the wording on the proposed Warrant Articles for review.
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
N/A - review only at this time.
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
N/A
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
N/A
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
N/A
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. 2022 WARRANT DRAFT #1

Page 31 of 219



Page 1 of 4

 
AMHERST TOWN WARRANT

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
MARCH 9, 2021

To the inhabitants of the Town of Amherst in the County of Hillsborough and the State of New 
Hampshire, qualified to vote in town affairs:

You are hereby notified that the Annual Meeting of Amherst will be held in accordance with NH RSA 
40:13. The first session, to transact all business other than voting, is on Wednesday, February 3, 
2021 at 7:00 PM at the Souhegan High School Auditorium. The second session, voting by official 
ballot at the polls, is on Tuesday, March 9, 2021 at the Souhegan High School from 6:00 AM to 8:00 
PM.

ARTICLE 21:  To choose all necessary Town Officers for the ensuing terms as follows:

2 Selectmen for 3 Years
1 Town Treasurer for 3 Years
1 Cemetery Trustee for 3 Years
2 Library Trustees for 3 Years
1 Trustee of the Trust Funds for 3 Years
2 Zoning Board of Adjustment Members for 3 Years
2 Planning Board Members for 1 Year
2 Planning Board Members for 2 Years
2 Planning Board Members for 3 Years

ARTICLE 22:  Open Space Acquisition Bond 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of six million dollars ($6,000,000) for the 
purchase of land and easements for conservation purposes, and to authorize the issuance of not 
more than $6,000,000 of bonds or notes in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance 
Act (RSA 33) and to authorize the Board of Selectmen to issue and negotiate such bonds or notes 
and to determine the rate of interest thereon, and the maturity and other terms thereof, however, no 
such bonds or notes shall be issued with a term of maturity of less than ten (10) years or more than 
twenty (20) years, and to take any other action they deem appropriate to effectuate the sale and/or 
issuance of said bonds or notes, provided, however, that notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, the Town shall not issue more than three million dollars ($3,000,000) of bonds or notes in 
any one calendar year; and additionally to raise and appropriate the sum of  _________dollars 
(XXXXX) for the first year interest and costs.  Land or property interests to be purchased with bond 
proceeds shall be acquired in the name of the Town by the Conservation Commission, subject to the 
approval of the Selectmen, pursuant to RSA 36-A:4.    (Tax impact)  (Selectmen vote) (Ways and 
Means vote)   3/5 Vote Required.

ARTICLE 23:  Operating Budget
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations by 
special warrant articles and other appropriations voted separately, the amounts set forth on the 

Page 32 of 219



Page 2 of 4

budget posted with the warrant or as amended by vote of the first session, for the purposes set forth 
herein, totaling $                    . Should this article be defeated the default budget shall be $                         
, which is the same as last year with certain adjustments required by previous action of the Town or 
by law; or the governing body may hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 40:13 X and 
XVI to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. This operating budget warrant article 
does not include appropriations contained in any other warrant article. (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 24:   Contingency Fund
Shall the Town vote to establish a contingency fund for the current year, in accordance with NH RSA 
Section 31:98-a, for unanticipated expenses that may arise and further to raise and appropriate the 
sum of one hundred-twenty thousand dollars ($120,000) to go into the fund. Said sum shall come 
from the undesignated fund balance and no amount to be raised from taxation. Any appropriation left 
in the fund at the end of the year will lapse to the general fund. (Majority vote required) 

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 25:  Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) to be 
added to the Communications Center Capital Reserve Fund, previously established.  (Majority vote 
required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 26: Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) to be 
added to the Assessing Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund, previously established.  (Majority vote 
required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of   -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 27:   Service-Connected Total Disability Tax Credit
Shall the Town vote to increase the optional tax credit for Service-Connected Total Disability on 
residential property occupied by a service-connected totally disabled person or their surviving spouse 
from $3,200 to $4,000 as permitted by RSA 72:35 I-a.  (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of   -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 28:  Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred thousand ($200,000) to be 
added to the Bridge Repair and Replacement Capital Reserve Fund, previously established.  
(Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

Page 33 of 219



Page 3 of 4

(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 29:  Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair Capital Reserve Fund
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of two hundred fifty-seven thousand dollars 
($257,000) to be added to the Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair Capital 
Reserve Fund, previously established. (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 30:  Establish DPW Vehicles & Equipment Replacement CRF
Shall the Town vote to establish a DPW Vehicles & Equipment Replacement Capital Reserve Fund 
under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of replacement of DPW vehicles and equipment 
and to raise and appropriate the sum of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) to be placed 
in this fund.  Further, to name the Board of Selectmen as agents to expend from said fund. (Majority 
vote required)  

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 31:  Police Station Renovation Completion  
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of One Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($175,000) for the purpose of completing the 3rd floor of the Police Station renovation. 

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of     -1-0.)

ARTICLE 32:  Establish and fund CRF for Amherst Multimodal Facilities
Shall the Town vote to establish an Amherst Multimodal Facilities Capital Reserve Fund under the 
provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of design and construction of projects and provide matching 
funds for grants for such projects, and to raise and appropriate the sum of Seventy-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($75,000) to be placed in this fund.  Further, to name the Board of Selectmen as agents to 
expend from said fund.   (Majority vote required)

 (The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

ARTICLE 33:  Recreation Facilities Acquisition, Construction, and Maintenance CRF
Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) to be added 
to the Recreation Facilities Capital Reserve Fund, previously established.  (Majority vote required)

(The Board of Selectmen supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)
(The Ways and Means Committee supports this article by a vote of    -0-0.)

Given under our hands and seal this    th day of January 2021 

Page 34 of 219



Page 4 of 4

________________________
_
Peter Lyon, Chairman

__________________________
_
Reed Panasiti, Clerk

______________________
___
John D’Angelo, Selectman

________________________
___
Dwight Brew, Vice Chairman

__________________________
___
Thomas Grella, Selectman

Page 35 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Withdrawal from Communications 
Capital Reserve Fund.

Department: Finance Department

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Cheryl Eastman

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
As voted by the Board on July  27,2020, requesting withdrawal of funds from the 
Communications CRF to reimburse the Town for expenses paid to 2-Way 
Communications for work performed on the microwave radio towers, as recommended 
by Chief Reams.
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
None.
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
N/A
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
Recommend the withdrawal of the CRF funds.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
Move to request that the Trustees of the Trust Funds authorize Cambridge Trust Bank 
to withdraw $28,936.97 from the Town of Amherst Communications Center Capital 
Reserve Fund as voted by the Board of Selectmen on July 27, 2020.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Communications 11-9-2020

Page 36 of 219



Page 37 of 219



Page 38 of 219



Page 39 of 219



Page 40 of 219



Page 41 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Presentation of Capital Improvement 
Plan

Department: Administration

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. CIP Plan 2022-2027 10.16.20
2. CIP Tax Impact Forecast 2022-2027 10.16.20

Page 42 of 219



 
 

 
 
 
 

Capital Improvement Plan  
FY 2022-2027 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst 
New Hampshire 

 
 
 

Page 43 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 2  
 

 

Page intentionally left blank

Page 44 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 3  
 

Table of Contents 
 
Executive Summary ............................................................................................................ 4 

Chapter 1: Introduction and Background ............................................................................ 5 

Section 1: Introduction………………………………………………………………….5 

Section 2: Purpose………………………………………………………………………6 

Section 3: Data and Trends……………………………………………………………...8 

Section 4: Financing Methods…………………………………………………………11 

Chapter 2:  FY2022-2027 Project Requests...................................................................... 17 

Section 1: Town Project Requests ................................................................................ 18 

Section 2: School Districts Project Requests ............................................................... 25 

Section 3: Major Town Projects on the Horizon .......................................................... 32 

Chapter 3: Additional CIP Committee Recommendations ............................................... 33 

Chapter 4: Estimated Tax Impact Table and Plan Recommendations .............................. 34 

All Project Request Forms and supporting documentation are available on the Capital 
Improvements Committee webpage on the Town website at www.amherstnh.gov. 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 

  

Page 45 of 219

http://amherstnh.gov/capital-improvements-plan-committee-cip/
http://amherstnh.gov/capital-improvements-plan-committee-cip/


 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 4  
 

Executive Summary 
 

The Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is a program authorized by State law to link local 
infrastructure investments with long-term planning including: master plan goals, land use 
ordinances, and economic development.  The plan should be an annually evolving document, 
updated to reflect new information, project requests, and any changing conditions in the 
community.  The CIP complements and supports the town-wide Strategic Plan process 
implemented by the Board of Selectmen. 
 
The plan proposed by the CIP Committee avoids spikes in the tax rate for capital expenditures 
and is intended to ensure that adequate investments are made in capital improvements necessary 
to provide basic services to preserve the public health, safety and welfare.  The CIP Committee 
supports investment in the fleet of Fire and DPW vehicles, and capital road improvements.  The 
committee endorses annual contributions to Capital Reserve Funds (CRF) to maintain a stable 
tax rate and provide sufficient funding for investment in significant capital expenses. 
 

 

Page 46 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 5  
 

Chapter 1: Introduction and Background 

Section 1: Introduction 
The Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is a program authorized by State law to link local 
infrastructure investments with master plan goals, land use ordinances, and economic 
development.  By bridging that gap the fiscal realities of improving and expanding community 
facilities are realized. 
 
As authorized by RSA 674:5-8 the CIP is the responsibility of the Planning Board or a formally 
appointed CIP Committee, to prepare and amend a recommended program of municipal capital 
improvements projected over a period of at least six years.  The CIP is designed to be updated 
and adopted annually, to provide timely tool to the Board of Selectmen and School Boards in 
long-range planning of municipal expenditures.  Without annual updates the CIP quickly 
becomes obsolete.  
 
It is important to note that the Amherst Board of Selectmen has initiated a Town Strategic 
Planning process that complements the CIP, laying out a long-term plan for the Town of 
Amherst which is reflected in its annual budgeting process.  

Page 47 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 6  
 

Section 2: Purpose 
The CIP attempts to link, within a standardized framework, the provision of needed facilities, 
products, or services with the spending necessary to attain such items.  The CIP must address the 
goals and intent of the Master Plan with fiscal realities.  A well-supported and thoughtfully 
prepared CIP should provide the following benefits to the community (as noted in The Planning 
Board in New Hampshire, A Handbook for Local Officials, New Hampshire Office of Strategic 
Initiatives): 
 
- Preserving public health, safety, and welfare.  Providing the basic services which ensure 

citizen health and safety is a fundamental responsibility of local government.  Programs of 
regular facility maintenance, upgrades and expansion of government services to meet 
minimum federal, state, and local standards are essential to any community.  The cumulative 
effect of deferring major maintenance expenditures and basic improvement of essential 
services is often an expensive series of stopgap measures which fail to address 
comprehensive long-term goals. 

 
- Anticipating the demands of growth.  When related to the master plan, the capital 

improvements programming process works to anticipate investments in community facilities 
which are needed to serve or shape the pattern of growth and development in the Town.  The 
portions of selected capital improvement expenditures which are necessitated by growth may 
be eligible for funding by impact fees as authorized in RSA 674:21. 

 
- Improving communication and coordination.  Communication among the Planning Board, 

municipal departments, administrative officials, the Ways & Means Committees, the Board 
of Selectmen, the School Boards, and citizens can result in cost savings and avoidance of 
duplication of facilities and expenditures. 

 
- Avoiding undue tax increases.  Capital improvements programming is a means of avoiding 

the surprise of expensive projects generating large property tax increases.  While cost 
impacts cannot always be precisely determined in advance, the CIP fosters discussion of the 
distribution of the tax burden of new capital expenditures over time.  A consequential benefit 
of fiscal stability and sound community facility planning may be an improved bond rating. 

 
- Developing a fair distribution of capital costs.  The capital improvements programming 

process allows for a public discussion of the preferred means of distributing capital costs not 
only over time, but also among users of the facilities to be financed. 

 
- Building a foundation for growth management and impact fees.  The development and 

formal adoption of a capital improvements program is a statutory prerequisite to the 
enactment of growth management and impact fee ordinances.  A properly constructed CIP is 
an integral part of a land use regulatory process which implements either type of ordinance. 

 
- Identifying “scattered and premature” development.  New Hampshire statutes allow 

planning boards to adopt subdivision regulations which provide against scattered or 
premature subdivision of land.  The capital improvements program is one measure which a 
planning board may use to judge whether a development is scattered or premature based on 

Page 48 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 7  
 

an absence of essential public services and infrastructure. 
 
- Supporting economic development.  Communities exhibiting sound fiscal health, and quality 

services and facilities are attractive to business and industry.  New business investment and 
reinvestment may be influenced by improvements which enhance the quality of life for 
residents and labor.  Private decision-making for investment is based not only on availability 
of utilities, but also on the quality of community schools, public safety facilities, recreation 
opportunities, and cultural amenities such as libraries. 

 
The Ten Key Master Plan Recommendations That Can Shape Amherst's Future1, from the 
Master Plan are listed below.  These are the overarching recommendations that all Capital 
Improvements Program projects should fit within to advance the community's stated Master Plan 
goals.  

1. Ensure that new development and redevelopment respect Amherst's natural resources and 
complement the Town's existing character. 

2. Preserve and protect historic and cultural resources throughout Amherst. 
3. Continue to preserve Amherst's natural resources and rural landscapes including aquifers, 

prime agricultural soils, forests, scenic vistas, wildlife habitats, and water and air quality 
for the sustainable health, safety and welfare of current and future generations. 

4. Protect Amherst's extensive water resources for the benefit of residents and the 
environment, including surface water features, groundwater, and aquifer areas. 

5. Save open space in residential development. 
6. Encourage redevelopment that enhances the appearance of existing commercial and 

industrial areas. 
7. Improve the ease and convenience with which residents can walk and use bikes for 

recreation, shopping, commuting and going to school.  
8. Provide educational facilities that support quality education for the town's students. 
9. Recognize the importance of recreation for health by providing needed facilities. 
10.  Continue to develop greenways and trails in order to provide a town-wide and inter-town 

system of recreational trails. 
 
For additional information on any one of the above listed goals the Master Plan is available on 
the Town's website (http://amherstnh.gov/master-plan/).  

 
1 Town of Amherst Master Plan 2010-2020, Ten Key Master Plan Recommendations That Can Shape Amherst's 
Future, Executive Summary, p. vii 

Page 49 of 219

http://amherstnh.gov/master-plan/


 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 8  
 

Section 3: Data and Trends 
The following tables provide a snapshot of Amherst's Population and Tax Rates.  The most 
recent Census figures continue to show a declining rate of growth since the communities boom 
years in the 1960's and 1970's.  The growth rate is projected to bounce around somewhat until 
2040.  
 
Table 1 

Amherst Population 1940-2040 

Year Population % Change Numerical 
Change 

Avg. Annual 
Change 

1940 1,174 - - - 
1950 1,461 24.45% 287 2.44% 
1960 2,051 40.38% 590 4.04% 
1970 4,605 124.52% 2,554 12.45% 
1980 8,243 79.00% 3,638 7.90% 
1990 9,068 10.01% 825 1.00% 
2000 10,769 18.76% 1,701 1.88% 
2010 11,201 4.01% 432 0.40% 
2020* 11,454 2.26% 253 0.23% 
2030* 11,565 0.97% 111 0.10% 
2040* 11,523 -0.36% -42 -0.04% 

Source: US Census and NRPC Population Projections* 
 
Over a shorter and more detailed time frame Table 2 reflects the changes in the Town's operating 
budget from fiscal year 2010 thru 2020.  The table reflects the gross budget, dollar change and 
percentage change figures from each preceding year.  
 

Table 2 
Town Operating Budget FY'10-FY'20 

Year Operating Budget Dollar Change Percent Change 
FY-10 $9,729,570.00 

 
  

FY-11 $9,760,644.00 $31,074.00 0.32% 
FY-12 $10,474,053.00 $713,409.00 7.31% 
FY-13 $10,853,361.00 $379,308.00 3.62% 
FY-14 $11,269,800.00 $416,439.00 3.84% 
FY-15 $11,774,356.00 $504,556.00 4.48% 
FY-16 $12,427,814.00 $653,458.00 5.55% 
FY-17 $12,896,109.00 $468,295.00 3.77% 
FY-18 $13,442,383.00 $546,274.00 4.24% 
FY-19 $14,058,381.00 $615,998.00 4.58% 
FY-20 $14,012,849.00 -$45,532.00 -0.32% 

Source: Amherst Town Reports 

Page 50 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 9  
 

Table 3 and 4 reflects the changes in the Amherst and Souhegan School District's operating 
budgets from fiscal year 2010 thru 2019.  The tables reflect the gross budget, dollar change and 
percentage change figures from each preceding year.  
 
Table 3 

Amherst School Operating Budget FY'10-FY'19 
Year Operating Budget Dollar Change Percent 

Change 
FY-10 $23,215,002.00 

  

FY-11 $23,371,144.00 $156,142.00 0.67% 
FY-12 $23,964,120.00 $592,976.00 2.54% 
FY-13 $24,339,744.00 $375,624.00 1.57% 
FY-14 $24,358,572.00 $18,828.00 0.08% 
FY-15 $24,709,808.00 $351,236.00 1.44% 
FY-16 $24,734,732.00 $24,924.00 0.10% 
FY-17 $23,967,926.00 -$766,806.00 -3.10% 
FY-18 $25,427,899.00 $1,459,973.00 6.09% 
FY-19 $28,779,100.00 $3,351,201.00 13.18% 

Source: NH DRA Form MS-26 (Report of Appropriations 
actually voted) 

 
Table 4 

Souhegan School Operating Budget FY'10-FY'19 
Year Operating Budget Dollar Change Percent 

Change 
FY-10 $17,770,722.00 

  

FY-11 $18,286,827.00 $516,105.00 2.90% 
FY-12 $18,538,036.00 $251,209.00 1.37% 
FY-13 $18,443,827.00 -$94,209.00 -0.51% 
FY-14 $19,867,693.00 $1,423,866.00 7.72% 
FY-15 $18,123,502.00 -$1,744,191.00 -8.78% 
FY-16 $18,307,258.00 $183,756.00 1.01% 
FY-17 $17,127,521.00 -$1,179,737.00 -6.44% 
FY-18 $18,109,186.00 $981,665.00 5.73% 
FY-19 $18,098,289.00 -$10,897.00 -0.06% 

Source: NH DRA Form MS-26 (Report of Appropriations 
actually voted) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 10  
 

Table 5 reflects the Tax Rate set for Fiscal Years 2010 thru 2020 for the Municipal, School 
(Local and State) and County Tax Rates, revaluations occurred in 2011 and 2016.  
 
Table 5 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 52 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 11  
 

Section 4: Financing Methods 
There are a number of different financing methods available to municipalities, which were 
contemplated by the CIP Committee in their evaluation of project requests.  The following is an 
outline of the various funding methods. 
 
The CIP Committee's financing strategy follows three strategic points when evaluating project 
requests: 

1. A capital financing strategy should limit the cost of providing capital infrastructure and 
equipment while meeting the community's needs by using a variety of financing methods. 

2. A capital financing strategy should ensure financial strength and flexibility in the future. 
3. A capital financing strategy should strengthen the Town's standing with the bond rating 

agencies, bond buyers, regulators, and the local community. 
 

One-Year Appropriation: 
The One-Year Appropriation is the most commonly used financing option and refers to those 
projects that are to be funded by property tax revenues within a single fiscal year.  Funds for 
projects that are financed using this method, are most often included in the Town's operating 
budget, but can appear as individual warrant articles to be voted on individually.  
 
The CIP Committee generally utilizes this funding mechanism for projects with a life expectancy 
of at least three years and an initial cost of up to $200,000. 
 
Capital Reserve Funds: 
Capital Reserve Funds fall into the category of pay-as-you-go financing.  A Capital Reserve 
Fund (CRF) is a non-lapsing savings account, separate from the General Fund, into which the 
voters can deposit funds with approval of a warrant article, with the intent of withdrawing the 
funds to be used for the specific purpose or purchase for which the account was established. 
CRFs can be earmarked for the purchase of a single item such as an Assessing Revaluation Fund 
or can be more general, such as the Highway Equipment Fund.  
 
The advantages of pay-as-you-go financing include: 

1. Allowing local governments to avoid both interest and other debt-issuance expenses; 
2. Expediting inexpensive or recurring capital projects; 
3. Preserving flexibility in the annual operating budget; 
4. Avoiding the need to become involved with bond and debt markets; and, 
5. Allowing the town to improve its financial position. 
 

The CIP Committee generally utilizes this funding mechanism for projects with a life expectancy of 
at least five years and with an initial cost of between approximately $25,000 and $300,000. 
 
Lease Purchase: 
Lease purchasing an item allows a community to spread the cost of that item over a period of 
years, generally no more than seven.  A municipal lease typically allows for Town ownership at 
the end of the lease term and usually enjoys lower tax-exempt interest rates.  Unlike a bond or 
loan, a municipal lease has a “non-appropriation clause" which allows the town to cancel the 
lease if the annual payment is not appropriated.  The Town then loses the equipment that was 

Page 53 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 12  
 

financed.  This is a rare event, however, and municipal lease financing is a viable method for 
stretching the payment period over the useful life of the item financed.  
 
The CIP Committee generally utilizes this funding mechanism for projects with a life expectancy 
of between three and ten years and with an initial cost of between $50,000 and $175,000. 
 
Bonding: 
Bonding allows the town to negotiate the purchase of goods or services (in the case of the 
construction of a building) at a set price, and then pay for that item or service over a period of 
time.  Bonds, unlike CRFs, allow the town to utilize the item being purchased or the building 
being constructed while payments are being made. 
 
The most important part of a bond transaction is the promise of the town to repay the debt with 
interest.  In its most basic description, bonding allows for the payment of an item over its useful 
life and by the individuals who use it over time.  This principle of having the present and future 
users of goods or services pay for those goods or services is one of the major advantages of 
bonding.  This form of financing avoids the inherent dilemma of collecting money for a purchase 
from today's residents only to have the purchase utilized by tomorrow's residents - who may not 
be the same people. 
 
A major disadvantage of bonding is that in addition to the purchase price, interest is charged on 
the funds bonded.  
 
For this reason, the CIP Committee finds that bonding is generally not utilized unless the 
purchase has a life expectancy of at least twenty years and a minimum initial cost of $200,000. 
 
Types of projects generally financed through bonding include buildings or infrastructure that 
benefit the general public: town buildings, schools or college buildings, public safety facilities, 
libraries and other cultural facilities, and parks, recreation centers or facilities, and open space. 
 
There are two major types of bonds - general obligation and special revenue. 
 
General Obligation Bonds:  General obligation bonds generally have lower interest rates than 
other types of long-term debt.  The necessity of obtaining voter approval for the issuance of a 
bond can indicate citizen support for a project or purchase.  And general obligation bonds usually 
cost less to issue than other types of local government debt. 
 
The disadvantages of pursuing general obligation bonding include the chance that voters might 
not support a specific program or purchase.  Also, because bonds require a higher positive vote 
to pass, it is usually more arduous and lengthy to gain authorization for this type of debt.  Since 
Amherst operates under the provisions of SB2, passage of a bond issue requires a positive vote 
of at least 60% of the voters.  Most bond debt entered into by the town or local school districts is 
of this type. 
 
Revenue Bonds:  Revenue bonds rely on a set revenue source or sources, as security for the 
bond.  Local governments most often issue revenue bonds for self-supporting local projects. 

Page 54 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 13  
 

 
Revenue bonds are most appropriately used in situations where the local government can identify 
the user of the bonded item or service and they then become the payers for the project or system 
costs.  This is the type of bonding the town utilized in developing the sewer project at Baboosic 
Lake.  
 
To strengthen the Town's overall financial position the Town should utilize a variety of financing 
options.  
 

Page 55 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 14  
 

Section 5: Process 
The Planning Board is charged with directing the capital improvements planning process, based 
upon the Town's adopted master plan goals and recommendations.  The CIP process begins in 
late spring of each year with a request for project submittals distributed by the Community 
Development Office to the school districts and all Town departments, commissions and boards.  
In 2004, the Town of Amherst voted to authorize the Board of Selectmen to appoint a capital 
improvement program committee pursuant to RSA 674:5, consisting of at least one member of 
the Planning Board, the Ways & Means Committee, or the Board of Selectmen to prepare a 
recommended program of municipal capital improvement projects over a period of at least six 
years.   
 
The 2022-2027 CIP Committee was comprised of: 
 

1. BOS Member – John D'Angelo 
2. Souhegan SB Member – Steve Coughlan 
3. Amherst SB Members – Elizabeth Kuzsma & Terri Behm  
4. SAU Representative – Michele Croteau 
5. Ways & Means Rep – Danielle Pray 
6. Planning Board Member – Brian Coogan 
7. Citizen Member – Jullie Patterson 
 

The CIP Committee began meeting in June of 2020.  The CIP Committee heard presentations as 
needed from department heads and representatives of the boards and commissions that submit 
project requests2.  The Committee generally follows a basic four-step process in accumulating, 
analyzing, evaluating, ranking, and allocating project requests to appropriate years in the 
upcoming six-year time frame, with the intent of balancing needs and costs with Town financial 
constraints and reasonable and logical implementation timeframes.  A more detailed description 
of the Capital Improvements Plan process is as follows: 
 
Step 1:  The Office of Community Development transmits project request forms to all 
applicable department heads, commissions, and the School District's SAU office.  Each project is 
also to have a Justification in addition to the Description.  The Justification enables the CIP 
Committee to understand why the project is required for continuation or increase of Town 
services and the impact of delaying or not accomplishing the project and documents the real need 
for and cost of the project.  Additionally, the Project Request form seeks project rationale and 
justification based on a series of factors used to evaluate.   
 
The specific project request addresses whether it: 
 

a. Removes imminent threat to public health or safety, 

b. Alleviates substandard conditions or deficiencies, 
 

2A Project Request is eligible for inclusion in the CIP if the total cost is a minimum of $75,000 and is reasonably 
expected to have a useful life of at least five (5) years. Project requests under $75,000 were also considered if the 
project would have a significant impact on the department's budget, however were not required. 
 

Page 56 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 15  
 

c. Responds to federal or state requirements to implement, 

d. Improves the quality of existing services, 

e. Provides added capacity to serve growth, 

f. Reduces long-term operating costs, 

g. Provides incentive to economic development, 

h. Is eligible for matching funds available for a limited time, 

i. Is a continuation of an existing project, 

j. Addresses public demand, 

k. Extends the useful life of the current facility or equipment, and, 

l. Any “other” if there are additional extenuating circumstances justifying project inclusion 
in the CIP. 

Step 2:  The CIP Committee reviews project requests, and schedules a meeting with the 
respective department, as needed, to discuss each project. 
 
Step 3:  The CIP Committee studies projects individually and through group discussions. 
Evaluation includes review of the level of preparation applied to the requested project.  The CIP 
Committee may utilize a policy that a minimum of a conceptual drawing or architect's rendering 
is required for any facility which is expected to be placed in the next three (3) year “window”.  
Not all projects submitted each year are recommended for inclusion in the CIP Plan.  This may 
result if the Committee determines that a project has not established sufficient need or if it is 
unlikely to achieve support to implement during the plan years.  The Planning Board can bring a 
project back into the CIP during its review at the public hearing process. 
 
Step 4:  Using the requestor's recommendation as a starting point, the CIP Committee discusses 
and develops a consensus on the recommendation for the year in which the Project should be 
placed on the Town Ballot either as part of the operating budget or a warrant article.  For projects 
requiring bonding, the tax impact is noted the year after the warrant article is presumed to pass.  
The CIP Committee adjusts recommended project request funding years to smooth the fiscal 
impact and maintain a reasonable debt level each year.  The Committee considers the overall 
debt load from all bonded or lease purchase acquisitions by the Town and the School District. 
 
Upon completion of the four-step process, the CIP Committee: 
 

1. Prepares a report with the assistance of the Office of Community Development; 

2. Schedules a public hearing date with the Planning Board; 

3. Presents the CIP Plan at a Planning Board meeting for the required public hearing and 
adoption; 

4. Distributes copies of the final report to department heads, the Board of Selectmen, School 

Page 57 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 16  
 

Boards, the Ways & Means Committees, and the Planning Board. 

Page 58 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 17  
 

Chapter 2:  FY2022-2027 Project Requests 

Capital Improvement Project Descriptions and Committee 
Recommendations 
 
Project request forms were submitted by Town Departments and Board, the Amherst School 
District and the Souhegan School District for inclusion in this year's CIP.  A brief description of 
each project and the CIP Committee recommendation follows below.  It is important to note that 
individual Committee members may or may not support the actual project(s), however, the role 
of the CIP Committee is to place all projects (if properly presented with adequate information 
and justification) in the six-year capital improvements plan with the purpose of presenting a tax 
rate increase with a minimal amount of yearly fluctuation, if all projects designated for a certain 
year are funded.  
 
Placeholder and On the Horizon Projects 

When reviewing projects and placing them in the CIP Estimated Tax Impact Table, the CIP 
Committee also considers whether the project is a placeholder project request or “On the 
Horizon”.  A project that is considered “On the Horizon” is a project that does not yet have either 
a well-defined description or scope for implementation.  However, the CIP Committee, based on 
information presented, feels the project will likely be required either within or just beyond the 
six-year capital improvements planning cycle and thus needs to be included for planning and 
budgeting purposes.  These projects, when known, are included in the CIP to identify major 
capital expenditures that need to be considered in long range planning and funding efforts.

Page 59 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 18  
 

 
Section 1: Town Project Requests 

 
1.  Communications Center - Communications Fund CRF - $25,000 

Project Request - FY2022 - FY2027 

Project Request Description - Add $25,000 each year to the Communications Fund CRF to 
fund projects for the Communications Center. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 - FY2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee 
supports funding the Communications Fund CRF. 

2. Communications Center - Safety Complex Communication Tower Replacement - 
$110,000 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replacement of primary emergency communications tower 
used to dispatch Fire, Emergency Medical Services, Police, and communicate with 
Department of Public Works. 

Project Request Justification - The tower was constructed in the early 1980s to facilitate 
emergency communications with police officers in the field, and evolved to serve as the 
primary radio communications dispatch tower for the town's Fire, EMS, DPW, and Police 
services.  Minor structural improvements were made during ensuing years, and the tower is 
currently in serviceable condition but tower height is an increasing concern as foliage growth 
continues, and compromised line-of-sight microwave communication interference is 
inevitable.  The tower currently serves all Amherst public safety services, and is utilized by 
the Amherst Public Safety Communications Center which is staffed 365/24/7.  

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding from CRF:  The project cost of 
$110,000 may be offset by grant funding of $55,000.  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding the project in 2024 from the Communication Fund CRF. 

3. Communications Center - Safety Complex Communication Dispatch Console - $100,000 

Project Request - FY2025 

Project Request Description - Replacement of dispatch center's communications consoles 
used to dispatch emergency services. 

Project Request Justification - Replacement of dispatch radio console consisting of radios, 
computer aided dispatch software and associated components.  Life expectancy is 15 years, 
equipment was purchased with grant funding in 2008 with a projected replacement in 2025.  
Previous replacement date of FY2023 was anticipated, but replacement of computers that 
support the console system was completed in FY2019 which is expected to extend the overall 
life to at least FY2025. 

Page 60 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 19  
 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2025 Funding from CRF:  The project cost of 
$100,000 may be offset by grant funding of $50,000.  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding the project in FY2025 from the Communication Fund CRF. 

4. Fire Rescue - Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF Funding - $257,000 

Project Request - FY2022 - FY2027 

Project Request Description - To adequately replace fire rescue vehicles and equipment 
when due for replacement, the Capital Reserve Fund will have the needed funding without 
having to have an additional warrant article to pay for it. 

Project Request Justification - In order to continue with the capital replacement plan, this 
funding is required to pay for the replacement at the year it is due and not have to put out a 
warrant for the full replacement cost at one time. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 - FY2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee 
supports funding the Fire Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

5. Fire Rescue - 1991 Fire Engine - $575,000 

Project Request - FY2021 

Project Request Description - Service life of a fire engine based on the National Fire 
Protection Association is ten years of primary service and five years as a reserve piece of 
apparatus.  Being a smaller town, our experience is that we can get 20 years of service.  20 
year replacement schedule is common in New England.  This truck is now 29 years of age 
and it is very much outdated.  It was bumped from being replaced before our 1994 Engine, 
which has bigger issues with rust and decay on the bottom side of the truck. 

Project Request Justification - Based on the National Fire Protection Association 
consensus standards a fire engine service life is 15 years.  We stretch this life to 20 year or 
more based on the size of Amherst, the number of calls we answer, refurbishing them at ten 
years of age and keeping them in good working order.  Based on the current size of Amherst 
(12K population, 34 sq. miles) four fire engines are adequate to maintain a fair Insurance 
Service Office Fire Suppression Rating.  Our current Public Protection Classification (PPC) 
is class 4 if within five miles of a fire station or class 8 if you are beyond five miles. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2021 Funding from CRF:  The CIP Committee 
recommends funding the replacement of the 1991 Fire Engine in 2021 from the Fire Rescue 
Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

6. Fire Rescue - 2006 Pick Up (Forestry 2) - $40,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - This vehicle is used as a Forestry/Brush Truck.  It has a skid 
unit in the bed of the truck (water tank, pump and hose).  This 4-wheel drive vehicle allows 
for roadside and off-road incidents involving forest and brush types of fires. 

Page 61 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 20  
 

Project Request Justification - We have pushed out the replacement date by a couple of 
years as the shape of the vehicle is still sufficient to keeping the vehicle in service longer 
than expected.  This is a versatile vehicle allowing for small incidental response types to be 
handled, allowing us to keep our larger apparatus in quarters. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding from CRF:  The CIP Committee 
recommends funding the replacement of the 2006 Pick Up (Forestry 2) in 2022 from the Fire 
Rescue Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

7. Fire Rescue - 2010 Ambulance - $230,000 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - The service life of an ambulance is ten years, providing five 
years of primary and secondary response vehicles.  We have stretched ours out well past the 
average service life to where reliability becomes a factor. 

Project Request Justification - The thought process here is to have three of these vehicles 
in service for 12 years serving four years each as a primary, secondary and tertiary role.  
Within the first four years of service in Amherst the mileage is between 88,000 - 100,000.  
Even though there is a good service plan in place there is still a lot of wear on them.  By 
reducing the role of these vehicles the reliability stays high and should one go out of service 
at any point we have a back-up vehicle in place.  The call numbers for our ambulances 
continue to go up, thus putting higher mileage on them. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding from CRF:  The CIP Committee 
recommends funding the replacement of the 2010 Ambulance in 2024 from the Fire Rescue 
Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

8. Fire Rescue - 2003 Fire Engine - $595,000 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Service life of a fire engine based on the National Fire 
Protection Association is ten years of primary service and five years as a reserve piece of 
apparatus.  Being a smaller town, our experience is that we can get 20 years of service.  20 
year replacement schedule is common in New England.   

Project Request Justification - Based on the National Fire Protection Association 
consensus standards a fire engine service life is 15 years.  We stretch this life to 20 year or 
more based on the size of Amherst, the number of calls we answer, refurbishing them at ten 
years of age and keeping them in good working order.  Based on the current size of Amherst 
(12K population, 34 sq. miles) four fire engines are adequate to maintain a fair Insurance 
Service Office Fire Suppression Rating.  Our current Public Protection Classification (PPC) 
is class 4 if within five miles of a fire station or class 8 if you are beyond five miles. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding from CRF:  The CIP Committee 

Page 62 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 21  
 

recommends funding the replacement of the 2003 Fire Engine in 2026 from the Fire Rescue 
Vehicle and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

9. Fire Rescue - Tower 1 - $1,300,000 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Service life of fire apparatus based on the National Fire 
Protection Association is ten years of primary service and five years as a reserve piece of 
apparatus.  Being a smaller town, our experience is that we can get 20 years of service.  The 
intent for this piece of apparatus was to be in service for 30 years.  Seeing the truck was built 
in 1997 we are coming up on the 30 year mark and the planning for the replacement is on our 
radar. 

Project Request Justification - The service life of this vehicle is planned for 30 years, this 
is based on the size of Amherst and the number of calls we answer.  The Tower is an 
exception to our fire engine replacement timetable of 20 plus years as it was purchased to go 
30 years of service.  Based on the current size of Amherst (12K population, 34 sq. miles) four 
fire engines are adequate to maintain a fair Insurance Service Office Fire Suppression Rating.  
Our current Public Protection Classification (PPC) is class 4 if within five miles of a fire 
station or class 8 if you are beyond five miles. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2027 Funding from CRF:  The CIP Committee 
recommends funding the replacement of the Tower 1 in 2027 from the Fire Rescue Vehicle 
and Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF. 

10. Parks and Recreation - AMS Tennis Courts Replacement - $85,000 

Project Request - FY2023 

Project Request Description - Resurface the AMS tennis courts located at the Amherst 
Middle School.  Once resurfaced we plan to install basketball hoops and have the primary 
painting of the court be basketball with tennis as the secondary sport. 

Project Request Justification - The AMS tennis courts are in need of replacement 
surfacing.  The courts were originally installed using Land and Water Conservation Fund 
(LWCF) money.  Since LWCF money was used the courts must always remain courts and be 
open to all public.  By taking the LWCF funding the town also acknowledged they would 
keep the courts open and maintained.   

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2023 Funding from Revolving Fund:  The CIP 
Committee recommends funding the project in FY2023 from the Parks and Recreation '02 
Revolving Fund with no impact to taxes. 

11. Parks and Recreation - Athletic Field Construction at Buck Meadow - $315,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - The ARD would like to put athletic fields on the property 

Page 63 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 22  
 

using the plan set forth by Meridian. 

Project Request Justification -  Amherst has a lack of fields for the amount of field time 
needed for all sports in Amherst.  By purchasing Buck Meadow we now have the space to 
grow our field space.  The plan is to apply for a Land Water Conservation Grant to pay for 
50% of the project.   

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding the project with $157,500 matching grant from the LWCF; $10,000 from 
donations/bequests/private funding; $25,000 to come from the Parks and Recreation '02 
Revolving Fund with no impact to taxes; and $122,500 as a warrant article for construction in 
FY2022. 

12. Parks and Recreation - Community Center - $8,010,000 

Project Request - FY2023 and beyond 

Project Request Description - Amherst Parks and Recreation is planning the construction of 
a community center for the Town of Amherst. 

Project Request Justification - Amherst has a lack of indoor space for activities to happen 
during school day times as well as a need for court space in the evenings.  The school 
facilities are great when available but that availability seems to be shrinking more each year.  
We also have a real lack of senior programs due to this indoor facility problem.  By building 
a community center the department will be more able to meet the needs of all Amherst 
citizens at all times and days of the year. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Start Funding:  The CIP Committee 
recommends funding the project with a 20-year bond for $5,000,000 beginning in FY2024.  
It is anticipated that $10,000 will be used for planning and feasibility analysis from the Parks 
and Recreation '02 Revolving Fund with no impact to taxes and that $3,000,000 will be 
raised in private donations and bequests, leaving $5,000,000 to be bonded. 

13. Police Department - Police Station Renovation - $750,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - Renovate existing police and former EMS structure to 
provide additional space currently needed by APD, and provide room for growth and 
expansion through at least the next 25 years. 

Project Request Justification - The existing APD (and former EMS) structure was built in 
1980, with major additions and renovations in 1996.  The need for additional APD space has 
developed over the last 20+ years, and the occupation of both levels (and completion of the 
unfinished third floor) will accommodate current and future needs.  A Police Station 
Renovation Committee was formed in 2018, and the contract for renovation architectural 
services was awarded in early 2019.  A rough estimate of $600,000 was proposed for the 

Page 64 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 23  
 

project based upon pre-bid estimates from several builders.  As of March 2020, $600,000 has 
been raised and appropriated to the Police Station Renovation Capital Reserve Fund through 
voter support of warrant articles of $200,000 each over the course of three years.  Three 
construction bids were obtained on April 15, 2020, and all substantially exceeded the 
$600,000 estimate, due at least in part to roughly $150,000 previously undiscovered HVAC 
issues and the need for an addressable fire alarm system (in lieu of a more costly sprinkler 
system) costing roughly $40,000.  On May 11, 2020, the Board of Selectmen rejected those 
three bids, and put the project back out to bid with some acceptable changes in project scope.  
Final project bids are anticipated on or about June 15, 2020.   

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends a 
warrant article of $175,000 in FY2022 to add to the existing Police Station Renovation CRF 
of $600,000 +/- for funding the project. 

14. Public Works - Continuous Roof over Transfer Station sorting tables and walkway 
deck - $125,000 

Project Request– FY2022  

Project Request Description - Continuous carriage shed type (truss) metal or fiberglass roof 
over the complete deck protecting employees, users, and the products being trashed or 
recycled.  Protecting the deck and creating a better means of lighting it (in winter months) 
creates a safer environment for everyone. 

Project Request Justification – The Transfer Station was renovated in 2008.  The deck 
walkway is deteriorating and the most common complaint is a slippery deck in the rain and 
snow.  A pedestrian walkway roof would reduce the chance of a slip/trip/fall in inclement 
weather, reduce the labor/cost of clearing the existing deck and potentially reduce the cost of 
disposal.  The deck is an inferior material for the purpose.  The proposal is to replace it with 
ADA compliant steel gratings.  We pay by weight, wet materials weigh significantly more 
than dry materials.   

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this project with a warrant article in 2022. 

15. Public Works - Reconfigure the Transfer Station layout to make drive for drive-
through trash - $125,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - Reconfigure and relocate the existing trash compactors so 
that it is segregated from recycling and allow drive through trash disposal. 

Project Request Justification - The current Transfer Station layout is inefficient.  The 
sorting deck is 180 feet long and regardless of the material being disposed of or recycled the 
vast majority of patrons walk the length of the deck several times.  The average time a 
vehicle is parked in one of the designated parking spots is nearly five minutes.  This 

Page 65 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 24  
 

disincentivizes recycling and increases wait times.  The wait times affect safety to the point 
that vehicles stack up on Rt. 101 which is a 50 mph state road.  The proposal is to move the 
trash compactors and locate them in a manner that allows pull through side dumping 
followed by the option to go to the existing recycling areas.  This will also allow residents to 
more easily bring trailers to get rid of trash and recycling, lowering the number of periodic 
trips they may have to make presently due to limited vehicle cargo space.  This will not affect 
or be affected by the other CIP request for a continuous truss roof and deck replacement.  We 
could do more recycling with the extra space. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this project with a warrant article in 2022. 

16. Public Works - Bridge Repair and Replacement CRF - $200,000 

Project Request– FY2022-FY2027 

Project Request Description - Level funding at $200,000/year for both state aid bridges and 
town water crossings as per the plan presented last year. 

Project Request Justification – The plan was presented/formulated in 2018 to provide 
funding for state aid bridges as they become scheduled and for town water crossings. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2022-2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the Bridge Repair and Replacement CRF. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 66 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 25  
 

Section 2: School Districts Project Requests 
 
Capital improvement projects proposed by the School Districts are included in the Town's 
Capital Improvements Plan in order to present a comprehensive overview of all potential large 
capital expenditures that may need to be funded in the six-year capital improvements plan.  The 
Board of Selectmen, the School Boards, and their respective departments and commissions, 
continue to cooperate in projecting and timing major expenses so to avoid dramatic jumps in the 
property tax rate.  The Capital Improvements Program Committee reviewed School District 
project requests with this in mind. 
 
17. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $663,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $500,000 for 
ASD and $163,000 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

18. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $676,260 

Project Request - FY2023 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $650,000 for 
ASD and $26,260 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2023 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

19. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $689,785 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $605,000 for 

Page 67 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 26  
 

ASD and $84,875 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

20. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $703,581 

Project Request - FY2025 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $675,000 for 
ASD and $28,581 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2025 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

21. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $717,653 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $675,000 for 
ASD and $42,653 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

22. School District - Contribution to Expendable Trust Fund - $732,006 

Project Request - FY2027 

Project Request Description - Annual contribution to expendable trust fund to develop a 
funding plan for future capital projects. 

Project Request Justification - Investing in a funding plan to support future capital projects 
reduces spikes in tax rates to pay for these projects and supports planning to ensure safe and 
adequately maintained facilities.  Funding plan for future capital purchases; $675,000 for 
ASD and $57,006 for SCSD. 

CIP Committee Recommendation – FY2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee supports 
funding the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

23. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Smoke/Fire Detection System 

Page 68 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 27  
 

Upgrade - $99,985 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - Replace Simplex FACP and devices.   

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects.  

24. Amherst School District - AMS Rooftop Air Handling Units - $123,463 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replace 5 rooftop units. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

25. Amherst School District - AMS HVAC Distribution System - $579,637 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replace HVAC distribution system. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with $369,821 from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects 
and an additional warrant article of $209,816. 

26. Amherst School District - AMS Lighting Upgrade - $579,637 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Upgrade to high efficiency lighting. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety, compliance with regulations and cost efficiencies. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

27. Amherst School District - AMS Roof Replacement - $580,310 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replace roof tar and gravel. 

Page 69 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 28  
 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

28. Amherst School District - Clark School Lighting Upgrade - $307,468 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Replace lighting with high efficiency lighting. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety, compliance with regulations and cost efficiencies. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

29. Amherst School District - Clark School Exterior Vinyl Walls - $92,333 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Replace exterior vinyl walls with cement fiberboard. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety, compliance with regulations and cost efficiencies. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

30. Amherst School District - Wilkins School HVAC - $614,937 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Replace HVAC distribution system. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety, compliance with regulations and cost efficiencies. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with $364,937 from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects 
and an additional warrant article of $250,000. 

31. Amherst School District - Wilkins School Lighting Upgrade - $614,937 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Replace lighting with high efficiency lighting. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety, compliance with regulations and cost efficiencies. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 

Page 70 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 29  
 

32. Amherst School District - Amherst School Building Construction - $35,000,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - This is a place holder for future work to be determined.  
Funding will be used for expansion and improvement of educational facilities through 
renovation of existing facilities and/or new construction. 

Project Request Justification - The conditions of the current facilities and anticipated 
growth in the community necessitate a plan for building renovation or replacement to 
accommodate educational needs.   Will extend the useful life of the current facilities only if 
the  determination is made to renovate versus replace. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with a $35,000,000 general obligation bond. 

33. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Building Construction - 
$5,000,000 

Project Request - FY2023 

Project Request Description - This is a place holder for future work to be determined.  
Funding will be used for construction/renovation at the HS. 

Project Request Justification - The conditions of the current facilities necessitate a plan for 
building renovation to accommodate educational needs. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2023 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with a $5,000,000 general obligation bond. 

34. Amherst School District - Amherst Middle School Roof Replacement - $380,464 

Project Request - FY2027 

Project Request Description - Replace roof PVC membrane. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 
 

35. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Crack-fill, Sealcoat & Re-stripe - 
$83,236 

Project Request - FY2027 

Project Request Description - Repair and maintain tar surfaces every five years; crack-fill, 
sealcoat, and re-stripe.   

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 

Page 71 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 30  
 

level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2027 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 
 

36. Amherst School District - Amherst Middle School Movable Wall Partitions - $118,245 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replace / upgrade aging wall partitions.  The Capital Needs 
Assessment includes 30 partitions estimated at approximately $3.9k each. 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging systems insures an appropriate 
level of safety and compliance with regulations. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 
 

37. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Classroom Furniture - $121,720 

Project Request - FY2024 

Project Request Description - Replace / upgrade classroom furniture. Capital Needs 
Assessment (CNA) projects 10 classrooms at $12,172 each.      

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging furniture insures an appropriate 
level of safety and support of an educational environment for students and staff. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2024 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request from the expendable trust fund for school capital projects. 
 

38. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Turf Field Replacement - 
$100,000 

Project Request - FY2026 

Project Request Description - Replace / upgrade turf field.  There is approximately $38k in 
a separate fund to support this project.        

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade of aging turf field insures an appropriate 
level of safety and support of athletic programs. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2026 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with $38,000 from the field usage fee account and an additional warrant 
article of $62,000. 
 

39. Souhegan Cooperative School District - Souhegan HS Annex Renovation - $430,000 

Project Request - FY2022 

Project Request Description - Renovate and upgrade the Science wing in the HS Annex.        

Page 72 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 31  
 

Project Request Justification - Planned upgrade and renovation of the Science classrooms 
to meet educational program needs. 

CIP Committee Recommendation - FY2022 Funding:  The CIP Committee recommends 
funding this request with a warrant article in 2022. 

Page 73 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 32  
 

 

Section 3: Major Town Projects on the Horizon 
 
The CIP Committee received information about one capital improvement projects that is 
considered to be “On the Horizon” and thus not included as projects planned for the six-year CIP 
time period of FY2022 through FY2027.  However, these projects are identified so that 
prioritization, planning, and funding can be considered in the next several years.   
 

40. Fire Rescue - Paramedic Response Vehicle - 2028 - $50,000 

 

Page 74 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 33  
 

Chapter 3: Additional CIP Committee Recommendations 
 
The Capital Improvements Plan Committee annually discusses with Department Heads, 
Committee Chairs and between themselves, when reviewing projects, how projects are 
formulated, funded, and prioritized. Discussion often focuses on the ability of the Town to fund 
all project requests, and the potential tax impact of such requests, if they were all placed either 
on the warrant or within departmental budgets. Funding specific projects or all projects in a 
given year may be financially impracticable or constrained by specific Town circumstances that 
may impose an additional or unrealistic tax burden upon the property owner. 
 
The CIP Committee strongly supports the use of capital reserve funds for CIP projects with 
annual contributions to eliminate the need to pay interest on projects, vehicles, or equipment. 
 
The CIP Committee commented that the Plan of 2022-2027 does not reflect any impacts from 
the pending housing developments before the Planning Board. The CIP Committee also 
expressed support for the Planning Board continuing to require impact studies from developers 
to evaluate the impacts from proposed housing developments. 
 
It should be noted that this plan includes two possible futures for the schools.  It is widely 
recognized that the current schools are inadequate for current educational needs and standards, so 
there are placeholders in this plan for large school projects to replace and extensively renovate 
various buildings.  If these are implemented, the large maintenance and replacement equipment 
projects will no longer be required.  If these plans are not implemented or progress slowly, the 
current schools will require the extensive repairs and replacements, and those projects will be 
necessary.  The CIP Committee chose to present all possible futures in this plan, knowing some 
of them will not be implemented depending on the choices of the Boards and voters, rather than 
predict a single specific future. 
  

Page 75 of 219



 Capital Improvements Plan FY 2022 – 2027 

  Page: 34  
 

Chapter 4: Estimated Tax Impact Table and Plan Recommendations 
 
The CIP Estimated Tax Impact Table on the next page presents the recommended schedule for 
project requests reviewed by the CIP Committee for the period of FY2022 - FY2027.  The intent 
of the CIP Committee is to prioritize projects for funding, looking at all projects submitted.  
Based upon the information presented to the CIP Committee and subsequent discussion, projects 
were placed in a manner to address the most urgent (FY2022) Town capital project needs. 
Projects for subsequent years were placed to try to keep the overall debt service, existing and 
new, as level as possible. 
 
Final decision-making on which projects will move forward and which will be delayed, rests 
with the Board of Selectmen, the School Boards, and ultimately the voting public. 
 
 
 
 

Page 76 of 219



Project 
Number Dept Project Name

Bond, 
Cash, or 

Lease

Pay 
Term, 
Years

Re- 
quest 
Vote 
Year

Re-com- 
mend 
Vote 
Year

Purchase Price

Purchase 
Price Less 

Outside 
Funds

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2022 2022 25,000 25,000 25,000 - - - - -
Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2023 2023 25,000 25,000 - 25,000 - - - -
Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2024 2024 25,000 25,000 - - 25,000 - - -
Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2025 2025 25,000 25,000 - - - 25,000 - -
Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2026 2026 25,000 25,000 - - - - 25,000 -
Comm. Center Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2027 2027 25,000 25,000 25,000
Comm. Center Safety Complex Communication Tower Replacement Cash 1 2024 2024 110,000 0 - - 0 - - -
Comm. Center Safety Complex Communication Dispatch Console Cash 1 2025 2025 100,000 0 - - - 0 - -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2022 2022 257,000 257,000 257,000 - - - - -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2023 2023 257,000 257,000 - 257,000 - - - -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2024 2024 257,000 257,000 - - 257,000 - - -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2025 2025 257,000 257,000 - - - 257,000 - -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2026 2026 257,000 257,000 - - - - 257,000 -
Fire Rescue Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2027 2027 257,000 257,000 - - - - - 257,000
Fire Rescue 1991 Fire Engine Cash 1 2021 2021 575,000 0 - - - - - -
Fire Rescue 2006 Pick Up (Forestry 2) Cash 1 2022 2022 35,000 0 0 - - - - -
Fire Rescue 2010 Ambulance Cash 1 2024 2024 230,000 0 - - 0 - - -
Fire Rescue 2003 Fire Engine Cash 1 2026 2026 595,000 0 - - - - 0 -
Fire Rescue Tower 1 Cash 1 2027 2027 1,300,000 0 - - - - - 0
Recreation AMS Tennis Courts Replacement * Cash 1 2023 2023 85,000 0 - 0 - - - -
Recreation Athletic Field Construction Cash 1 2022 2022 315,000 122,500 122,500 - - - - -
Recreation Community Center Bond 20 2023 2024 8,000,000 5,000,000 - - - 367,909 367,909 367,909

Police Police Station Renovation Cash 1 2022 2022 750,000 175,000 175,000 - - - - -
Public Works Transfer Station Roof Cash 1 2022 2022 125,000 125,000 125,000 - - - - -
Public Works Reconfigure Transfer Station for drive through Cash 1 2022 2022 125,000 125,000 125,000 - - - - -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2022 2022 200,000 200,000 200,000 - - - - -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2023 2023 200,000 200,000 - 200,000 - - - -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2024 2024 200,000 200,000 - - 200,000 - - -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2025 2025 200,000 200,000 - - - 200,000 - -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2026 2026 200,000 200,000 - - - - 200,000 -
Public Works Capital Reserve Funding Bridge Repair & Replacement Cash 1 2027 2027 200,000 200,000 - - - - - 200,000

Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2022 2022 663,000 663,000 663,000 - - - - -
Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2023 2023 676,260 676,260 - 676,260 - - - -
Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2024 2024 689,785 689,785 - - 689,785 - - -
Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2025 2025 703,581 703,581 - - - 703,581 - -
Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2026 2026 717,653 717,653 - - - - 717,653 -
Schools Capital Reserve Funding Cash 1 2027 2027 732,006 732,006 - - - - - 732,006

ASD AMS Rooftop Air Handling Units Cash 1 2024 2024 123,463 0 - - 0 - - -
ASD AMS HVAC Distribution System Cash 1 2024 2024 579,637 209,816 - - 209,816 - - -
ASD AMS Lighting Upgrade Cash 1 2024 2024 579,637 0 - - 0 - - -
ASD AMS Roof Replacement - Tar & Gravel Cash 1 2024 2024 580,310 0 - - 0 - - -

CIP Estimated Tax Impact Table
Fiscal Year

Final Draft - Printed 10/16/2020 
Page 77 of 219



ASD Clark Lighting Upgrade Cash 1 2026 2026 307,468 0 - - - - 0 -
ASD Clark Exterior Vinyl Walls Cash 1 2026 2026 92,333 0 - - - - 0 -
ASD Wilkins HVAC Cash 1 2026 2026 614,937 250,000 - - - - 250,000 -
ASD Wilkins Lighting Upgrade Cash 1 2026 2026 614,937 0 - - - - 0 -
ASD Amherst School Building Construction Bond 25 2022 2022 35,000,000 35,000,000 - 2,240,419 2,240,419 2,240,419 2,240,419 2,240,419

SCSD Souhegan 2.0 (Light) Bond 10 2023 2023 5,000,000 5,000,000 - - 616,455 616,455 616,455 616,455
SCSD Souhegan Smoke/Fire Detection System Upgrade Cash 1 2022 2022 99,985 0 0 - - - - -
ASD AMS Roof Replacement - PVC Membrane Cash 1 2027 2027 380,464 0 - - - - - 0

SCSD Souhegan HS Crack-fill, Sealcoat and Re-stripe Cash 1 2027 2027 83,236 0 - - - - - 0
ASD AMS Movable Wall Partitions Cash 1 2024 2024 118,245 0 - - 0 - - -

SCSD Souhegan HS Classroom Furniture Cash 1 2024 2024 121,720 0 - - 0 - - -
SCSD Souhegan HS Turf Field Replacement Cash 1 2026 2026 100,000 62,000 - - - - 62,000 -
SCSD Souhegan HS Annex Renovation Cash 1 2022 2022 430,000 430,000 430,000 - - - - -

ON THE HORIZON PROJECTS:
Fire Rescue Paramedic Response Vehicle 2028 50,000 - - - - - -

New Projects 2,097,500 3,373,679 4,213,474 4,385,363 4,711,435 4,413,788

Existing Town Projects/Debt 2,810,008 1,672,081 746,054 20,027 0 0
Existing ASD Projects/Debt 398,961 217,314 213,170 209,027 204,883 195,798

Existing SCSD Projects/Debt 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total (Existing) 3,208,969 1,889,395 959,224 229,054 204,883 195,798

Combined New Projects and Debt Service Total New Project Requests 2,097,500 3,373,679 4,213,474 4,385,363 4,711,435 4,413,788
Projected Tax Impact per $1000 of Assessed Value 1.18 1.89 2.35 2.45 2.63 2.46

Total Existing Debt Service 3,208,969 1,889,395 959,224 229,054 204,883 195,798
Projected Tax Impact per $1000 of Assessed Value 1.80 1.06 0.54 0.13 0.11 0.11

Total Tax-funded Obligation 5,306,469 5,263,074 5,172,699 4,614,417 4,916,318 4,609,586
Projected Tax Impact per $1000 of Assessed Value 2.97 2.94 2.89 2.57 2.74 2.56

Notes/Rules
Existing debt service is net of state aid (schools get 30-40% state construction aid over time)
Do not change info in the grey cells, they are calculated automatically.
Bond and lease payments are estimates only based on a single interest rate for the entire planning horizon - 4.00% was used for this year
Any project that combines a number of different funding methods must be broken into separate projects
Any project that relies on a series of annual cash appropriations must be broken into separate projects
Leases - Treated as a normal loan based on Excel calculations using the standard interest rate.  Payments start the year of the vote.
Bond - Treated as a normal loan based on Excel calculations using the standard interest rate. Payments start the year following the vote.
* AMS Tennis Courts Replacement to be paid from '02 Revolving Account

Final Draft - Printed 10/16/2020 
Page 78 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Winter Operations Plan Department: Public Works
Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Eric Hanh

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The Town of Amherst has had a Winter Operations policy for nearly 20 years, all 
approved by the BOS.  The latest version was approved in 2017 and is presently due 
for review/update.   RSA Chapeter 231:92-a specifically relieves towns from snow and 
ice and other weather related hazards if the town is following a written plan - absent 
gross negligence.   While the existing policy mentions personnel absences there are no 
specific service reductions called out.   Our insurer, Primex has recently written Covid-
19 guidance, in which on page 6, the document specifically calls out rewriting plans for 
potential increased personnel absences.  SPW's latest version of the plan incorporates 
both specific service reductions and adheres to the Primex guidance.     The latest 
complete Winter Operations Plan is found here:   https://www.amherstnh.gov/public-
works/pages/winter-maintenance    The last BOS approval is found 
here:   https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/snow_removal_ice_
control_updated_1.16.2017.pdf

 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
none
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

Adheres to RSA's. 
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
Approve the most recent plan.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I move that the DPW Winter Operations Plan dated 9/21/20 be adopted. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Winter Operations Plan 9-21-20
2. TITLE XX 231 92a

Page 79 of 219

https://www.amherstnh.gov/public-works/pages/winter-maintenance
https://www.amherstnh.gov/public-works/pages/winter-maintenance
https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/snow_removal_ice_control_updated_1.16.2017.pdf
https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/snow_removal_ice_control_updated_1.16.2017.pdf


3. Covid-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance _Oct 28_2020

Page 80 of 219



Amherst 
Department of Public Works

Winter Operations Plan

By: Director Eric C. Hahn

Page 81 of 219



Operating Plan

Statement of Purpose:

The purpose of the Town of Amherst Public Work’s Winter Operations Plan is to facilitate the 
execution of the timely, efficient, and adequate clearing of snow and ice from Town roadways, 
school parking lots of assigned responsibility, transfer station, sidewalks, buildings and 
walkways, and public parking areas, for the safety and benefit of Town residents and the general 
public.  Furthermore, the Winter Operations Plan identifies essential functions of priority to be 
maintained during a staffing shortage or other unforeseen emergency.  This plan establishes 
levels of service to be attained amid varying levels of staffing shortages and/or other 
emergencies during inclement winter weather.

Adoption:  

The Town of Amherst adopted the Winter Operations Snow Removal and Ice Control Policy 
effective December 3, 2001 with subsequent approved revisions. All residents are encouraged to 
familiarize themselves with the content as it describes the condition that one might expect to 
encounter before, during, and following a winter storm event.

Command:

Direction of all winter maintenance activities for the Town of Amherst is vested with the 
Director of Public Works, Assistant Director, Roads Foreman, or their designee.

Procedure:

The objectives stated above will be achieved by the implementation and execution of tasks 
assigned by the Director of Public Works or his designee.  Due to the many variables that are 
inherent in New England weather, each storm and/or weather event may require slightly or 
greatly different efforts and/or emphasis on any number of maintenance tasks, which together 
determine the overall winter maintenance, snow removal, and/or road treatment strategy.

Salt Reduction Goal:

The Town of Amherst Department of Public Works is continually working with NH DES and 
other commercial and municipal partners through training and collaboration to implement best 
management practices and technologies for winter road salt and sand use reductions.  These 
initiatives are realized while maintaining safe and adequate road conditions during inclement 
winter weather.

Expected Level of Service (Normal Staffing Levels / Non-Emergency):

It is not reasonable to maintain a snow and ice-free black paved road during an inclement winter 
weather event.  It is the intention of the Town of Amherst to provide practical and safe access to 
homes, businesses and municipal facilities during and after these events. 

Page 82 of 219



It is our policy to start snow removal operations upon accumulation of two inches of snowfall.  
The Public Works Director, Roads Foreman, or their designee may, at his/her discretion, and 
based upon available information to include weather reports, elect to not remove snow until 
greater or lesser accumulations of snow have been reached.

Pre-treatment and ice control may commence prior to the actual beginning of the inclement 
winter weather event, during the storm if determined to be effective, and/or after precipitation 
has ended.  It should be noted that road salt has a diminishing effectiveness as temperatures fall 
below 25 degrees Fahrenheit and may not be applied until temperatures warm.  Liquid chlorides 
such as magnesium or calcium may be used to increase the effectiveness of the salt, or as a 
preventive measure to prevent snow or ice from bonding to the road.

One or more of the following may delay or prevent the execution of this policy or parts of this 
policy.

 Equipment Breakdown
 Snow Accumulation in excess of 1 inch per hour
 Traffic Congestion
 Emergencies
 Extensive long duration storms with an exhausted crew
 Personnel illness (covered in more detail below)

Town sidewalks, building walkways, and parking lots will be cleared as soon as possible during 
and after winter storms.  The availability of personnel and/or equipment will determine response 
time.  Remaining roadway maintenance needs will retain priority.

The transfer station will remain open at full capacity during regularly scheduled times unless it is 
determined that deteriorating weather conditions or reduced staffing levels pose an increased risk 
to public safety, at which time the Director of Public Works, Roads Foreman, or their designee 
may reduce transfer station services or close the facility.

The Amherst Schools and DPW collaborate by conference call every storm that may affect 
school closure/delayed opening/early release. DPW reports current and expected conditions of 
roads.  The Schools consider both local and regional factors and make decisions and 
communications to students/parents and public broadcast media using their own criteria. 

Expected Level of Service – Emergency Provisions (Personnel Shortage):

It is the intention of the Town of Amherst to provide practical and safe access to homes, 
businesses, and municipal facilities during and after inclement winter weather events.  Despite 
our best efforts to answer this call of duty, the Department of Public Works has planned to 
provide the highest level of service to the Town as possible, during times of emergency causing 
unusual shortages of personnel and/or equipment by prioritizing what work can be done.  This 
document identifies varying levels of service to accommodate different degrees of personnel 

Page 83 of 219



shortages.  The emergency provisions of this plan will not be initiated until there is a personnel 
shortage of three or more personnel.  

These emergency provisions will be used as a guideline to make decisions during an 
emergency.  These provisions will be implemented only at the discretion of the Director of 
Public Works, Road Foreman, or their designee.  Inclement winter weather can be 
unpredictable.  Snow accumulations, temperatures, types of precipitation, and duration of 
events can vary widely between storms.  In addition to personnel shortages, due to the 
unpredictable nature of winter storms the emergency provisions of this plan may be 
implemented or escalated in consideration of factors other than personnel shortages to include 
existing or predicted weather conditions, and/or significant or numerous equipment / vehicle 
breakdowns.

In the event of a fire department, ems, or police department emergency dispatch during an 
inclement winter weather event, priority will be given to clear roads ahead of emergency 
vehicles if requested by emergency services.  Additionally, the fire department may use 
available DPW equipment to clear roads ahead of emergency vehicles when assisting with 
winter operations under contingency plan Level 3.

Level 1 Contingency Plan (Personnel Shortage of 3) – 

It is not uncommon to experience personnel shortages of one or two people during any given 
inclement winter weather event.  These shortages are sometimes caused by equipment 
breakdowns or illness.  Our contingency plans assume the ability for the DPW to absorb a 
personnel shortage of up to two employees without significantly impacting the level of service 
that we can provide.

We will initiate our Level 1 contingency plan when our staffing shortage reaches three people.  
Notifications will be posted on DPW social media accounts to inform residents that we have 
initiated the winter weather contingency plan.  We will also notify the Amherst communication 
center, which will make appropriate notifications to town departments according to appendix 
“A.”  A link to this document will be provided in the social media notifications for residents to 
find this policy on the Town website. 

Priority will be given to keeping arterial and thru-roads open and passable making several passes 
as necessary to maintain sufficient road width.  Non-thru roads will take longer to get to and may 
only be plowed to accommodate driving lanes for emergency vehicles.  Non-thru roads may not 
be cleaned up and widened until after the storm.  

Town buildings, sidewalks, and parking lots will not be a priority during the storm.  Effort will 
be made to clear a path to Town buildings when possible.  Cleanup and treatment of walkways 
will not commence until after the storm is over.

Page 84 of 219



The transfer station will be kept open if possible, with a primary focus on keeping the entrance 
and exit ramps plowed and treated.  Available services at the transfer station may be reduced to 
taking trash only, suspending all recycling and pay as you throw services.  Transfer station staff 
will keep the deck cleared as necessary.  Timing, duration, and/or severity of the storm may 
necessitate the closure of the Transfer Station.

The following list summarizes what the expected level of service should be:

Primary Services During the Storm:

 Keep Arterial Roads open (Boston Post Rd., Amherst Street, etc.)
 Keep Thru Roads/ Feeder Roads open (Baboosic Lake Rd., Old 

Manchester Rd., etc.)
 Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru roads (Open one lane for emergency 

vehicles)

Secondary Services During the Storm (will take longer than normal):                                                                                                                                                                                       

 Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads (More than one pass)
 Town Buildings, walkways, and parking lots (Open-up only)
 Transfer Station with focus on entrance and exit ramps / deck 

(Open-up only)
o Services may be reduced to acceptance of trash only
o May close transfer station dependent on timing, duration, 

and significance of storm

Services to Commence After the Storm (In order of priority):

 Cleanup Arterial Roads
 Cleanup Thru Roads
 Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads (Cleanup)
 Town Buildings (Cleanup)
 Sidewalks plowed
 School parking lots

o May recommend to SAU 39 to delay or cancel schools 
dependent on timing, duration, and severity of storm.

 Cleanup Transfer Station

Level 2 Contingency Plan (Personnel Shortage of 4) – 

We will initiate our Level 2 contingency plan when our staffing shortage reaches four people.  
Notifications will be posted on DPW social media accounts to inform residents that we have 
initiated the winter weather contingency plan. We will also notify the Amherst communication 
center, which will make appropriate notifications to town departments according to appendix 

Page 85 of 219



“A.”  A link to this document will be provided in the social media notifications for residents to 
find this policy on the Town website. 

Arterial and feeder roads will retain priority.  Available personnel will work to keep these roads 
open and passable during the storm.  

Other non-thru roads will take longer to get to however when possible effort will be made to 
open a lane for emergency vehicles.

The Fire Department will be notified of the need for their assistance to maintain all Fire and PD 
facilities during the storm.  The Fire Department will have access to available snow removal 
equipment at the Public Works facility.

The Town Administrator will be notified of the inability for the DPW to maintain Town 
buildings during the storm.   A recommendation may be made to close Town buildings 
depending on the timing, duration, and severity of the storm.  Town buildings, walkways, 
sidewalks, and parking lots will not be cleaned up until after the storm has ended.  

Initiation of the Level 2 contingency plan will prompt a recommendation to SAU 39, if 
applicable, to either close school or release students early.  Schools will not be cleaned up until 
after the storm has ended.

If applicable, the Transfer Station will be closed when the Level 2 contingency plan has been 
initiated.

The following list summarizes what the expected Level 2 service should be:

Primary Services During the Storm:

 Keep Main Roads open (Mont Vernon Rd., Merrimack Rd., etc.)
 Keep Thru Roads open (Nathan Lord Dr., Ravine Rd., etc.)

Secondary Services During the Storm (will take longer than normal):                                                                                                                                                                                        

 Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads (Open one lane for emergency 
vehicles)

 Fire Department to maintain Fire/PD facilities
 Town Buildings, walkways, parking areas not maintained during 

storm
o May recommend to close Town buildings if applicable 

(dependent on timing, duration, and severity of storm)
 Sidewalks not plowed during storm
 Recommend to SAU 39 to close schools if applicable
 Close Transfer Station if applicable

Page 86 of 219



Services to Commence After the Storm (In order of priority):

 Cleanup Main Roads
 Cleanup Thru Roads
 Cleanup Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads
 Cleanup Town Buildings, walkways, parking areas
 Cleanup Sidewalks
 Cleanup School parking lots
 Cleanup Transfer Station

Level 3 Contingency Plan (Personnel Shortage of 5 or more) –

We will initiate our Level 3 contingency plan when our staffing shortage reaches five people or 
greater.  Notifications will be posted on DPW social media accounts to inform residents that we 
have initiated the winter weather contingency plan. We will also notify the Amherst 
communication center, which will make appropriate notifications to town departments according 
to appendix “A.”   A link to this document will be provided in the social media notifications for 
residents to find this policy on the Town website. 

The Level 3 Contingency Plan is the worst-case scenario that will be planned for.  A personnel 
shortage of five or more people will initiate the Level 3 contingency plan.  The level of service 
the DPW can provide may be far less than that of the service level expected for an 
implementation of the Level 2 contingency plan.  Arterial roads and thru roads will again retain 
our priority.  

The initiation of the Level 3 contingency plan will prompt an immediate request for mutual aid 
from our neighboring municipalities to include Milford, Mont Vernon, Merrimack, and Hollis.

Only main roads to include arterial and thru roads will be kept open during the storm.  The 
timing, duration, and severity of the storm will determine what other roads if any will be kept 
open.  

Town buildings, walkways, and parking areas will not be cleared until after the storm has ended, 
roads have been cleared, and personnel become available.  The Town Administrator will be 
notified of the state of emergency.

The Fire Department will be notified of the need for their assistance to maintain all Fire and PD 
facilities during the storm.  The Fire Department will have access to available snow removal 
equipment at the Public Works facility.

SAU 39 will be notified of the inability for the DPW to maintain their facilities.  It will be 
recommended to SAU 39 to close schools if applicable.  There may be a need for an extended 

Page 87 of 219



period of closure dependent on how quickly cleanup of all Town roads and facilities can 
commence and/or conclude.  

Sidewalks will be cleared and treated after the storm has ended and personnel become available.

The Transfer Station will be closed if applicable.  As with SAU 39 there may be a need for an 
extended period of closure dependent on how quickly cleanup of all Town roads and facilities 
can commence and/or conclude.  

The following list summarizes what the expected Level 3 service should be:

Priorities During the Storm:

 Keep Main Roads open (Mont Vernon Rd., Merrimack Rd., etc.)
 Keep Thru Roads open (Nathan Lord Dr., Ravine Rd., etc.)

Non-Priorities During the Storm (will take longer than normal):                                                                                                                                                                                       

 Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads (When/if personnel become 
available, open one lane for emergency vehicles)

 Fire Department to maintain Fire/PD facilities
 Town Buildings, walkways, parking areas not maintained during 

storm
o Will recommend that Town Administrator close Town 

buildings if applicable (dependent on timing, duration, and 
severity of storm)

 Sidewalks not plowed during storm
 Schools will not be maintained during storm

o Will recommend to SAU 39 to close schools if applicable
 Close Transfer Station if applicable

Will be completed after storm (In order of priority):

 Cleanup Main Roads
 Cleanup Thru Roads
 Cleanup Cul-de-sacs / Non-Thru Roads
 Cleanup Town Buildings, walkways, parking areas
 Cleanup Sidewalks
 Cleanup School parking lots
 Cleanup Transfer Station

Page 88 of 219



Appendix A.        Amherst DPW Winter Operations Plan Notification Lists

 Level 1 contingency:
o Monday – Friday

 Dean Shankle, Town Administrator (603) XXX –YYYY
 Amy LaPointe, Library Director (603) XXX - YYYY
 Mark Reams, Police Chief
 Mathew Conley, AFR Chief

o Saturday & Sunday
 Amy LaPointe, Library Director (603) XXX – YYYY
 Officer in Charge of  PD Patrol
 On Call Officers AFR  

 Level 2 contingency:
o Monday – Friday

 Dean Shankle, Town Administrator (603) XXX –YYYY
 Amy LaPointe, Library Director (603) XXX - YYYY
 Mark Reams, Police Chief
 Mathew Conley, AFR Chief

o Saturday & Sunday
 Amy LaPointe, Library Director (603) XXX – YYYY
 Officer in Charge of PD Patrol
 On Call Officers AFR  

 Level 3 contingency:
o Sunday – Saturday

 Dean Shankle, Town Administrator (603) XXX –YYYY
 Amy Lapointe, Library Director (603) XXX –YYYY
 Mark Reams, Police Chief
 Mathew Conley, AFR Chief

Public communication use and content via: Code Red, Town Webpage and Public Broadcast 
Media (i.e.:WMUR) will be determined by collaboration among affected department heads, 
considering the expected duration, severity and date/day of the storm and personnel/equipment 
reduction.

Note:  The DPW and Schools have an established communication protocol that covers school 
closings/delays/early releases.  School personnel communicate messages to students/parents 
using existing means and methods.  

Page 89 of 219



TITLE XX
TRANSPORTATION

CHAPTER 231
CITIES, TOWNS AND VILLAGE DISTRICT HIGHWAYS

Liability of Municipalities

Section 231:92-a

    231:92-a Snow, Ice and Other Weather Hazards. – Notwithstanding RSA 231:90-92, a 
municipality or school district shall not be held liable for damages arising from insufficiencies or 
hazards on public highways, bridges, or sidewalks, even if it has actual notice or knowledge of 
them, when such hazards are caused solely by snow, ice, or other inclement weather, and the 
municipality's or school district's failure or delay in removing or mitigating such hazards is the 
result of its implementation, absent gross negligence or reckless disregard of the hazard, of a 
winter or inclement weather maintenance policy or set of priorities adopted in good faith by the 
officials responsible for such policy; and all municipal or school district employees and officials 
shall be presumed to be acting pursuant to such a policy or set of priorities, in the absence of 
proof to the contrary. 

Source. 1991, 385:6. 1998, 249:2, eff. Jan. 1, 1999.

Page 90 of 219



Covid-19 Risk Management 
Reminders and Guidance

46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

P R I M E X 3  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

Covid fatigue is real!  And for Primex3 Members on the front 
lines of the pandemic it’s a real challenge to stay on top of the 
many best practices to keep employees safe and to maintain 
operational readiness.  Employees and employers alike are tired 
of the “new normal” but now, more than ever perhaps, is a time 
to buckle down and reaffirm those best practices as positive 
Covid-19 numbers in the nation and in our state are rising.

Employers can prevent and slow the spread of Covid-19 in the  
workplace by reviewing and reaffirming proven strategies to slow the spread in an effort to prevent  
and reduce transmission among employees and to maintain operations. The following are important 
recommendations to help prevent the spread of Covid-19 in your workplace.
  
Actively encourage sick employees to stay home:

 § Employees who have symptoms should notify their supervisor and stay home.   
They should contact their healthcare provider about getting tested.

 § Employees should not return to work until cleared by a healthcare provider or 10-days  
from last symptom.

 § Employees who are well but who have a sick family member at home with COVID-19  
should notify their supervisor and follow quarantine guidance.

Quarantine Guidance - Isolation applies to people who are sick, and quarantine applies to people who  
have been potentially exposed. They both mean to stay home away from others, but the time required for  
each differs. 

Essential critical infrastructure employees may be permitted to work during the quarantine period if all of  
the following criteria are met:

 § The employee is not exhibiting any signs or symptoms of COVID-19; 

 § The employee is not a household contact to a confirmed case of COVID-19; 

 § The employee is deemed essential to the functioning of the business and substantial business  
impact would be experienced if the employee does not work in person;

 § The employee cannot conduct essential operations remotely; 

 § The employee self-quarantines for all other purposes other than reporting to work; 

 § The employee wears a mask, maintains at least 6 feet of separation from other employees  
and customers, and participates in daily health screening.

Page 1 of 6

Page 91 of 219



46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

Page 2 of 6

COVID-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance  (continued)

P R I M E X 3 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

Isolation and Quarantine Summary - This matrix is helpful when making a determination on all employee 
quarantine related matters.

§ Positive Test for COVID-19: Self-Isolate

§ Essential Travel: Essential travel includes personal safety, medical care, care of others, parental shared 
custody, for food, beverage or medication or for work. Employees who travel outside of the New England 
states for personal or leisure reasons cannot rely on this exemption.

Conduct daily in-person or virtual health checks (e.g., symptom and/or temperature screening) of 
employees before they enter the workplace.  The purpose of this screening tool is to minimize workplace 
transmission of COVID-19 by identifying employees’ potential exposures and responding with appropriate 
measures, which may include, for example, focused follow- up questions, working from home, temporary leave 
from the workplace, testing and/or fit-for-duty certification.

§ If implementing in-person health checks, conduct them safely and respectfully. Employers may use social
distancing, barrier or partition controls, or personal protective equipment (PPE) to protect the screener.

§ Maintain confidentiality of medical records from health checks.

New or 
unexplained 
symptom of 
COVID-19

Household Contact 
(highest risk) to 

someone suspected 
or confirmed to 

have COVID-19 in 
past 14 days

Non-Household 
Close Contact with 

someone suspected 
or confirmed to 

have COVID-19 in 
past 14 days

Traveled outside 
NH, VT, ME,  

MA, CT, RI or  
by cruise ship

Traveled within 
NH, VT, MA,  
CT, RI or ME  
or No Travel 

Isolate, Get Tested, 
If negative, Self-

Quarantine for 14 
days from last day 

of exposure (no 
exceptions) 

Isolate, Get Tested, 
if negative, Self-

Quarantine for 14 
days from last day 

of exposure (unless 
essential employee 
as outlined above) 

Isolate, Get Tested, 
if negative, Self-

Quarantine for 14 
days from last day 

of travel (unless 
essential travel – see 

definition below) 

Isolate, Get Tested, if 
negative then person 
can return to normal 

activities once without 
fever for at least 

24 hours (off fever 
reducing medications) 

and other  
symptoms improving

 Asymptomatic 

Self-Quarantine 
for 14 days from 

last day of exposure 
(no exceptions),  

Get tested 

Self-Quarantine  
for 14 days from 

last day of exposure 
(unless essential 

employee as 
outlined above), 

Get tested 

Self-Quarantine 
for 14 days from  
last day of travel 
(unless essential 

travel – see 
definition below) 

No restrictions

Page 92 of 219



46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

Page 3 of 6

COVID-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance  (continued)

P R I M E X 3 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

§ To prevent stigma and discrimination in the workplace, make employee health screenings as private as
possible.

§ As an alternative, there are health questionnaire Apps that can be downloaded and used by employees.

Separate sick employees:  Employees who become sick during the day should immediately be separated 
from other employees, customers, and visitors, and sent home.  Have a procedure in place for the safe 
transport of an employee who becomes sick while at work.  If the sick employees are waiting for their safe 
transport identify a space in your facility that can be used as an isolation space while the sick employee waits.

Sample Employee 
Health Screening  
Questionnaire:

Click here  
for a fillable  
Health Screening  
Questionnaire PDF 
from the Primex3 website.

Sample COVID-19 Health Screening Questionnaire

Date: _________________________________________________________________________

Name: ________________________________________________________________________

Department: ___________________________________________________________________ 

The purpose of this screening tool is to minimize workplace transmission of COVID-19 by identifying employees’ 
potential exposures and responding with appropriate measures, which may include, for example, focused follow-
up questions, working from home, temporary leave from the workplace, testing and/or fit-for-duty certification.   
To assist with these measures, the New Hampshire Bureau of Infectious Disease Control has developed an Isolation 
and Quarantine Summary for employers, which may serve as a situational assessment tool, at page four of the 
following (effective August 27, 2020): https://www.dhhs.nh.gov/dphs/cdcs/covid19/documents/employee-
travel-guidance.pdf

YES NO
1. I have one or more flu-like symptoms that I do not normally experience in connection 

with a pre-existing health condition, and which are causing me to feel unwell. Such 
symptoms may include, but are not necessarily limited to, unusual headache, fatigue, 
runny nose, muscle aches, sore throat, cough, fever, shortness of breath, change in 
sense of taste or smell, and chills.

2. A person residing or staying in my household has one or more symptoms described in
#1 causing them to feel unwell.

3. I answered no to #1 and #2, but I, or someone residing or staying in my household, did 
have symptoms within the last 72 hours.

4. I have had contact with an individual who has tested positive for COVID-19 within the
last 14 calendar days.

5. I have had contact with an individual who is experiencing flu symptoms such as those 
indicated in #1, but has not been tested for COVID-19 within the last 14 calendar days.

6. I have traveled outside of NH, ME, MA, CT, RI, or VT, within the last 14 days or I have
returned from international travel or travel on a cruise ship during that period.

7. Do you have a fever (over 100 degrees) or are you feeling feverish?

This form is a guidance document provided as a sample. Use of the form is not required by Primexs in connection 
with membership, coverage or services. The implementation of workplace screening is a local policy decision that 
should be based on consideration of current executive orders, public health guidelines and operational needs. The 
form may be modified; however, we would strongly recommend adherence to any applicable executive orders and 
public health guidelines. This is a general form. Certain occupations may be subject to different screening inquiries 
and procedures. To that point, for example, questions 4 and 5 may focus more appropriately on “unprotected 
contact” for public safety workers using PPE.

rev. 9/10/2020

Page 93 of 219

https://nhprimex.org/Security/login?BackURL=%2Fassets%2FUploads%2FPDFs%2FCOVID-19%2FSample-Health-Screening-Fillable-Questionnaire-9-10-2020.pdf


46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

Page 4 of 6

COVID-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance  (continued)

P R I M E X 3 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

Identify where and how workers might be exposed to COVID-19 at work. Employers are responsible 
for providing a safe and healthy workplace and that includes implementing measures to control the 
hazards related to COVID-19. Use appropriate combinations of controls including engineering controls, 
administrative controls, work practices, and personal protective equipment (PPE) to protect workers from 
Covid-19 hazards.

Engineering Controls 

 § Increase physical space between employees and customers (e.g. drive-through, partitions)

 § Deliver products through curbside pick-up or delivery.

 § Increase ventilation rates and the percentage of outdoor air in your HVAC systems. Engage with  
your HVAC maintenance provider to learn about increasing your ventilation in your facility.

Administrative Controls 

 § Implement flexible worksites (e.g. telework)

 § Implement flexible work hours (e.g. staggered shifts)

 § Deliver services remotely (e.g. phone, video, or web) 

Work Practices 

 § Routinely clean and disinfect all frequently touched surfaces  
such as workstations, keyboards, telephones, handrails, and doorknobs. 

 § Do not share phones, desks, offices, or other work tools and equipment, when possible. If necessary, 
clean and disinfect them before and after use. 

 § Provide disposable wipes so that commonly used surfaces (for example, doorknobs, keyboards, 
remote controls, desks, other work tools and equipment) can be wiped down by employees 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

 § Require staff wear face masks (face covers) to control  
the spread of respiratory droplets in the workplace. If 
needed, make masks available to staff. Face masks work!  

 § Provide disposable gloves for those operations  
where customer contact is anticipated. 

 § Check the CDC Website routinely for Workplace  
PPE Guidance. 

Implement basic infection control measures - Promote frequent and thorough hand washing by 
providing workers, customers, and worksite visitors with a place to wash their hands. In addition, provide 
alcohol-based hand sanitizers, too, but especially if soap and running water are not immediately available  

Page 94 of 219



46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

Page 5 of 6

COVID-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance  (continued)

P R I M E X 3 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

at a workplace or worksite. It is also important to train employees on respiratory etiquette, including covering 
coughs and sneezes. Some other basic infection control measures include:

 § Provide tissues and no-touch disposal receptacles.

 § Place hand sanitizers in multiple locations.

 § Place posters that encourage hand hygiene and proper hand washing. 

Take action if an employee is suspected or confirmed to have COVID-19 infection:

In most cases, you do not need to shut down your facility. Close off any areas used for prolonged periods of 
time by the sick person and disinfect them. Ideally, wait 24 hours before cleaning and disinfecting to minimize 
potential for other employees being exposed to respiratory droplets. If waiting 24 hours is not feasible, wait 
as long as possible. During this waiting period, open outside doors and windows to increase air circulation 
in these areas. To disinfect surfaces, use products that kill the coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) when used 
according to the label directions.

 § Always wear gloves when you are cleaning and disinfecting.

 § You may need to wear additional PPE depending on the  
setting and disinfectant product you are using. For each product  
you use, consult and follow the manufacturer’s instructions for use.

Determine which employees may have been exposed to the  
virus and may need to take additional precautions:

 § Inform employees of their possible exposure to COVID-19 in the 
 workplace but maintain confidentiality.

 § Follow the State Public Health guidelines for community-related exposure and instruct potentially 
exposed employees to stay home for 14 days, telework if possible, and self-monitor for symptoms.

 § To ensure continuity of operations of essential functions, CDC advises that critical infrastructure workers 
may be permitted to continue work following potential exposure to COVID-19, provided they remain 
asymptomatic and additional precautions are implemented to protect them and the community such 
as wearing a face mask at all times while in the workplace for 14 days after last exposure. 

Educate employees about steps they can take to protect themselves at work and at home:

 § Encourage employees to follow any new policies or procedures related to illness, cleaning and 
disinfecting, and work meetings and travel.

Implement flexible sick leave and supportive policies and practices:

 § Ensure that sick leave policies are flexible and consistent with public health guidance and that 
employees are aware of and understand these policies.

 § Maintain flexible policies that permit employees to stay home to care for a sick family member or 
take care of children due to school and childcare closures. Additional flexibilities might include giving 
advances on future sick leave and allowing employees to donate sick leave to each other.

Page 95 of 219



46 Donovan Street, Concord, NH  03301 800-698-2364          www.nprimex.org

Trust. Excellence. Service.

Page 6 of 6

COVID-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance  (continued)

P R I M E X 3 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  B U L L E T I N

For more information, please contact your Primex3 Risk Management  
Consultant at 800-698-2364 or email RiskManagement@nhprimex.org.

Rev. 10/29/2020

§ The Families First Coronavirus Response Act (FFCRA or Act) requires certain employers to provide
their employees with paid sick leave or expanded family and medical leave for specified reasons
related to COVID-19.

§ Review human resources policies to make sure that your policies and practices are consistent with
public health recommendations and with existing state and federal workplace laws.

§ Connect employees to employee assistance program (EAP) resources. Employees may need additional
social, behavioral, and other services.

Have Contingencies – Plan for absenteeism spikes. Increases in sick employees, those who stay home to  
care for sick family members, and those who must stay home to watch their children are likely to increase.  
This could substantially impact operations from snow plowing to public safety.

§ Plan to monitor and respond to absenteeism at the workplace.

§ Implement plans to continue your essential business functions
in case you experience higher-than-usual absenteeism.

§ Review mutual aid plans and inter-agency agreements.

§ Cross-train employees to perform essential functions so the
workplace can operate even if key employees are absent.

Public meetings and gatherings:

§ Use videoconferencing or teleconferencing when possible for work-related meetings and gatherings.

§ Cancel, adjust, or postpone large work-related meetings or gatherings that can only occur in-person
in accordance with state and local regulations and guidance.

§ When videoconferencing or teleconferencing is not possible, hold meetings in open, well-ventilated
spaces continuing to maintain a distance of 6 feet apart and wear cloth face coverings.

TAKE ACTION NOW TO FIGHT COVID FATIGUE!

Keep your employees and residents safe, maintain your operations and manage the risks. For more information 
on how to best address the management of Covid-19 in your workplace, please contact your risk management 
consultant today.

Plan
Ahead!

Page 96 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Old Manchester Road, shared 
roadway line stripping

Department: Public Works

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Eric Hanh

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
A shared roadway line stripping concept has been considered for several roads in 
Amherst.  Although the configuration would follow an approved Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) layout, they are few in number in our region.  Hanover NH may 
have the only comparable one near Amherst.  DPW has evaluated all road as they are 
rebuilt/repaved and in collaboration with the Bike/Ped committee considers three 
criteria to have a higher weight than others:  Mostly local or repeating traffic, low 
volumes and good lines of sight.  Old Manchester Rd. meets these criteria.   The plan 
was presented to the Highway Safety Committee at the Oct 27, 2020 meeting, 
discussed and unanimously approved to go to the BOS for discussion and possible 
approval. (See attached, last item.) Within the attached analysis and reccomendation 
document there is an error that works in favor of approval.  The posted speed limit on 
Old Manchester Rd is 30MPH NOT the 35 as written.   Old Manchester Rd was 
previously painted with a double yellow line for the entire length, since yellow paint is 
more expensive to apply than white, there is no anticipated additional cost to utilize the 
proposed painting plan.  
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
None
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
This project has the potential to showcase the layout for future roads and shared use. 
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
DPW recommends the trial of this shared roadway plan.
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I move that DPW is authorized to implement the shared roadway line stripping plan on 
Old Manchester Rd. for a trial period of one year, making a final recommendation to the 
highway safety committee and then the BOS. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

Page 97 of 219



ATTACHMENTS:
1. Final Old Manchester Road Proposal Advisory Shoulders 10-28-2020
2. AHSC Recommendations, 10-27-2020

Page 98 of 219



C. George Bower, Ph.D.   GBower@ESRScience.com
183 Mack Hill Road  603-673-5732
Amherst, New Hampshire  03031 

MEMO

TO: Chris Buchanan, Chairman

Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

FROM: George Bower

DATE: October 27, 2020

SUBJECT: Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

CC: Eric Hahn, Director of Public Works, Town of Amherst, NH

As a member of the Town of Amherst Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee, I have prepared, per

your request, a technical assessment of the feasibility of installing Advisory Shoulders on the newly

resurfaced Old Manchester Road. Based on my review of technical documents and the roadway

environment, I believe that the project can be implemented in substantial compliance with  the

national design guidance provided by the USDOT Federal Highway Administration in ‘Small Town

and Rural Multimodal Networks’.

Proposal

The Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee is proposing that the Town of Amherst install

Advisory Shoulders on the newly resurfaced Old Manchester Road to support multimodal uses  from

the intersection of Walnut Hill Road to the eastern intersection with NH Route 101. This proposal

is consistent with the Multimodal Master Plan adopted by the Town in 2019.

The Advisory Shoulders on both sides of the roadway would provide for a minimum 12 foot wide

bi-directional center travel lane for vehicle use and minimum five (5) foot wide Advisory Shoulders

for bicycle and pedestrian use. See attachments for typical layout.

After implementation of the proposed Advisory Shoulders, Old Manchester Road would cease

functioning as a standard low volume, two-lane rural road. It would become the functional equivalent

of Austin Road, with the advantages of the paved surface with delineated travel lanes for vehicles

and multimodal users. 

There is no construction cost to this proposed improvement to Old Manchester Road beyond the

planned striping other than information signs/markings.

Rationale

1. The Town of Amherst Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee has received input from

numerous residents about the need to develop facilities for safe multimodal travel.

2. The recent resurfacing of Old Manchester Road creates a unique opportunity to implement

and test the use of Advisory Shoulders on a local Town road.

Page 99 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 2

3. Old Manchester Road has a very low Average Daily Traffic (ADT) traffic volumes

(estimated at < 700 vehicles per day), which consists of local residents and delivery/service

vehicles.

4. The road does not serve through traffic.

5. The road has generally good site distance that is sufficient to support the multimodal user

given the predominance of local vehicle trips.

6. The paved surface provides adequate road width to allow a single vehicle to pass pedestrians

and bicyclists without leaving the center lane.

7. There are no recorded accidents on Old Manchester Road between vehicles and other

roadway users (multimodal taffic). 

8. As a local road serving only residential development there is significant pedestrian demand

and Old Manchester Road is used as a bypass of RT-101 for east-west bicycle traffic.

9. The posted Speed Limit is 35MPH and generally well observed.

10. There are no areas for on-street parking.

11. The implementation of Advisory Shoulders at this time will serve as a demonstration on a

low volume town road, which can be easily reversed when the road is reconstructed in 3-4

years if needed.

Advisory Shoulder-Benefits

1. Provide for the delineation of discrete, but non-exclusive travel paths for multimodal users

and a controlled, shared lane for two-way vehicle traffic.

2. The layout of the Advisory Shoulders tend to reduce motor vehicle travel speeds.

3. Increases predictability of multimodal users by clarifying the desired lateral positioning of

all users.

4. Functions well within a rural and small town traffic and land use plan by establishing a

priority for non-motor vehicle uses.

5. Provides a delineated space on a roadway where the right of way is otherwise too narrow for

dedicated side paths.

6. Minimizes potential roadway impacts to visual or natural resources.

7. Provides a dedicated surface for multimodal uses without increasing stormwater discharge,

changes to drainage structures or impediments to snow removal.

8. May function as an interim measure where future plans include shoulder widening or the

construction of traffic calming features.

Feasibility Assessment

A site locus showing the Old Manchester Road locations and elevation profile can be found in the

attachments. The proposed Advisory Shoulders on Old Manchester Road can be constructed in

conformance with  the national design guidance provided by the USDOT Federal Highway

Administration in ‘Small Town and Rural Multimodal Networks, FHWA-HEP 17-024, December

2016. 

Page 100 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 3

Roadway Environment

1. Horizontal and vertical alignment varies along the 1.55 mile road but these elements do not

pose any significant risks to multimodal users due to the low vehicular volumes.

2. Sight distance along Old Manchester Road is typical of a rural local road and at points of

constraint, exceeds 250 feet for vehicle drivers. Two segments with restricted sight distance

should be mitigated using signage or pavement markings.

3. Surface conditions are excellent as a result of the recent paving.

4. Shoulders vary in width outside of the paved surface but they are suitable for use as a

‘refuge’ for pedestrians, and in limited areas, bicyclists. 

5. A limited number of obstructions consisting of utility poles and mailboxes, situated within

3 feet of the edge of pavement, currently exist and pose a risk of collision for bicyclists if

forced off of the pavement. 

6. Old Manchester Road serves local traffic and is not a route for bypass or through traffic. The

roadway has very low daily and peak hour volume that is distributed across two primary and

one minor intersection providing access to RT-101.

Recommendations

Implementation of safe and functional Advisory Shoulders on Old Manchester Road requires the

application of a series of design elements that are specific to this roadway environment. My

recommendations to the BPAC are as follows.

1. Establish the dimensions of the vehicle lane by using the center point of the pavement as the

reference for the minimum 12 ft bi-directional travel lane. The outside of 12 foot vehicle bi-

directional lane should be delineated using a white dashed line placed 6 feet to the left of the

center point and 6 feet to the right of the center point to establish a consistent width for the

length of Old Manchester Road.

2. The Advisory Shoulders on the outside of the center vehicle travel lane should be a minimum

of five feet wide. By maintaining the fixed width center travel lane, where the pavement

exceeds the standard 22 foot dimension, the Advisory Shoulders will be wider.

3. Signage should be installed at the Walnut Hill Rd intersection and RT-101 intersection

entrances to inform vehicle drivers of the presence of the Advisory Shoulders and the use of

the sides of the roadway by pedestrians and cyclists.

4. Warning/Information signs should be installed at three points on Old Manchester Road

where there are potential vehicle/pedestrian conflicts:

a. At the curve near 10 Old Manchester Rd

b. At the crest of the hill near 20 Old Manchester Rd

c. At the crest of the hill near 60 Old Manchester Rd

5. A preferred alternative to the use of signs is to paint a series of diagrammatic pedestrian

symbols on the pavement at 150 foot intervals through the area of travel constraint.

6. The speed limit should be reduced from the posted 35mph to 25mph to minimize vehicle and

multimodal user conflicts. The 10 mph reduction in speed increases the travel time across

the 1.55 mile length of Old Manchester Road by approximately 63 seconds. The average

increase in motor vehicle travel time would be 31.5 seconds.

Page 101 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 4

7. The Town should maintain a program of selective brush trimming to optimize sight distance

for all users. 

8. Pavement/shoulder edge maintenance should be maintained to minimize bicycle hazards.

9. Shoulder maintenance should be performed to mow/remove growth that would inhibit

pedestrians from moving off of the Advisory Shoulders.

10. The BPAC should prepare and distribute information to all residents about the design,

function and use of the Advisory Shoulders and solicit feedback about performance.

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A: Typical Advisory Shoulder Layouts and Functional Use

Attachment B: Multimodal Signs and Pavement Markings

Attachment C:  Old Manchester Road Site Locus and Elevation Profile

Page 102 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 5

ATTACHMENT A 

TYPICAL ADVISORY SHOULDER LAYOUTS AND FUNCTIONAL USE

Page 103 of 219



Advisory Shoulders, Hanover NH
Valley Street, Hanover, New Hampshire. Installed in 2014, reevaluation study completed in 2016 and in permanent use with additional streets in consideration. 

Page 104 of 219



Advisory Shoulders, Hanover NH
Valley Street, Hanover, New Hampshire. Installed in 2014, reevaluation study completed in 2016 and in permanent use with additional streets in consideration. 

Page 105 of 219



Advisory Shoulders

Page 106 of 219



Advisory Shoulder Footprint Requirements

Page 107 of 219



Advisory Shoulder Usage

Page 108 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 11

ATTACHMENT B

MULTIMODAL SIGNS AND PAVEMENT MARKINGS

Page 109 of 219



Advisory Shoulders Sign
MUTCD Signage currently in approval process   

Page 110 of 219



Advisory Shoulders in a 5’-12’-5’ configuration with optional MUTCD “helmeted bicyclist symbol” and “pedestrian symbol”
Only necessary in select locations.

Page 111 of 219



Advisory Shoulders in a 5’-12’-5’ configuration with optimal Terra Cotta coloring of advisory lanes
Optimal configuration provided for reference, as coloring not requested for Old Manchester Road 

Page 112 of 219



Advisory Shoulders in a 5’-12’-5’ configuration with measurements
FHWA MTUCD application of broken line markings is to indicate permissive conditions (MUTCD Sec. 3A.06)

Page 113 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH - Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Old Manchester Road Advisory Shoulder Technical Assessment

Page 14

ATTACHMENT C

OLD MANCHESTER ROAD SITE LOCUS AND ELEVATION PROFILE

Page 114 of 219



Page 115 of 219



Page 116 of 219



Memorandum
To: Board of Selectmen
Cc: Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.

From: Mark O. Reams, Chief of Police

Date: November 03, 2020

Re: Highway Safety Committee Recommendations

________________________________________________________________________

On behalf of Amherst Highway Safety Committee, I would like to pass along four recommendations which our 
committee discussed on October 27, 2020.  Beneath each recommendation, I have included our Committee’s 
draft minutes for your review and consideration.

1. Establish a Town Ordinance to designate the portion of Manchester Road between Mack Hill 
Road and Limbo Lane a 30 mph zone:

Discussion began over the lack of a formal speed zone designation for the portion of Manchester 
Road located between the intersections of Mack Hill Road and Limbo Lane, though a speed limit of 
25 mph had been set some years ago, pursuant to Town Ordinance, for the portion of Manchester 
Road extending from Main Street to the intersection of Mack Hill Road.  By NH state statute, this 
unposted section of Manchester Road represents an Urban Residence District and therefore qualifies 
for posting as a 30 mph zone.  However, the Committee was asked by one or more residents of 
Manchester Road to consider posting this section as a 25 mph zone.  Pursuant to NH state statute, 
the Committee conducted the required traffic study to determine if this section of Manchester Road 
met the requirements for consideration as a 25 mph zone.  Traffic data was collected over the course 
of two weeks, however, that data did not support consideration for a 25 mph zone according to the 
federal Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) to which the Committee and Town look 
for guidance.  Specifically, MUTCD guidelines state that the posted speed limit should be within +/- 5 
mph of the 85th Percentile Speed which in this case was determined to be 38 mph.  Other additional 
factors, such as a favorable sight distance and the lack of any accidents in the preceding two years 
also worked against the 25 mph designation.  DPW Director Hahn made a motion to recommend that 
the Board of Selectmen designate the section of Manchester Road between Mack Hill Road and 
Limbo Lane a 30 mph zone in accordance with statutory guidance. AFR Chief Conley seconded the 
motion, and all were in favor (5-0).

2. Establish a Town Ordinance to designate the section of Grater Road from the intersection with 
South Grater Road to a point 600’ north as a No Parking Zone:

At the request of the Amherst Conservation Commission, the Committee was asked to consider the 
placement of permanent No Parking signs along the roughly 600’ portion of Grater Road (north of 
South Grater Road) which provides access to the Grater Woods ACC trailhead parking lot.  
Temporary No Parking signs had been posted last spring due to record turnout by hikers during the 

Page 117 of 219



onset of Covid-19 shutdowns and emergency orders.  The ACC asked that trail parking be restricted 
to both the main and smaller parking areas off of Grater Road, and that vehicles not be allowed to 
park along Grater Road due to safety concerns over congestion and obstruction of emergency 
vehicle ingress/egress.  Discussion amongst the Committee recognized and supported this measure.  
Selectman D’Angelo made a motion to post the 600 foot section of Grater Road –north of South 
Grater Road- a no parking zone.  AFR Chief Conley seconded the motion, and all were in favor (5-0).

3. Establish a Town Ordinance to erect Stop Signs at the intersections of Madison Lane @ 
Georgetown Drive, and Madison lane @ Williamsburg Drive:

One or more residents of Madison Lane reported that local delivery traffic has increased in recent 
months, as has outdoor walking, biking, and children playing.  This increased traffic has caused 
increased concern for residents over a previously unreported situation involving the lack of stop signs 
at either end of Madison Lane.  The Committee reviewed photographs of the area and noted that 
although both ends of Madison Lane –i.e., the intersection with Williamsburg Drive on one end, and 
with Georgetown Drive on the other- are appropriately marked with a painted stop line, but with no 
corresponding Stop Signs posted.   It has been the Committee’s position in recent recommendations 
to the Board of Selectmen that neighborhoods be properly posted with both the stop line and stop 
sign in a manner appropriate and consistent with similar neighborhood roadways throughout town.  
AFR Chief Conley made a motion to post a stop sign at each end of Madison Lane, which was 
seconded by Selectman D’Angelo.  All were in favor (5-0)

4. Authorize the DPW Director to enact road striping changes along Old Manchester Road:

DPW Director Hahn proposed a road striping change for Old Manchester Road in accordance with 
previously recommended changes presented by the Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee (BPAC).  
Specifically, that instead of a double yellow center line, and pair of Advisory Shoulders be 
implemented.  Director Hahn stated that the following proposed changes would be consistent with 
MUTCD guidelines as that particular roadway does not require a center dividing line.  Principle 
recommendations from representatives Buchanan and Bowers were as follows:

1. Establish the dimensions of the vehicle lane by using the center point of the pavement as the 
reference for the minimum 12 ft bi-directional travel lane. The outside of 12 foot vehicle bi-directional 
lane should be delineated using a white dashed line placed 6 feet to the left of the center point and 6 
feet to the right of the center point to establish a consistent width for the length of Old Manchester 
Road. 
2. The Advisory Shoulders on the outside of the center vehicle travel lane should be a minimum of 
five feet wide. Where the pavement exceeds the standard 22 foot dimension, the Advisory Shoulders 
will be wider. 
3. Signage should be installed at the Walnut Hill Rd intersection and RT-101 intersection entrances to 
inform vehicle drivers of the presence of the Advisory Shoulders and the use of the sides of the 
roadway by pedestrians and cyclists. 
4. Warning/Information signs should be installed at three points on Old Manchester Road where 
there are potential vehicle/pedestrian conflicts: a. At the curve near 10 Old Manchester Rd b. At the 
crest of the hill near 20 Old Manchester Rd c. At the crest of the hill near 60 Old Manchester Rd.

BPAC concerns regarding the speed limit on Old Manchester Road were based upon a belief that 
the road is a posted 35 mph zone; however, the Committee clarified the fact that the road is actually 
a posted 30 mph zone which BPAC representatives found consistent with the implementation of this 
new road marking proposition.  Chief Reams proposed that Old Manchester Road be striped with 
Advisory Shoulders in accordance with BPAC and DPW recommendations.  The motion was 
seconded by AFR Chief Conley, and all were in favor (5-0)

Thank you for your consideration.

Page 118 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Pocket Park/Fishing Deck Lot 24-11 
& Lot 24-1

Department: Parks & Recreation 
Department

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Craig Fraley

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The Recreation Department was contacted by a resident who would like to create a 
small pocket park utilizing Lot 24-11 on Baboosic Lake.  This small lot is located on 
Broadway.  The resident is interested in creating an area where residents can 
fish.  Currently there is not a designated area where Amherst Residents can fish 
from.  The Parks and Recreation Department would like to create a park that has ADA 
accessible deck where anyone could go and fish from.  Adjacent to the lot the 
department would like to make one handicap accessible parking spot in the location 
known as the "Corner Park"  

This project would be done all in house with the exceptions for the permits necessary 
to build the fishing pier close to the water.  Meridian Land Services has been hired to 
assist the department with the permitting process.  

Budget::
Consulting/Permitting Fees -  $1600
Construction Fees -  $6000
Fencing - $700
Signage - $300

William Widmer has come forward to give up to $9,950 towards this project.  We are 
positive that we will be able to keep this project within budget and therefor will not cost 
the taxpayer additional money.  Mr. Widmer would like to make the donation prior to 
12/31/2020 and the project will be completed in the Spring of 2021.  Any money that is 
not used for the project would go back to Mr. Widmer.  

 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
A anonymous donor has come forward to give up to $9,950 towards this project.  We 
are positive that we will be able to keep this project within budget and therefor will not 
cost the taxpayer additional money.  
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 

Page 119 of 219



DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
The Recreation Department feels this would be a great addition to the community.  The 
ability to have an accessible fishing area in Amherst will be a great asset.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
I make a motion that we accept Mr. Widmer's donation of up to $9,950 and move 
forward with the proposal to build a Pocket Park on Parcel 24-11 as well as a ADA 
accessible parking space on parcel 24-1.  
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Accessible Fishing Deck

Page 120 of 219



Accessible Fishing Deck 
Baboosic Lake Town Beach

35 Broadway

Page 121 of 219



Town owned property 
Located at 35 Broadway 
Lot 24-11 and 24-1

Page 122 of 219



Styles of Fishing Decks

• Fishing Deck will be ADA accessible from the road.
• Deck area will not protrude into the water way.
• This will allow for area residents to have a sitting 

view of the lake without having to use the Amherst 
Town Beach

• The Deck will make it difficult to launch a boat from 
this parcel of land. 

• Signage will include this park is for Amherst 
Residents only.

Page 123 of 219



What is currently at this location??

Page 124 of 219



Project Timeline

 December Contract with Meridian Land Services to obtain necessary wetland.

 Accept a Donation from William Widmer for no more than $9,950 (before 
12/31/2020).

 Spring 2021 – Construction of Decking area, installation of fence and pathway 
to deck.

 Installing 1 ADA Accessible parking space on lot 24-1.

Page 125 of 219



Project Budget

 Permitting fee +/- $1600

 Construction of Fishing Deck $6000

 Fencing $700

 Signage $300

Total Project $8,600

Page 126 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Federal / State Grant: Emergency 
Operations Plan and the Hazard Mitigation 
Plan

Department: Fire Rescue

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Matt Conley

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
AFR is currently working on updating the Emergency Operations Plan and the Hazard 
Mitigation Plan. The grant I am asking you to sign off on is for the Hazard Mitigation 
Plan. This plan is very complex and the State of NH received the federal funding for it 
of which is passed down to the town. The balance of the cost associated with the 
updating of the plan comes from the state leaving the town with no out of pocket 
expenses.
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
There isn't a budget impact as the expenses are covered the the grant.
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
None
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
Whereas the Hazard Mitigation Plan is complex and it covers a widespread of hazards 
including flooding and high hazard properties such as the propane tank farm in the 
industrial park, I am recommending we take advantage of the funding and having an 
outside contracting company assist with the update of our plan. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
To move forward with accepting the grant funding for the completion of the update.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Hazard Mitigation Grant

Page 127 of 219



Page 128 of 219



Page 129 of 219



Page 130 of 219



Page 131 of 219



Page 132 of 219



Page 133 of 219



Page 134 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Assessing Department: Assessing
Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
Suggested Motion:

A. Land Use Change Tax
Attached is a land use change tax release for Tax Map 005 Lot 100-000. A lot line 
adjustment was completed, transferring 6.67 acres of current use land from Map ID: 
005-100-000 to 005-088-001. The portion which was sold was less than 10 acres and 
not contiguous with other lots in current use under identical ownership. A letter was 
sent to the landowner prior to the transfer of land, informing them of the deadline to put 
the land in current use. When the actual transfer occurred on June 22, 2020, the 
purchaser had 60 days to notify the town of their intent to continue the current use 
(CUB 307.01 (C)(1)B.) As no notification was received in the time frame required under 
Current Use Rules a Land Use Change Tax has been calculated In the amount of 
$6,300, which represents 10% of the full and true market value of $63,000.

Suggested Motion A~ Therefore, I move to approve the Land Use Change Tax in the 
amount of $6,300 for Tax Map 005 Lot 100-000, 3 Stonewall Crossing Road.

B. DRA Sales Ratio Survey 2020
I have completed a review of the information for the sales ratio survey and a filled out 
copy has been provided to Michele for the Board of Selectmen to review. Please note 
that a certification form also needs to be signed by the Board of Selectmen, indicating 
that the data provided to the DRA is complete and accurate to the best of their 
knowledge. If during review any questions arise, please let me know.
A draft analysis of the sales data was performed through the State’s data entry 

Page 135 of 219



program. Overall, the town’s assessment to sale median ratio is expected to be about 
78% for the 2020 tax year. The 257 valid sales indicate a COD of approximately 12.30 
with the PRD at 1.02. The above listed figures are expected to be similar (although not 
exact as different sales may be included/excluded) to the DRA’s analysis, which should 
be completed between late fall 2020 to early spring of 2021. Once the attached form is 
signed the final sales data will be submitted to the Department of Revenue.
The above statistics indicate that the real estate market remains very strong. Due to the 
high demand and continued low supply of houses on the market, we have seen a sharp 
increase in sale prices. The preliminary indications meet the current Department of 
Revenue Assessment Review Guidelines regarding statistics.

Suggested Motion B~ Therefore, I move to accept and sign, the 2020 DRA Sales 
Ratio Study.

C. Levy of December 2020 Tax Warrant
The attached is a Levy of 2020 Tax Warrant directing the Tax Collector to collect the 
taxes in the list herewith committed in the sum of $25, 971,350.00. The Department of 
Revenue requires the Warrant be signed by the governing Board of Selectmen.

Suggested Motion C~ Therefore, I move to approve and sign the December 2020 Tax 
Warrant in the amount of
$25,971,350.00.

D. Yield Tax, Map 002, Lot 034-001, 2 Howe Drive
The attached is a Timber Tax Levy and Certification of Yield Tax to be collected by the 
Tax Collector for the cutting of timber. The Department of Revenue provides the 
stumpage values that are used to calculate the tax.

Suggested Motion D~ Therefore, I move to approve and sign the Timber Tax Levy 
and Certification of Yield Tax in the amount of $2.84 for Map 002, Lot 034-001, 2 Howe 
Drive.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Assessing Documents Nov 9 2020 BOS

Page 136 of 219



Page 137 of 219



Page 138 of 219



Page 139 of 219



Page 140 of 219



Page 141 of 219



Page 142 of 219



Page 143 of 219



Page 144 of 219



Page 145 of 219



Page 146 of 219



Page 147 of 219



Page 148 of 219



Page 149 of 219



Page 150 of 219



Page 151 of 219



Page 152 of 219



Page 153 of 219



Page 154 of 219



Page 155 of 219



Page 156 of 219



Page 157 of 219



Page 158 of 219



Page 159 of 219



Page 160 of 219



Page 161 of 219



Page 162 of 219



Page 163 of 219



Page 164 of 219



Page 165 of 219



Page 166 of 219



Page 167 of 219



Page 168 of 219



Page 169 of 219



Page 170 of 219



Page 171 of 219



Page 172 of 219



Page 173 of 219



Page 174 of 219



Page 175 of 219



Page 176 of 219



Page 177 of 219



Page 178 of 219



Page 179 of 219



Page 180 of 219



Page 181 of 219



Page 182 of 219



Page 183 of 219



Page 184 of 219



Page 185 of 219



Page 186 of 219



Page 187 of 219



Page 188 of 219



Page 189 of 219



Page 190 of 219



Page 191 of 219



Page 192 of 219



Page 193 of 219



Page 194 of 219



Page 195 of 219



Page 196 of 219



Page 197 of 219



Page 198 of 219



Page 199 of 219



Page 200 of 219



Page 201 of 219



Page 202 of 219



Page 203 of 219



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

STAFF REPORT

Title: Accounts Payable and Payroll 
Manifests and BOS October 23 and 26, 
2020 Meeting Minutes

Department: Finance Department

Meeting Date: November 9, 2020 Staff Contact: Cheryl Eastman

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
 
BUDGET IMPACT:
(Include general ledger account numbers)   
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:
 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:
 
SUGGESTED MOTION:
Approvals:
 
 Payroll
   AP1~ I move to approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $223,557.24 
dated November 5, 2020, subject to review and audit.
 
 AP2 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $739.02 
dated November 5, 2020, subject to review and audit.
 
 Accounts Payable 
 
 AP3 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$221,033.36 dated October 28, 2020, subject to review and audit.
 
 AP4 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$2,163,008.30 dated October 29, 2020, subject to review and audit (NH DMV).
 
 AP5 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY21Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$3,024,202.00 dated November 1, 2020, subject to review and audit (School 
disbursements).
 
 
Minutes 

Page 204 of 219



 ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of October 23, 2020.
 ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of October 26, 2020.
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:

ATTACHMENTS:
1. 2020.10.23_BOS_MINUTES 
2. 2020.10.26_BOS_MINUTES

Page 205 of 219



 
 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 

2 Main Street 

Monday, October 23, 2020 3:00PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 

Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 3:02 p.m. 2 
 3 

Attendees by Zoom conference call: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Dwight Brew, 4 
Selectman Reed Panasiti, Selectman John D’Angelo, and Selectman Tom Grella. 5 

Also present: Town Administrator Dean Shankle, Tax Collector, Gail Stout, Finance 6 
Director, Cheryl Eastman, and Kristan Patenaude, minute taker 7 

 8 
Other attendees and the public accessed the meeting via Zoom. 9 
 10 

Chairman Lyon explained that, pursuant to the State of Emergency declared by the 11 
Governor as a result of the COVID19 pandemic and in accordance with his Emergency 12 

Order #12, this meeting is authorized to take place electronically. There is no physical 13 
location to observe and listen to this meeting.  However, in accordance with the 14 
Emergency Order, we are: 15 

Utilizing Zoom teleconferencing for this meeting.  All members of the Board have the 16 
ability to communicate during the meeting through this platform and the public has access 17 

to contemporaneously listen and if necessary participate in the meeting by dialing +1 301 18 

715 8592 and using a webinar ID of 868-0502-9531 or by using the link contained in the 19 

agenda posted at amherstnh.gov. 20 
 21 

Notice of the meeting and means to access it were previously posted in accordance with 22 
law. Members of the public that have phoned into the meeting can raise their hand by 23 
pressing the #9 on their phone, in order to make it known that they would like to speak to 24 

the Board. If anyone has a problem accessing the meeting, please call 603-440-8248 for 25 
assistance. In the event the public is unable to access the meeting, the meeting will be 26 

adjourned and rescheduled.  27 
 28 
All votes will be taken by roll call and for ease, in alphabetical order. 29 
Lastly, the meeting is being recorded and will be replayed on ACATV. 30 

 31 
The Board started by taking a roll call vote and stating if they were alone. 32 
 33 

Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – present; Selectman D’Angelo – present; Selectman 34 
Grella – present; Selectman Panasiti – present; Chairman Lyon – present. All noted 35 
themselves as being alone. 36 
 37 
2. Tax Rate Setting 38 

Page 206 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.23 

 PAGE 2 OF 4 

 

Town Administrator Dean Shankle reviewed the prior year and current year tax rates with the 39 

Board. He explained that last year’s Town portion of the tax rate was $5.60. If the Board 40 
decides to vote to follow its policy per usual, the Town portion of this year’s tax rate will be 41 
$5.72. The unassigned fund balance currently sits at $1,446,494 above the 10% specified in 42 
the boards Fund Balance Policy. Last year’s total tax rate was $26.96. If the Board follows its 43 
policy and sets the Town portion of the tax rate at $5.72, the overall tax rate would rise to 44 

$28.60, about a 6% increase. 45 
 46 
Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Board could also choose to keep the Town 47 
portion of the tax rate the same, at $5.60. He believes that, given the size of the unassigned 48 
fund balance, this is more of a political decision than a financial one. If the Board chose to 49 

keep the Town portion of the tax rate stagnant this year, there would still be more than 10% of 50 
the overall budget left in the unassigned fund balance. 51 
 52 

Finance Director, Cheryl Eastman, agreed that the Board could decide to keep the Town 53 
portion of the tax rate the same and feel confident that the unassigned fund balance is healthy 54 
enough to do so. 55 

 56 
Chairman Lyon stated that the actual amount of the total retained unassigned fund balance is 57 
$7,195,027. This is $1,446,494 in excess of the policy that suggests a 10% retention rate. If 58 

the Board chooses to follow the policy and increase the Town’s portion of the tax rate to 59 
$5.72, this would be an increase of about $0.12/$1,000, or about $40 on the average $350,000 60 

home. 61 
 62 
Chairman Lyon explained that one idea is to increase the amount of approximately $723,000 63 

returned to the taxpayers, to approximately $940,000, in order to keep the Town’s portion of 64 

the tax rate level at $5.60. 65 
 66 
Selectman Brew stated that he is having a hard time understanding why the unassigned fund 67 

balance sits approximately $1,446,000 above the target amount. He explained that the Board 68 
followed it’s 10% policy last year. He is confused as to what portion of an excess in under-69 

expended budget or revenue exceeding the projected amount caused this to happen. 70 
 71 
Cheryl Eastman explained that the Board used approximately $160,000 last year to offset the 72 
tax rate, out of the unassigned fund balance. There may have been some changes when the 73 
audit adjustments were complete. She explained that she did not have those exact numbers in 74 

front of her. 75 
 76 
Dwight Brew stated that he was very uncomfortable making any decisions without better 77 

understanding these numbers. 78 
 79 
In response to a question from Dwight Brew, Gail Stout, Tax Collector, stated that, if the 80 
Board waits to hear these numbers before setting the tax rate, it may delay tax bills by a 81 

couple of days. 82 
 83 
Dwight Brew stated that he is surprised the Town keeps exceeding its target number for the 84 

unassigned fund balance by such large numbers. He is concerned about increasing the amount 85 

Page 207 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.23 

 PAGE 3 OF 4 

 

returned to artificially reduce tax rates at the expense of increasing next year’s tax rate, or the 86 

budget currently being worked on. He recommends that the Board stick with its current policy 87 
and not increase the amount artificially. 88 
 89 
Selectman D’Angelo noted that the estimated fund balance at the end of the year was 90 
$7,135,844. This is an excess of approximately $690,000 over the target at the end of last 91 

year. He explained that he is not a fan of the current policy and believes it’s a good idea to use 92 
the excess funds to keep the Town’s portion of the tax rate flat for this year. He believes that 93 
the Schools’ portion is being raised quite a bit, and it will help the citizens to keep the Town’s 94 
portion flat. 95 
 96 

Selectman Grella agreed that he believes it’s a good idea to not raise the Town’s portion of the 97 
tax rate this year. He believes some amount of the financial burden should be shifted to the 98 
School departments at some point because their portion keeps increasing each year. 99 

 100 
Selectman Panasiti stated that he believes it would be best to keep the Town’s portion of the 101 
tax rate the same. He would also like to see how the Schools are going to justify a $1.61 102 

increase in the tax rate on an average $350,000. He explained that, if the Board chooses to 103 
take the approximately $940,000 to help keep the Town’s portion of the tax rate the same, 104 
there will still be about $500,000-$600,000 left above the 10%. He suggested that the Board 105 

look into using some of that excess amount for a Warrant Article to help fund the additional 106 
renovations needed for the Police Station. The Town would then still have about $306,000 to 107 

put back into the unassigned fund balance. 108 
 109 
Chairman Lyon stated that he would rather not make a choice about the proposed new 110 

Warrant Article now. He stated that keeping the tax rate level is great, but it is important to 111 

consider what that could impact down the road. The policy tries to eliminate potential spikes, 112 
especially within this volatile year for spending. He agrees that the Board needs to be able to 113 
review the actual numbers to determine what the actual balance of the unassigned fund 114 

balance is.  115 
 116 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to table 117 
this discussion to the Monday Board meeting. 118 
 119 
Selectman Brew noted that he can see the idea of returning $940,000 as a reasonable one, 120 
even though it isn’t his first choice. 121 

 122 
Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – nay; Selectman Grella – aye; 123 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 4-1-0; motion carried. 124 

 125 
3. Old/New Business 126 

Selectman Brew noted that the other Selectmen have received the draft Master Plan survey 127 
and that there is still a chance to comment on it. 128 

 129 
Selectman D’Angelo noted that the SAU’s Joint Facilities Committee recently met. Their 130 
current budget numbers are about 10% less than last presented, but the facilities portion alone 131 

Page 208 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.23 

 PAGE 4 OF 4 

 

will still have an impact of about $3/$1,000 on the average house in Town. It will be up to the 132 

School Boards to decide if these items will appear on the ballot in March. 133 
 134 
In response to a question from Selectman Brew, Selectman D’Angelo stated that this 135 
$3/$1,000 increase would be as part of a 30-year bond. 136 
 137 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman Brew to adjourn 138 
the meeting at 3:37pm. 139 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 140 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 141 

 142 

 143 
 144 

      145 

NEXT MEETING: Monday, October 26, 2020  146 
 147 

 148 

    149 
_________________________       __________________ 150 
Selectman Reed Panasiti Date 151 

Page 209 of 219



 
 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 

2 Main Street 

Monday, October 26, 2020 6:30PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 

Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 2 
 3 

Attendees by Zoom conference call: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Dwight Brew, 4 
Selectman Reed Panasiti, Selectman John D’Angelo, and Selectman Tom Grella. 5 

Also present: Town Administrator Dean Shankle and Kristan Patenaude, minute taker 6 
 7 

Ways & Means Committee Members present: Lisa Eastland (Chair), Danielle Pray (co-8 
chair), Scott Tuthill, Matt Seiler, Bill Loscocco, Mike Parisi, James Kuhnert, Lori Mix 9 
(alternate). 10 

 11 
Other attendees and the public accessed the meeting via Zoom. 12 

 13 
Chairman Lyon explained that, pursuant to the State of Emergency declared by the 14 
Governor as a result of the COVID19 pandemic and in accordance with his Emergency 15 

Order #12, this meeting is authorized to take place electronically. There is no physical 16 
location to observe and listen to this meeting.  However, in accordance with the 17 

Emergency Order, we are: 18 

 19 

Utilizing Zoom teleconferencing for this meeting.  All members of the Board have the 20 
ability to communicate during the meeting through this platform and the public has access 21 

to contemporaneously listen and if necessary participate in the meeting by dialing +1 312 22 
626 6799 and using a webinar ID of 870-9931-4015 or by using the link contained in the 23 
agenda posted at amherstnh.gov. 24 

 25 
Notice of the meeting and means to access it were previously posted in accordance with 26 

law. Members of the public that have phoned into the meeting can raise their hand by 27 
pressing the #9 on their phone, in order to make it known that they would like to speak to 28 
the Board. If anyone has a problem accessing the meeting, please call 603-440-8248 for 29 
assistance. In the event the public is unable to access the meeting, the meeting will be 30 

adjourned and rescheduled.  31 
 32 
All votes will be taken by roll call and for ease, in alphabetical order. 33 

Lastly, the meeting is being recorded and will be replayed on ACATV. 34 
 35 
The Board started by taking a roll call vote and stating if they were alone. 36 
 37 

Page 210 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 2 OF 10 

 

Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – present; Selectman D’Angelo – present; Selectman 38 

Grella – present; Selectman Panasiti – present; Chairman Lyon – present. All noted 39 
themselves as being alone. 40 
 41 
2.   Citizen’s Forum – none. 42 

 43 

3. Warrant Article Proposals  44 
a. ACC Proposed Open Space Warrant Article 45 

Amherst Conservation Commission (ACC) Chair, Rob Clemens, and ACC Commissioner, 46 
Bill Stoughton joined the Board. Bill Stoughton explained that the ACC is aware of the 47 
increased development pressure in Town, and the concern among some to preserve open 48 

space. The ACC usually uses the Conservation Fund, which is funded by 100% of the Land 49 
Use Change Tax (LUCT) funds, for land acquisitions. This Fund currently sits at about 50 
$260,000, prohibiting the ACC from being a meaningful player in larger property 51 

acquisitions. With the help of the NH Association of Conservation Commissions, the ACC 52 
surveyed surrounding towns regarding funding sources for large acquisitions. Many towns 53 
specify a parcel and seek bond funding for that particular area. The town of Pelham has voter 54 

preapproved bonding authority. With Board of Selectmen approval, the town of Pelham is 55 
able to purchase parcels as they become available without the requirement to wait until the 56 
next Town Meeting. Pelham was first granted this authority in 2004 and bought several large 57 

parcels. It then asked again in 2018 for additional bond authority, which was granted. 58 
 59 

Bill Stoughton explained that the ACC has decided to move forward with a similar idea and 60 
seek bond authority from the Town for $6M, with a $3M cap set each year to limit the 61 
potential tax impact in any one year. This proposal received favorable comments from the 62 

Planning Board.  63 

 64 
Bill Stoughton explained that this proposal has several important parameters, such as: 1) any 65 
land acquired with rights will be open to public access; 2) acquisitions will be sought 66 

throughout all areas of Town; 3) appraisals will be obtained for any potential acquisitions; 4) 67 
the ACC will need approval from the Board of Selectmen for any acquisition under this bond. 68 

 69 
Selectman Brew stated that he is supportive of this proposal. He stated that this proposal, if 70 
approved, will have a significant tax impact, but that this will be offset by long-term benefits 71 
to the Town. These include additional open space, and minimizing the potential burden on 72 
Police, Fire, and the Schools.  73 

 74 
Selectman D’Angelo agreed that this proposal is worth putting in front of the voters. It is a 75 
good idea for the ACC to be able to be prepared once a large parcel becomes available, and in 76 

order to do that more funds are necessary. He believes it will be key to see the reasons for 77 
certain land acquisition proposals, such as connectivity, wildlife or habitat value, etc. 78 
 79 
Selectman Grella suggested that the proposal be capped at $2M per year. Rob Clemens stated 80 

that the ACC did consider this, but knows that there is at least one property in Town that 81 
would exceed the $2M cap and the ACC would like the opportunity to at least be a player if 82 
this parcel were to come on the market. 83 

 84 

Page 211 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 3 OF 10 

 

Selectman Panasiti questioned what percentage of Town should be kept as open space. He 85 

believes this may be discussed as part of the Master Plan process. He agrees that there should 86 
be a plan in place for buying up open space, but does not want to overextend the Town and 87 
not allow new businesses in. 88 
 89 
Rob Clemens stated that 13-14% of the land in Amherst is currently managed by the ACC. If 90 

other properties, held by other groups, are included, that number may rise to about 15%. Some 91 
entities have tossed around a number for conserved land area in towns of about 25%. The 92 
ACC has never prescribed to any certain percentage, but instead looks to add connectivity and 93 
other items of importance. There is a set of criteria to follow, without knowing which parcels 94 
will become available. 95 

 96 
Chairman Lyon stated that the current climate in Town is a good opportunity to test the 97 
interest of the Town’s residents on this type of proposal. 98 

 99 
In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Bill Stoughton explained that, per 100 
Pelham’s model, the Conservation Fund would be first used to acquire properties, if possible, 101 

and any additional amount would come from the bond. This would be subject to approval by 102 
the Board of Selectmen.  103 
 104 

In response to a question from Matt Seiler, Ways & Means Committee, Rob Clemens stated 105 
that the ACC intends to follow Pelham’s model and make this bond an evergreen vehicle, 106 

meaning that it would not expire until all of the bonding authority was used. The ACC could 107 
come back at any time and seek additional funds. The Board of Selectmen would have to 108 
approve every purchase made and could limit funds spent in that way. 109 

 110 

In response to a question from Lisa Eastland, Rob Clemens stated that the ACC wrestled with 111 
the idea of waiting for the Master Plan to be drafted, but ultimately believes that the time to 112 
pursue this idea is now. 113 

 114 
In response to a question from Lisa Eastland, Chairman Lyon stated that any acquisitions 115 

would be purchased in the name of the Town of Amherst, and managed by the ACC. 116 
 117 
In response to a question from Lisa Eastland, Rob Clemens stated that most of the ACC’s 118 
Forest Management items have been paid for out of the Conservation Fund, and any revenues 119 
from forestry go back into that fund. 120 

 121 
As a second item, Rob Clemens stated that the ACC recently negotiated a trail agreement with 122 
the Felsani family to put a trail on their property. This property is north of Baboosic Lake 123 

Road, and southeast of the B&M Rail Trail. By negotiating this agreement, there will be a 124 
connection from the Josiah Parker Trail to the south, to the B&M Trail to the north, allowing 125 
for a connected loop. 126 
 127 

Selectman Brew questioned if the Town Attorney has reviewed this agreement. He confirmed 128 
that this is not a perpetual agreement and that there is not currently a residence on the 129 
property.  130 

 131 

Page 212 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 4 OF 10 

 

In response to a question from Selectman Brew, Rob Clemens stated that the proposed trail is 132 

placed where it is because the intention is to keep it obscured from abutters, and due to the 133 
location of wetlands on the property. 134 
 135 
In response to a question from Selectman Grella, Rob Clemens stated that the property is 136 
about 18 acres. Rob Clemens explained that he would like the Town Administrator to sign this 137 

agreement and that the owners have the right to cease the agreement at any time. 138 
 139 
In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Rob Clemens stated that he put the 140 
property owners in contact with the County Forester, regarding potential future logging of the 141 
property. 142 

 143 
Chris Buchanan, 24 Mack Hill Road, stated that this parcel was identified in the Bicycle & 144 
Pedestrian Advisory Committee’s 2018 survey as one of the most requested areas for a 145 

potential trail. He hopes that there could be discussions in the future about making this trail 146 
agreement exist in perpetuity. 147 
 148 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 149 
approve the trail agreement as proposed and allow the Town Administrator to sign on behalf 150 
of the Board. 151 

 152 
In response to a question from Town Administrator Shankle, Rob Clemens stated that this trail 153 

agreement is based on the ACC’s model trail agreement, which was created about 6-7 years 154 
ago and has been used to purchase several properties since. 155 
 156 

Selectman Panasiti AMENDED his motion to include that the agreement is contingent upon 157 

successful review by Town Counsel. Selectman D’Angelo SECONDED. 158 
 159 
Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 160 

Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 161 
 162 

b. Bike/Ped Committee Proposed Warrant Articles – Boston Post Sidepath 163 
Project 164 

Chris Buchanan, Chair of the Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee, reviewed the 165 
proposed Warrant Article with the Board. He explained that the Warrant Article seeks two 166 
things: 1) to establish a Capital Reserve Fund (CRF), and 2) to raise $75,000 for the Boston 167 

Post Road sidepath project. This amount would raise 1/3 of the cost of the project and allow 168 
the Town to be in better standing for seeking the Transportation Alternatives Grant (TAP), 169 
which allows for 80/20% match funding. 170 

 171 
Chris Buchanan explained that the Boston Post Road sidepath is one of the highest priority 172 
projects in Town. Generally, the Committee prefers to explore projects within the scope of 173 
already scheduled roadwork, in order to keep costs low. However, Boston Post Road was 174 

recently redone, and so the typical cost savings solutions are not available. The estimated cost 175 
of the project is about $225,000, with approximately 4,000ft of sidepath proposed at 176 
$56.25/linear foot. There are potential issues along this route, including a water crossing and a 177 

narrow right of way. 178 

Page 213 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 5 OF 10 

 

 179 

Chris Buchanan explained that grant funding may be available for this project, but the only 180 
way for the Town to effectively apply would be to demonstrate a capacity for its matching 181 
portion. The TAP grant has project minimum thresholds; in 2018 this was a $400,000 182 
minimum. It is unknown yet what the minimum will be for the next TAP grant. As the Boston 183 
Post Road sidepath project falls under the previously known minimum amount, it is hoped 184 

that the Town could raise close to its 20% portion for the grant and that then, if the grant is 185 
received, the rest of the grant funding could be used for other eligible projects. The Board 186 
would be the agent of the fund and could select to use the funds on the Boston Post Road 187 
project only, or in addition to other projects. 188 
 189 

Chairman Lyon explained that the Boston Post Road sidepath project is projected at $225,000. 190 
The Warrant Article looks to raise $75,000 over three years to fund the project completely, if 191 
no grant funds are received. The language within the Warrant Article though is not specific to 192 

this one project, so that if grant funding is received it could be used towards other projects, if 193 
there is a higher minimum project threshold. 194 
 195 

In response to a question from Selectman Brew, Chris Buchanan stated that snow removal for 196 
the proposed sidepath has been discussed with DPW. The sidepath would be able to be 197 
plowed with existing DPW vehicles and would simply be added to the DPW’s route. 198 

 199 
Selectman Grella suggested that, if there is a $400,000 minimum project threshold, the project 200 

could be extended down Boston Post Road to the Middle School. Chris Buchanan agreed and 201 
noted that there are many different ways to expand the scope of this project. 202 
 203 

In response to a comment from Selectman Panasiti, Chris Buchanan noted that this proposed 204 

CRF Warrant Article is very similar to how funds are raised to purchase vehicles for the Fire 205 
Department, for example. When these CRF funds are voted on in advance, there is often no 206 
specific engine in mind, but the general cost is understood. Chris Buchanan explained that 207 

part of the proposal is to potentially raise $75,000 every year for three years to fund the 208 
project fully, in case no grant funds are received, as a way to spread out the cost for taxpayers.  209 

 210 
Will Ludt, 3 School Street, stated that the Heritage Commission received the TAP Grant in 211 
2003/2004 from the DOT to pursue a reroute of the road in front of Town Hall. NRPC was a 212 
great advocate for the project. 213 
 214 

In response to a comment from Selectman D’Angelo, Chris Buchanan noted that the Town’s 215 
effort to pursue a TAP Grant in 2018 failed because, as was discussed with DOT, the Town 216 
had not raised its matching 20%. 217 

 218 
Cheryl Eastman, Finance Director, reviewed the other proposed Warrant Articles, including: 219 
Contingency Fund, Communications Center CRF, Assessing & Revaluation CRF, Bridge 220 
Repair & Maintenance CRF, Fire/Rescue Vehicle & Equipment Purchase and Repair CRF, 221 

establish a CRF for DPW Vehicles, Police Station Renovation Phase 2, Service Connected 222 
Total Disability Tax Credit, ACC Open Space bond, Bike/Ped CRF, and Buck Meadow 223 
Improvement CRF. 224 

 225 

Page 214 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 6 OF 10 

 

In response to a question from Selectman D’Angelo about the need for a Capital Reserve 226 

Fund for DPW purchases, Selectman Brew stated that there is a spreadsheet that lists certain 227 
DPW equipment that needs to be replaced. The problem with pursuing this through a 228 
lease/purchase option is that the items need to be specified at Deliberative Session, and there 229 
is no option to find a later substitute if the item fails. The proposal to move towards a CRF for 230 
these purchases will allow for greater flexibility in the future.  231 

 232 
Selectman D’Angelo stated that he would like to see something from Town Counsel stating 233 
that the Town has to have specific information for the lease/purchase option at the 234 
Deliberative Session. He doesn’t believe this is how things have been done in the past.  235 
 236 

Town Administrator Shankle explained that, because these items do need to be specific, the 237 
DPW hasn’t pursued the lease/purchase option for the past two years. Selectman Brew agreed 238 
that Town Counsel had noted that if the lease/purchase option had been used, the Town would 239 

have been out of compliance with the RSA. 240 
 241 
Selectman D’Angelo stated that the Board worked hard to have money for these purchases put 242 

directly into the budget, instead of creating a CRF for them. He is unsure why the Board 243 
would now try to remove these funds from the budget and try to place them into a Warrant 244 
Article, would could fail to pass. He would like to see more documentation on this item. 245 

 246 
In response to a question from Selectman Grella, Chairman Lyon stated that DPW Director 247 

Eric Hahn did pay cash for the last two DPW vehicle purchases because that money was 248 
available in the budget; he is unsure if that method can continue into the future. Selectman 249 
Brew noted that, if future years’ budget funds are committed towards a purchase, that 250 

purchase needs to be specified at Deliberative Session. 251 

 252 
In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Selectman Brew explained that the DPW’s 253 
lease/purchase line currently sits at $250,000, but that the funds for this year have all been 254 

expended. Selectman Brew explained that the proposed CRF looks to lower the amount 255 
requested to $46,000. 256 

 257 
Chairman Lyon stated that the Board will need to hear more information regarding the 258 
possible Buck Meadow CRF. 259 
 260 
In response to a question from Lisa Eastland, Chairman Lyon stated that there are additional 261 

funds needed for the Police Station Renovation, $175,000, due to unanticipated items. 262 
 263 
Selectman Brew noted that, in regard to CRF’s being sought instead of bonds for some items, 264 

items such as the Fire/Rescue CRF funds are sought every year and thus this is not a one-off 265 
request, but rather a recurring request that occurs each year. 266 
 267 
In response to a question from Lori Mix, Cheryl Eastman explained that the Contingency 268 

Fund is funded from the unassigned fund balance, and so only expended if used. If the funds 269 
are not expended, they remain in the unassigned fund balance.  270 
 271 

Page 215 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 7 OF 10 

 

In response to a question from Lori Mix, Chairman Lyon stated that the Board has not 272 

explored funding any other Warrant Articles through the unassigned fund balance in the past. 273 
 274 

4. Draft 1 Budget 275 
4.1 FY22 Budget 276 

Cheryl Eastman reviewed the draft budget with the Board. This does not include possible 277 

changes to health insurance, workman’s comp insurance, and a Cost of Living Adjustment 278 
(COLA).  The proposed budget is $14,657,379; an increase of $41,003, or 0.28%. 279 
 280 
Selectman Brew noted that the regular medical budget for the Town last year was about $1M. 281 
If a 10% increase happened, that would be an additional $100,000 to the budget. Cheryl 282 

Eastman noted that if the COLA is done as it was in the past, a 1% increase would amount to 283 
a budget increase of about $56,000. 284 
 285 

Selectman D’Angelo mentioned that he is pleased to see an almost flat budget being 286 
presented. 287 
 288 

In response to a question from Lisa Eastland, Cheryl Eastman explained that the proposed 289 
budget has the $250,000 DPW lease/purchase line reduced to $46,000. 290 
 291 

 4.2.    2020 Tax Rate Setting 292 
Cheryl Eastman shared with the Board a spreadsheet with the details of the unassigned fund 293 

balance. The FY19 unassigned fund balance was $6,869,071. The FY20 unassigned fund 294 
balance was $7,243,527. The target amount for the fund balance should be $5,573,393. The 295 
retained unassigned fund balance is $7,019,527. The amount to be retained to offset the tax 296 

rate, if the Board follows its policy would be $723,247. 297 

 298 
Chairman Lyon explained that, in order to maintain the Town’s portion of the tax rate from 299 
last year, $5.60, the Board would need to vote to return approximately $940,000. This 300 

decision was tabled from the Board’s Friday meeting, in order to obtain more accurate 301 
numbers.  302 

 303 
Selectman Brew stated that he wanted to make sure the $1,446,494 number is correct. After 304 
reviewing the information, he is satisfied with the fund balance information.  305 
 306 
A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to use 307 

$940,000 to offset taxes and hold the tax rate, per thousand, at $5.60. 308 
 309 
Selectman Brew stated that it seems reasonable to keep the tax rate the same. He will be 310 

voting against the motion because he believes it would be a better idea to stick with the policy 311 
and not create potential spikes in the future. 312 
 313 
Selectman D’Angelo stated that, even if the motion passes, there will still be about a half 314 

million dollars in excess, over and above the target, in the unassigned fund balance. 315 
 316 
Selectman Grella stated that he believes the motion should pass. Keeping the tax rate the same 317 

shows hard work by the Town’s employees.  318 

Page 216 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 8 OF 10 

 

 319 

Selectman Panasiti stated that he is happy keeping the Town’s tax rate level for this year. He 320 
noted that he believes some of the excess money, over the target 10%, should be used to offset 321 
the extra funds needed for the Police Station Renovation, in order to not request it from the 322 
voters. 323 
 324 

Chairman Lyon stated that he is in favor of the motion. He also believes the policy is a sound 325 
one. 326 
 327 
Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – nay; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 328 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 4-1-0; motion carried. 329 

 330 
5. Administration 331 

Town Administrator Shankle noted that the discussion on the DPW winter maintenance policy 332 

will be held off on until the next meeting. 333 
 334 

5.1      Co-Ad Realty LLC request for a building permit 335 

Tom Quinn, representing Co-Ad Realty LLC, joined the Board. 336 
 337 
Town Administrator Shankle stated that this request is regarding a building permit for a lot 338 

with no frontage. This item first went to the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a variance, 339 
which was granted. The Planning Board then reviewed the application and stated that it has no 340 

issues with the building permit being issued. 341 
 342 
In response to a question from Selectman Panasiti, Tom Quinn explained that there is access 343 

to the property off Amherst Street, by a 35’ wide right of way, as shown on the plan. This is 344 

also supported by a utility easement. The applicant is requesting a single-family residence on 345 
the 10 acres of land. 346 
 347 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 348 
authorize the Community Development Department to issue a building permit for a single- 349 

family residence on Map 5 Lot 51 as approved by the ZBA and after all of the associated 350 
required paperwork is done, including the Waiver of Municipal Liability. 351 
Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 352 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 353 
 354 

6. Approvals 355 
 6.1    Assessing Approvals  356 

A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 357 

the Land Use Change Tax in the amount of $23,500 for Tax Map 005 Lot 059-035, 24 358 
Founder’s Way. 359 
Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 360 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 361 

 362 
A MOTION was made by Selectman Brew and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to approve 363 
the Veteran Tax Credit for tax year 2021 on the following map and lot numbers: 364 

005-016-017 17 Atherton Lane $500.00 365 

Page 217 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 9 OF 10 

 

018-039-000 5 Manchester Road $500.00 366 

Roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 367 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 368 

 369 
6.2    Accounts Payable Manifests and Meeting Minutes October 12, 2020 370 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 371 

approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $224,866.98 dated October 8, 2020, 372 
subject to review and audit. 373 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 374 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 375 
 376 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 377 
approve one (1) FY21 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $225,735.23 dated October 22, 2020, 378 
subject to review and audit. 379 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 380 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 381 

 382 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 383 
approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $199,290.51 dated 384 
October 13, 2020, subject to review and audit. 385 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 386 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 387 

 388 
A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 389 
approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $35,908.21 dated 390 

September 30, 2020, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 391 

By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 392 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 393 

 394 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 395 
approve one (1) FY21 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $41,661.25 dated October 396 

16, 2020, subject to review and audit (NH DMV). 397 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 398 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 399 

 400 
A MOTION was made by Selectman Panasiti and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 401 

approve the meeting minutes of October 12, 2020, as presented. 402 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 403 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 404 

 405 
7. Action Items 406 

The Board reviewed its action items. 407 
 408 

8. Old/New Business 409 
Chairman Lyon noted that the polls will be open on Voting Day, November 3, 2020, from 410 
6am – 8pm. 411 

 412 

Page 218 of 219



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2020.10.26 

 PAGE 10 OF 10 

 

A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Panasiti to 413 

adjourn the meeting at 8:47pm. 414 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 415 
Selectman Panasiti – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 416 

 417 
 418 

 419 
 420 

      421 
NEXT MEETING: Monday, November 9, 2020  422 

 423 

 424 
    425 
_________________________       __________________ 426 

Selectman Reed Panasiti Date 427 

Page 219 of 219


	1. Call to Order
	2. Citizens' Forum
	3. Appointments
	1. Volunteer Application- Bike-Ped Advisory Committee
	BPAC - volunteer letter page 1
	BPAC - volunteer letter page 2

	2. 2020 Amherst Tree Lighting Ceremony,  A Virtual Ce
	2020 Amherst Tree Lighting Ceremony virtual plan


	4. Administration
	1. Administrative Updates
	Staff Report
	AHSC Recommendations 10-27-2020


	5. Staff Reports
	1. FY22 Draft Budget #2
	Staff Report
	FY22 Budget - Draft #2

	2. FY22 Warrant Articles Draft #1
	Staff Report
	2022 WARRANT DRAFT #1

	3. Withdrawal from Communications Capital Reserve Fun
	Staff Report
	Communications 11-9-2020

	4. Presentation of Capital Improvement Plan
	Staff Report
	CIP Plan 2022-2027 10.16.20
	CIP Tax Impact Forecast 2022-2027 10.16.20

	5. Winter Operations Plan
	Staff Report
	Winter Operations Plan 9-21-20
	TITLE XX 231 92a
	Covid-19 Risk Management Reminders and Guidance _Oct 28_2020

	6. Old Manchester Road, shared roadway line stripping
	Staff Report
	Final Old Manchester Road Proposal Advisory Shoulders 10-28-2020
	AHSC Recommendations, 10-27-2020

	7. Pocket Park/Fishing Deck Lot 24-11 & Lot 24-1
	Staff Report
	Accessible Fishing Deck

	8. Federal / State Grant: Emergency Operations Plan a
	Staff Report
	Hazard Mitigation Grant


	6. Approvals
	1. Assessing
	Staff Report
	Assessing Documents Nov 9 2020 BOS

	2. EVERSOURCE Petition & Pole License
	Eversourse Pole License request

	3. Accounts Payable and Payroll Manifests and BOS Oct
	Staff Report
	2020.10.23_BOS_MINUTES 
	2020.10.26_BOS_MINUTES


	7. Action Items
	8. Old/New Business
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting:  11/23/2020

